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service provider in China, with its businesses focusing on integrated
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biomass utilisation, hazardous and solid waste treatment,
environmental remediation, solar energy and wind power, it listed

on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong (B An HL5% = 1257) » S KER B IRIRE 4 A
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 8 May BRSO ERRE  RAETLBAE
2017 (Stock Code: 1257). Upholding its II‘E %’g‘ BE E% ii;‘: H B R B EIEIEE - B
philosophy of leading the way through =R St _:::\ N, _ Bl AT B BERRIE
business innovations, Everbright ;g % ;;E == I:Fl 1AL T AR
Greentech took a pioneer role to e

introduce integrated urban and Devoted to Ecology and WERERE -

rural waste treatment project Environment for a

in Mainland China. Currently, Beautiful China e B R E
the Company has its business R in A |l ([ Y
coverage spanning across 14 KEH])E— B
provinces and autonomous LB RIERR

region in China, and in

R E X KRERE

Germany.

(RE)ERRAFA
With strong support from ([FZREHE] -5
China Everbright Group TR AERE

Limited (“China Everbright
Group”) and the controlling
shareholder, China Everbright
Environment Group Limited

RRAE)HERANX
FoOBRARNESR
ZrHitREAEANE
BREBRMBANT SN
REEN AEEBERER
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PoAD - BEREw BERKE
project portfolio as well as its unparalleled market expansion FRBERTENSETMEF -
capability, the Group will continue to follow the instruction to

(“CEEGL”, formerly known as China
Everbright International Limited), and
leveraging on its own extensive experience
in the development and operation of diversified

be “Prudent, Proactive and Practical”, bearing in mind its initial
commitment and mission as it strives incessantly to become a
leader in China’s environmental business sector.
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2020 2019 Percentage
—EZTF Z—ZE—NEF Change
HK$’000 HK$'000 BAL
BEFL  BETR 28
RESULTS -
Revenue Wz 9,835,376 9,279,555 6%
EBITDA® BRFIS - BiIE - &
NESHRT RO 3,064,595 2,876,139 7%
Profit attributable to equity N R AR R G BT @
shareholders of the Company® 1,502,532 1,621,477 7%
Return on shareholders’ equity (%) % 5 & & [0 3R (%) 13.1 16.5 3.4 ppt
Basic earnings per share® BRERZFO O GEW)
(HK cents) 72.72 78.48 —7%
FINANCIAL POSITION B #5135
Total assets BEERRE 35,264,668 26,258,315 34%
Total liabilities BfERRE 22,397,827 15,670,963 43%
Equity attributable to equity RAE SRR E (R
shareholders of the Company 12,524,282 10,346,219 21%
Net asset value per share RN RSB IEE IR
attributable to equity shareholders BEFEGEET)
of the Company (HK$) 6.06 5.01 21%
Cash and bank balances Re RIBITHEH 2,727,053 2,897,486 6%
Gearing ratio® (%) BEBEBLLES (%) 63.51 59.7 3.81 ppt
Current ratio (%) B B 2 (%) 156.2 148.7 7.5 ppt

EBITDA is the profit for the year before deduction of interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation.

2) The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of
approximately HK$1,502,532,000 (2019: HK$1,621,477,000) and the weighted average of 2,066,078,000 (2019:
2,066,078,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

3) Gearing ratio is calculated by total liabilities over total assets.

4) Due to changes in national policies during the year, which affected the future operating cash flow of integrated biomass
utilisation projects and solar energy and wind power projects, the Group’s concession rights (recognized as intangible assets)
for individual integrated biomass utilisation projects, a one-off impairment was made, which affected the net profit for the year
by HK$163 million. Excluding the impact of the one-off impairment of the intangible assets, the company’s earnings
attributable to equity shareholders and basic earnings per share for the year were HK$1,665,074,000 and HK80.59 cents,
respectively, both increased by approximately 3% compared with 2019.

(1) EBITDABIAFERAE - BiIE - T REHEHAAF -

2 ERERRBFTIIREAR R AR R ES B E1,502,5682,0000T (=T — 16 - B81,621,477,0007T) RF N E BHITE
B 2 ke 19 12 $12,066,078,000% (= F — N4 : 2,066,078,000/%) & @A E °

@) EEEEBHERRABLEEMRIAEEETAH -

4 BAEABERBEEE FPEEVEGSAHNAEEIAREERATERNRRLLREN - Bt - AR EYEEE A

HEMBFTCLER (CERBEREE) AEBRAFEEEL T —RMRE  FERFFHBEEE1.631ET - BMBRZ—X
MEPEEERETE ARARAFERZRREGATNRESRELRRZTED R A 1,665,074,0007T & #E(1180.59 » B_-F
—NFEHEINHIZ% °
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CORPORATE MILESTONES
TRAREHRE

01/2020

° Xiayi Integrated Biomass and Waste-to-energy Project
(waste-to-energy) in Henan Province was completed and
commenced operation

02/2020

° Signed a project for the remediation of contaminated sites
for Tianma Group in Changzhou, Jiangsu Province and its
neighbouring areas

o Everbright Greentech announced its 2019 annual results,
posting a 22% growth in profit attributable to equity
shareholders

03/2020

o Signed for the Xiao County General Industrial Solid Waste
Treatment and Electricity and Heat Cogeneration Project in
Anhui Province and the Jinzhong Integrated Hazardous
Waste Treatment Project in Shanxi Province

o Received the Hong Kong Council of Social Service — “Caring
Company” 2019/20 logo

04/2020

o Zhongjiang Biomass Electricity and Heat Cogeneration
Project in Sichuan Province was completed and
commenced operation

° Secured the Hazardous Waste Integrated Treatment Project
in Tianning District, Changzhou, Jiangsu Province

05/2020

° Zhongxiang Integrated Biomass and Waste-to-energy Project
(biomass power generation) in Hubei Province was
completed and commenced operation

06/2020

° Commenced construction of Huangshi Solid Waste
Integrated Treatment Project, Everbright Greentech’s first
Integrated Solid Waste Treatment Project in Hubei Province

° Successful registration and issuance of the RMB1 billion first-
tranche medium-term notes

o Garnered the 2019/2020 ESG Award of Yazhou Zhoukan

07/2020

° Lintao Integrated Biomass and Waste-to-energy Project
(waste-to-energy) in Gansu Province received a RMB23.90
million special grant from the 2020 central government
budget for investment in the development of ecological
civilisation

01/2020

. MEEESEMERNIFEE—R(CER
(BB BE) BRIUE

02/2020
. BELIHEBMREEENAEAZRSRE S
E1EIER

. HAREEBREAMZE—NELFEE -
R R ELAFERE2%IE R

03/2020

s RELZWEHBHE RIXEERBENAE
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o HMEEBHERISH S EK019/20F E
(AR R B IREE
04/2020

. o)l & T A Y E 2 ERHIE B Z2RIRE
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05/2020

. Mt EEFEAEYE R REE—BLIER
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. SECTEIMAE T))2019/2020 ESGAK #2
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08/2020

Signed for Lianshui General Industrial Solid Waste Electricity
and Heat Cogeneration Project in Jiangsu Province
Everbright Greentech announced its 2020 interim results,
reporting growth in profit attributable to equity shareholders
despite unfavourable factors

Everbright Greentech was selected as a constituent stock of
Hang Seng Corporate Sustainability Benchmark Index for
three consecutive years

09/2020

Yeji Biomass Electricity and Heat Cogeneration Project
(Phase 1l) in Anhui Province and Linshu Hazardous Waste
Landfill Project (Phase ) in Shandong Province were
completed and commenced operation

Signed up for the Good Employer Charter 2020 and received
the Family-friendly Good Employer logo launched by the
Hong Kong Labour Department

Signed for the Huangshi Integrated End-of-life Tyre Recycling
Project in Hubei Province in a breakthrough
business frontiers

in new

10/2020

Zhecheng Integrated Biomass and Waste-to-energy Project
in Henan Province and Xiao County Integrated Biomass and
Waste-to-energy Project (waste-to-energy phase Il) in Anhui
Province were completed and commenced operation
Received the “EcoChallenger” certificate and logo in the
“BOCHK Corporate Environmental Leadership Awards
2019” jointly organised by the Federation of Hong Kong
Industries and Bank of China (Hong Kong)

Received the “Outstanding Greater Bay Area Enterprises —
Social Sustainability Award (Industry, Innovation and
Infrastructure)” and “Outstanding Greater Bay Area
Enterprises — Green Sustainability Award (Climate Initiative)”
awards in the “Greater Bay Area Enterprises Sustainability
Awards 2020” organised by Metro Finance

12/2020

Binhai Hazardous Waste Incineration Project and Xinyi
Hazardous Waste Landfill Project (Phase 1) in Jiangsu
Province were completed and commenced operation
Received the “Best ESG Report — Small-cap Grand Award”
and “Best GRI Report — Commendation” in the “Hong
Kong ESG Reporting Awards 2020” organised by HERA

FEXXGERERRAT
ZECTEFR

CORPORATE MILESTONES
EEXEHE
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETE®RE

PROGRESS IN STABILITY
Explored new directions for market expansion

= K

At the 75th United Nations General Assembly held in 2020, China pledged to “peak carbon
dioxide emissions before 2030 and achieve carbon neutrality before 2060”; in the “14th Five-Year
Plan” and the Long-Range Objectives through the Year 2035 low-carbon green development and
the improvement of environmental quality were further emphasised. Economic recovery guided by
eco-friendly and low-carbon initiatives has become the consensus of the international community.
The blueprint of the “14th Five-Year Plan” promises new opportunities for the industry. To seize
such new opportunities, the Group will operate in accordance with the general working
requirements to “persist in stable progress, focus on management enhancement, emphasise
innovation and reform, assist economic circulation and achieve qualitative development”. With a
view to achieving our primary aim of delivering value with the aid of scientific

and innovative reforms, we will advance our strategic transformation with

steadfast confidence to capitalise on new development trends, persist in new

development ideas and explore new development directions.

—EoTF O PEESCtTAEBMAEAS LAGINF_T=FFa _&1t
BMEFHCEREE  SAFM_BARZFMERKRTHN] [+HRIREN_-F
“hFESERETRARCERER  RERRRENRE -REE

ol EEEERD ERABBRRRE  [TORIRBERBESHNITE
P - EE IS - AEEBRRIEBRHRTSE - BEERE
RIHAINEES) - B HIRERR ERREERRINIFEES
AMBEEIERZL  UREIRERITF - BEFLEESRREE -
ERFNBRRTE ERFNERED - FHRFNERTR -

Chairman £ &

WANG Tianyi
EPN



Dear Shareholders,

In 2020, China was destined for remarkable achievements
that would be remembered in history. The COVID-19
pandemic swept across the globe, while international
developments remained complicated. Under the severe pressure
brought about by internal as well as external factors, China
effectively controlled the spread and resurgence of the pandemic
and secured rapid economic recovery ahead of others, as it
became the only major economy in the world to register positive
economic growth. China also won the critical battle in defined
poverty alleviation to conclude the “13th Five-Year Plan” on a high

note.

In 2020, we witnessed China’s unwavering resolve for
ecological
environmental

development and undiminished effort in
To address the
the nation was driving

development. “overhauling
changes not seen in a hundred years”,
transformation towards qualitative economic development on all
fronts, as it stepped up with the incubation of new business
formats, new models and new technologies in the environmental
industry, while steadily advancing significant strategies such as
ecological protection in the Yangtze River Economic Belt and
Yellow River basin. On the back of its solid business foundation,
extensive experience in operations and highly efficient
management measures, Everbright Greentech addressed various
challenges in a calm and poised manner and achieved stable

development with steady progress in its operations.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERHBE

In 2020, Everbright Greentech was charged with critical
duties while it completed internal reforms to prepare for
new developments. As an enterprise involved in medical waste
disposal services, the Group provided active assistance to local
governments in the urgent disposal of medical wastes, used face
masks and sensitive wastes at designated hospitals and
quarantine locations under COVID-19 during the year and was
highly commended for its effort. During the year, Everbright
Greentech also sought to identify opportunities in the midst of
change, while adopting a range of measures to stabilise its
businesses and procure development. For the year under review,
the Group’s reported a 6% growth in revenue and 7% growth in
EBITDA, vyear-on-year. Excluding the effect of a one-off
impairment in intangible assets, profit attributable to equity
owners registered an approximately 3% growth as compared to
the previous year.

We have sought steady progress and explored new
directions for market expansion in a judicious manner. In
2020, Everbright Greentech adopted an innovative approach to
expansion and sought to identify opportunities around the market
on a highly selective basis. As a result, we successfully expanded
into the end-of-life tyres (“ELT”) disposal business. During the
year, the Group secured 17 new projects and entered into 4
supplemental agreements involving total investments of
approximately RMB2.56 billion and environmental remediation
project contracts with a total amount of approximately
RMB289 million, in further consolidation of the Group’s
advantageous position in traditional business segments such as
integrated biomass utilisation, hazardous and solid waste
treatment, and environmental remediation.

We have assumed responsibilities, delivered value and
created a famous brand name in the environmental sector.
In 2020, with a strong emphasis on environmental, social and
governance matters, Everbright Greentech was committed to the
creation of a sustainable and lasting company for investors and
the thriving development of its green businesses. The Group was
selected as a constituent stock of the Hang Seng Corporate
Sustainability Benchmark Index for the third consecutive year,
while it also received for the first time the Hong Kong Council of
Social Service — “Caring Company” 2019/20 logo. The Group’s
research on the “Development and Application of Safe, Clean and
Efficient Incineration Technology for General Combustible Industrial
Solid Waste” was included in the list of “key program for
International Science and Technology Cooperation Projects”
maintained by the Ministry of Science and Technology of the
PRC.

CERIRF  AABRCERERERE  BAXAEH
ERFR -E—F MUFEHLRBEEHE K
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For every solid step it has taken along the way, Everbright
Greentech has benefited from the strong support and favor of
various parties in the community. On behalf of the Group and the
board of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company (the “Board”),
| would like to express sincere gratitude to all the shareholders of
the Company, investors and business partners. Sincere
appreciation is also due to the Directors, the management team

and other staff members.

Riding the wind to set sail to vast oceans. In 2021, the
opening year for the nation’s “14th Five-Year Plan”, Everbright
Greentech will operate in close tandem with national development
strategies and demands of the market and the customers. With
intensive implementation of the “4-3-3" strategic planning of
China Everbright Group and the “3-5-8-7" development strategy
of CEEGL, we will drive the transformation and upgrade of our
existing biomass and hazardous and solid waste treatment
business, as well as more in-depth and extensive development of
prospective businesses such as environmental remediation. The
Group will seize opportunities for development arising from the
prospect of “carbon peaking and carbon neutrality”, leveraging the
trend to link up the three major sectors of “environment,
resources and energy” and exploring new directions to accelerate
its transformation into a technology-oriented and versatile

business-ecology platform, in order to forge Everbright
Greentech’s unique advantages and market position for more

Everbright contributions to the development of a beautiful Chinal

WANG Tianyi

Chairman
Hong Kong, 4 March 2021
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OPERATING RESULTS

In 2020, international trade conflicts escalated, while the profound
changes occurring in the global economic landscape took on a
faster pace under the impact of the pandemic caused by the
novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”). Amidst enormous changes in the
global landscape and a public health crisis not seen since a
century ago, the Chinese government adopted effective measures
to address the situation and ensured positive developments under
stable and normalised epidemic prevention measures. Social life
and production operations gradually returned to normal and sound
recovery trends were reported in investment, consumption and
export, making China the only major economy in the world
achieving positive economic growth.

During the past year, the Chinese government maintained its
strategic focus on the development of ecological civilisation, while
driving the accomplishment of staged goals for the critical battle
against pollution. Meanwhile, in connection with anti-epidemic
initiatives, we expedited our effort to amend the shortfalls of our
hazardous waste collection and treatment facilities. During the
year under review, policies and regulations such as the “Guiding
Opinions on Establishing a Modern System of Environmental
Treatment” and a new revised version of the “Law on the
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste”
were announced and implemented, while the plan for protecting
the ecological environment of the Yangtze River Economic Belt
was also progressing in an orderly manner, as environmental
inspection by China’s central authorities continued to roll out.
With the launch and implementation of such policy planning and
action plans, the environmental industry embraced a positive
in terms of

development trend as it continued to improve

regulation and professional quality.

As a provider of specialised environmental protection services in
China,
businesses in 2020 despite the impacts of multiple unfavourable

the Group achieved steady development in various
factors, such as the COVID-19 epidemic, rainstorms and floods,
among others, as it rolled out comprehensive business
development with the aim of “creating value and enhancing
reform” in ongoing firm adherence to the corporate mission of
being “Devoted to Ecology and Environment for a Beautiful China”
and the corporate vision of endeavouring to “Create Better

Investment Value and Undertake More Social Responsibility”.
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The Group is principally engaged in the businesses of integrated
biomass utilisation, hazardous and solid waste treatment,
environmental remediation, solar energy and wind power. As of 31
December 2020, the Group had 119 environmental protection
projects with a total investment of approximately RMB31.468
billion; and had undertaken 36 environmental remediation projects

with a total contract amount of approximately RMB1.014 billion.

In terms of market development, the Group has been actively
seeking premium projects with greater returns and stronger
cashflow generating ability with an innovative mindset. First, we
achieved breakthrough in terms of new business sectors by
successfully tapping the ELT disposal business in a further
enrichment of the Company’s business portfolio; second, we
continued to explore the market for treatment of general industrial
solid waste and signed for two general industrial solid waste
treatment projects

in Xiao County and Lianshui County,

respectively, increase our industry

influence in this sector;

in an ongoing effort to
third, we continued to develop the
environmental remediation market and drive business mix
optimisation, as we reported record-high numbers and amounts of
environmental remediation contracts signed.

During the year under review, the Group secured 17 new
projects and entered into 4 supplemental agreements involving
additional total investments of approximately RMB2.56 billion and
environmental remediation project contracts with a total amount of
approximately RMB289 million. Such new projects included 2
integrated biomass utilisation projects, 6 hazardous and solid
waste treatment projects and 9 environmental remediation
projects. In terms of project scale, our designed capacities for
household waste and food waste processing, steam supplied and
hazardous and solid waste treatment were increased by
approximately 386,900 tonnes, 820,000 tonnes and 612,500

tonnes per year, respectively.
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During the year under review, EB Urban and Rural Renewable
Energy (Nanjing) Limited (“EB Energy Nanjing”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, Nanjing Liuhe Environment
Company Limited (“Liuhe Environment”) and Nanjing Liuhe
Jasmine Green Energy Company Limited (the “Project Company”)
entered into a share capital increase agreement in respect of the
Nanjing Liuhe Waste-to-Energy Project, pursuant to which a
capital contribution of RMB70,560,000 was made for a 44.1%
equity interest in the Project Company. The Project Company had
a total amount of committed investment of RMB792 million and a
household waste processing designed capacity of 1,000 tonnes
per day. In November 2020, the Company had completed the
capital contribution and the Project Company was held as to

44.1% by EB Energy Nanjing and 55.9% by Liuhe Environment.

In terms of project construction, the Group continued to ensure
steady progress in the construction work of its projects in
adherence to the principle of “Brand Building through Excellence
in Quality”. During the year under review, 28 new projects started
implementation or construction, while 20 projects were completed
construction or commenced operation. As at 31 December 2020,
the Group had 34 projects under construction or implementation,
including 6 integrated biomass utilisation projects, 15 hazardous
and solid waste treatment projects and 13 environmental
remediation projects. With a strong emphasis on construction
safety, construction quality and work scheduling for projects
under construction, the Group has enhanced safety management
at project sites through ongoing optimisation of its construction
management system and framework.

In connection with technology research and development, the
Group sought to drive quality and efficiency enhancement for its
projects through technological innovation, while providing support
to the technical viability of new business types. During the year
under review, the Group’s effort was focused on the incineration
of hazardous waste with high sulphuric and halogenic contents,
treatment and disposal of general industrial solid waste,
physicochemical treatment of hazardous waste, ultra-low emission
of biomass and waste-to-energy projects, oil sludge treatment,
ELT recycling, disposal and recycling of industrial waste salt,

among others.
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During the year under review, the Group’s research on the
“Development and Application of Safe, Clean and Efficient
Incineration Technology for General Combustible Industrial Solid
Waste” was included in the list of “Key Program for International
Science and Technology Cooperation Projects” maintained by the
Ministry of Science and Technology of the PRC; development of
the process design package for the incineration of hazardous
waste with high sulphuric and halogenic contents was completed
and the package was applied in the operation of our projects;
research on the implementation scheme for ultra-low emission of
biomass and waste-to-energy projects came into shape; technical
deliberation for the recycling of ELT was completed. As of 31
2020, the Group held
including 21 invention patents and 128 utility model patents, and

December 149 authorised patents,

5 software copyrights.

During the year under review, the Group further enhanced end-
to-end operational management through its environmental, safety,
health and social responsibility (“ESHS”) system, as it continued to
introduce improvements to its hierarchical risk management
mechanism and hazard inspection mechanism in an ongoing
effort to enhance health and safety levels at work sites and their
surrounding environments. In persistent adherence to the
production principle of “prevention-based production safety”, the
Group drafted plans for safe technology measures and anti-
accident measures and launched comprehensive risk identification
and control activities to ensure the prevention of all kinds of
accidents. To address issues commonly found among high-risk
groups and operational management procedures, the Group
scheduled multiple rounds special inspection on high-risk
operations and organised issue-specific training sessions and
emergency drills to enhance the staff responsiveness to
contingency situations and their ability to deal with emergencies.
During the year under review,
published 9 environmental

enhancement of environmental management after reviewing its

the Group formulated and
management standards for the

operating procedures for operational management in accordance
with the requirements of regulations and relevant standards.
Moreover, to further standardise the organisational structure for
ESHS management, the Group has established a management
team with 142 dedicated staff to bolster its strengths in safety,
environmental, health and social responsibility management.
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In terms of risk management, the Group has continued to make
improvements to its risk management system and align its risk
management objectives with its strategic business objectives in a
dynamic way. During the year under review, the Group conducted
the risk assessment for 2020 and specific control measures were
implemented in response to significant risks to ensure effective
management and control of material risks.

To counter risks in connection with epidemic, the Group
formulated and published the “Special Environmental Report on
Risks associated with the Sudden Epidemic Outbreak” to provide
a timely reminder of and set out the key measures against risks
relating to disrupted operation and delayed construction.
Complementing the extensive practical experience of various
departments and their flexible responses, operations of the Group
remained stable amid the epidemic outbreak. During the year
under review, the Group achieved notable results in risk
management by drawing on the prospective and precautionary
natures of risk management.

The Group responded with calm and poise to the epidemic
during 2020 and adopted sound and scientific counter-epidemic
measures, such that business operations and production were
swiftly resumed. During the year under review, the Group’s
integrated biomass utilisation business brought into play the
extensive geographical distribution of its projects, as it resorted to
complementary supplies of fuel resources among different regions
to ensure normal supply of fuel and consumables, while
effectively lowering procurement costs by promoting the “premium
quality and premium price” purchase model. Our hazardous and
solid waste treatment business established regional business
coordination centres and perfected its “Big Customer” regime to
generate regional synergy and expand the outreach of its market
for hazardous waste treatment in full utilisation of the potential
local resources at its disposal. Our investment development
department maintained good communication with the government
and partners through a variety of channels, such as telephone
and video-conferencing, and drove market expansion in an orderly
manner with the use of copywriting. Our construction works
management department controlled construction costs at an
optimal level by urging the suppliers to deploy more workers,
reasonably extending construction work hours, conducting
stringent examination of drawings, optimising designs and
exercising control over work visas. For details of our management
of risks associated with epidemic prevention and control, please
refer to the paragraph on the risk associated with epidemic
prevention and control under the section headed “PRINCIPAL
RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES” in this chapter on page 50.
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During the year under review, the Group garnered a number of
awards on the back of its outstanding performance in sustainable
development, corporate governance and social responsibility,
winning approval and commendation among the general public.
During the year under review, the Group was selected as a
constituent stock of the Hang Seng Corporate Sustainability
Benchmark Index for three consecutive years, while receiving the
“BOCHK Corporate Environmental Leadership Awards 2019 —
EcoChallenger” certificate from the Federation of Hong Kong
Industries and Bank of China (Hong Kong); the “Outstanding
Greater Bay Area Enterprises — Social Sustainability Award
(Industry, Innovation and Infrastructure)” and “Outstanding Greater
Bay Area Enterprises — Green Sustainability Award (Climate
Initiative)” awards in the “Greater Bay Area Enterprises
Sustainability Awards 2020” organised by Metro Finance; the
2019/2020 ESG Award of Yazhou Zhoukan and the Hong Kong
Council of Social Service — “Caring Company” 2019/20 logo for

the first time.

As a member of the Standing Committee of the Biomass Energy
Branch of China Association for the Promotion of Industrial
Development (“BEIPA”), the Group worked in tandem with BEIPA
and submitted the “Critical Report on the Impact of COVID-19 on
the Biomass Energy Sector” to the National Development and
(“NDRC”)
authorities during the year under review to promptly reflect how

Reform Commission and other competent national
the industry had been affected by the epidemic and propose
responsive measures. To improve the current conditions of the
industry, we have also participated in the drafting of the “Report
on the Development of China’s Biomass Power Generation
in 2020”
opportunities and challenges for the biomass power generation

Industry to provide an in-depth analysis of the
industry. To provide guidance for the sustainable development of
the industry, we have actively participated in the discussion of
NDRC’s opinion the development in the industries of waste-to-
energy power generation and power generation using agricultural
and forestry residues and provided information on the current
status of the biomass power generation industry to foster a

positive ambience in the industry.
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The Group firmly believes that the disclosure of environmental
information in a highly transparent manner and the opening of
environmental facilities to the public as a normalised practice are
essential to the sustainable development of an ecological and
environmental enterprise. Flue gas emission and sewage
discharge data of all of the Company’s projects in operation,
among others, were synchronised and instantly uploaded to
government-regulated public announcement platforms, while the
environmental
surveillance data of projects are also disclosed to the public via

various media for governmental and public supervision.

impact assessment reports and environmental

During the year under review, the Group continued to fulfill the
responsibility of opening its environmental facilities to the public
with more intensive actions, as it explored an online approach
based mainly on live webcast to enhance the influence, in terms
of both magnitude and scope, of the opening of its environmental
facilities to the public. As of 31 December 2020, a total of 26
projects were officially open to the public and 240 offline open-
to-the-public activities had been held, receiving a total of 2,676
visitors. In addition, 9 online open-to-the-public sessions were
organised and attracted over 700,000 views.

The Group is committed to building long-lasting and close
relationships with its customers and suppliers. Over the years, the
Group has won the approval of governments at various levels
through the stable operations and compliant discharge standards
of its environmental projects, as well as assistance offered to local
governments to improve the living environments of and create job
opportunities for local communities. In connection with suppliers,
the Group consistently adheres to the principle of fairness and
impartiality in its selection of suppliers. During the year under
review, the Group conducted an annual evaluation on the
products or services provided by all existing suppliers, and
achieved a dynamic update of the supplier list through the
hierarchical management.
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In terms of operating results, the Group reported growth in
revenue for 2020. The Group continued to enhance project
management at the preparatory stage and drive steady progress
of project construction. In connection with operation services,
revenues from the operation service segment continued to grow
in line with ongoing increase in the volumes of on-grid electricity
through integrated biomass utilisation, household waste
processed and steam supplied. For the year under review, the
Group’s revenue amounted to approximately HK$9,835,376,000,
increasing by 6% compared with HK$9,279,555,000 for 2019.
EBITDA increased by 7% to approximately HK$3,064,595,000
compared to HK$2,876,139,000 for 2019. Although the profit
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company for the year
was approximately HK$1,502,532,000, 7% less than
HK$1,621,477,000 recorded for 2019 and basic earnings per
share for 2020 was HK72.72 cents, HK5.76 cents less than
HK78.48 cents for 2019, the Group was backed by ready access
to various financing options and ample cash flow and reported
sound financial indicators across the board.

The decrease in the company’s earnings attributable to equity
shareholders and basic earnings per share for the year were
mainly due to the supplementary circular on issues related to the
“Opinions on promoting the healthy development of non-hydro
renewable power generation” (Caijian [2020] No. 426) (B2 #
FKAIBARREERRERENETER)BEUSESENEITARN)
(the “Supplementary Circular”) issued during the vyear, certain
integrated biomass utilisation projects and solar energy and wind
power projects will not be entitled to the renewable energy tariff
subsidy when the operation period exceeds prescribed lifetime
operation hours. The Group’s future operating cashflow was
affected. In light of the above, management performed impairment
property,
right-of-use assets within the scope of the

assessment on the intangible assets, plant and
equipment and
Supplementary Circular and therefore, a one-off impairment loss
of HK$216,723,000 on intangible assets was made on the
Group’s concession rights (recognized as intangible assets) for
certain integrated biomass utilisation projects. This decreased the
net profit for the year by HK$162,542,000 after netting off with
the related tax impact of HK$54,181,000. Excluding the impact of
the one-off impairment of the intangible assets, the company’s
earnings attributable to equity shareholders and basic earnings
per share for the year were HK$1,665,074,000 and HK80.59
cents, respectively, an increase of approximately 3% compared

with 2019.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE DN

RU¥EFE RN-_T-TF  NEBEKEBSE
R -AEBEFERCEREEEERBIHE
BEER BERBIE  EMELREFALE
B2 AFNREBEREAHEEERE LA
TEELRGWEFELER - REBEFEAN - K
£ B85 I 4075 % 9,835,376,000T ' B F
— N 2 B 1#9,279,555,0007T 1 6% ° & F
B BRE WTWERBEBENRBANHEK
3,064,595,000L " M_TE— N F 2B
2,876,139,000 T M17% & B AN F E AR A #E
AL R FE(G B A 49751 1,502,532,0000T © - F
—NE 2 B¥E1,621,477,000TH 7% > =T =
TFE BGREAEMNAET2.728  R=FE—NF
2 78.48 R A5.76 78l - AEBBERE R
BB B2l SEMGEEEE-

REEEZBRRELHBINRERERBRFRD X
ZRERIRBFERNBIRE MO BN EIEKTH
ERREREREEENETER EBEEENE
7538 ) (BF 22 [202014265% ) ([ Fe@m A1) -+ (&
FIEVMERAFNBEEMEREERRAEBER
EERHBRET2REERER  THEZAHM
HAERREEHL  AEERKEERRZE
FE Rt BEREH(HRBN)EE AN &R
BE VMEBRERERERELE  ETRERF
& @B EMELRE R ATEE MFTE LR
(EREFEESR) fEH—RMEFEEERE
75 #216,723,000 T © B AHREE TS & BB
54,181,0007C ¥f $5 1& - £ A F )5 F HH L B &
162,542,0007C ° HHfifRez — X MR EERER
2 ARAAFEEZRRABERTRSRER
2 F 8l 5 Bl &7 #1,665,074,000 7T 1.80.5978
i R —NFHEINLIZ% °



CHINA EVERBRIGHT GREENTECH LIMITED
Annual Report 2020

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
HEEEWWE DA

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS
Business Review

For the year under review, revenue generated from the integrated
biomass utilisation, hazardous and solid waste treatment,
environmental remediation and solar energy and wind power
segments amounted to approximately HK$9,835,376,000 in
aggregate, comprising approximately HK$4,462,629,000 from
construction services, representing a 9% decline compared to
HK$4,919,759,000 2019,
HK$5,098,641,000 from operation services, representing a 22%
growth compared to HK$4,165,265,000 for 2019. Analysed by
the nature of revenue, construction services, operation services
income accounted for 45%, 52% and 3%,

for and approximately

and finance
respectively, of the total revenue.

Major financial data of integrated biomass utilisation, hazardous
and solid waste treatment, environmental remediation and solar

energy and wind power projects for 2020 are set out as follows:
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utilisation  treatment  remediation wind power utilisation treatment remediation  wind power
projects projects projects projects projects projects
HAFA REBE kEE j ]
EH HE HE Ch | : J At
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Revenue L6
— construction services - Bk 3,869,337 593,292 - - 4462629 4,050,945 868,814 - - 4919759
— operation services — BERE 4,182,317 557,647 167,656 191,021 5,098,641 3,032,982 640,767 287,296 204,220 4,165,265
— finance income — BBIA 266,740 7,366 - - 274,106 186,389 8,142 - - 194,531
8,318,394 1,158,305 167,656 191,021  9,835376 7,270,316 1,517,723 287,296 204,220 9,279,555
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e REHA
B 2,557,204 419,733 39,223 181,365 3,197,525 2,192,943 571,824 55,454 185,683 3,005,904
Benefitting from favourable national policies, the Group received a SERBRYHE  —T-TF  AEEHERR

total of approximately RMB137 million in government grants and
approximately RMB78.26 million in value-added tax refunds in
2020.
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The Company remains committed to enhancing value for the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”). To reward
Shareholders for their support while taking into account the
Group’s the Board has
recommended the payment of a final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2020 of HK7.0 cents (2019: HKS8.0 cents) per
share to the Shareholders.

long-term sustainable development,

Integrated biomass utilisation

The Group mainly utilises biomass raw materials to generate both
electricity and heat. Biomass raw materials are categorised into
yellow culms and grey culms. Yellow culms consist mainly of
agricultural residues, such as wheat straw, rice straw, corn straw,
rice husks, peanut husks, etc.; while grey culms consist of
forestry residues such as branches, barks and other
manufacturing wood wastes, etc. In addition, the Group has
developed a unique business model of urban-rural integration
combining the construction of integrated biomass utilisation
projects and waste-to-energy projects for integrated treatment of
agricultural and forestry residues and rural household wastes in a
pioneering attempt at treatment of the ecological environment in

county areas.

The comprehensive biomass raw material supply regime has
safeguarded sufficient fuel supply for and the stable operation of
integrated biomass utilisation projects, while the Group has also
curbed fuel costs by acquiring biomass raw materials in nearby
regions through regional coordination initiatives. Through the
combination of technological optimisation and delicacy
management, the Group’s integrated biomass utilisation projects
have achieved stable operations for long cycles, resulting in a
major boost to the operating standards and economic benefits of
the projects. Moreover, the unique advantages afforded by the
Group’s urban-rural integration business model has contributed to
significant reductions in the operating costs of projects and
enhanced our competitiveness as a result.

PEAXGEBIRRARAT
ZECTEFR

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE DN

REEBBBERANARE ([RRE]) BIELE A
EIERENTFHRERASENRATFER
B BEEERFHE_T-_TF+_A=1+—8H
FFERARRRERBREGR7.OBW( =T
— N 8.0/l -

EYERSRA

AEBFEFAEMERMBEERER - £
BEMBDBERNMKE SRTEAEEESE
o GnEEFE  RERR KRB BR - EERS
RREERMNEREREY - B - B R H A4
EAMEBERE Rtz REBRELBED
WA — R EBREN  SEMERATAER A
NIERGEEHEEEMA—BER  REREEAMN
BEEYRENEESR - FAlIT B ERIIREAR
B S o

TENEMERMHEEREARE T EMERS
MABREMHNESHERBEES  AEET
BRREAERTRELEMERME - EHEH
A - BB BB EERBES A%
ENEMEGANAEEER T RBMRBEE
T BREFTHBEEKFEREERE - b
Sh - AEBHEB—BICRABAESDS - AR
EREEBMEEKRA  BATEBRF



Annual Report 2020

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
HEEEWWE DA

As of 31 December 2020, the Group had a total of 50 integrated
biomass utilisation projects, located variously in 10 provinces in
China,
Shandong Province, Hubei Province and Henan Province, etc.

including mainly Anhui Province, Jiangsu Province,
Such projects commanded a total investment of approximately
RMB15.971 billion and provided an aggregate power generation
designed capacity of 1,027 MW, an aggregate annual biomass
processing designed capacity of approximately 8,089,800 tonnes,
and a daily aggregate household waste processing designed

capacity of approximately 9,910 tonnes.

During the year under review, the Group operated and completed
generating
approximately 5,365,724 MWh of on-grid electricity which

44 integrated biomass utilisation projects,

represented an increase of 40% over 2019. Meanwhile, the Group
processed approximately 6,707,958 tonnes of biomass raw
materials and approximately 2,271,844 tonnes of household
waste, representing increases of 45% and 58% over 2019,
respectively. During the year under review, the Group supplied
approximately 1,343,552 tonnes of steam, representing an
increase of 64% over 2019. As of 31 December 2020, the Group
had 6 integrated biomass utilisation projects under construction,
with an aggregate power generation designed capacity of
59.5MW, a daily household waste processing designed capacity
of approximately 2,760 tonnes.

During the year under review, the Group’s integrated biomass
utilisation projects contributed EBITDA of approximately
HK$2,557,204,000, an 2019. The
integrated biomass utilisation projects contributed net profit of
approximately HK$1,478,719,000, an increase of 10% over 2019.
The increase in profit was mainly attributable to the substantial

increase of 17% over

increase in revenue from operation services in tandem with the
continuous growth in total on-grid electricity from projects in
operation, volume of household waste processed and steam
supplied during the year under review.
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W159. 7118 - BRFTBRERKASE1,027K
R - =Y E @R R IERE 1 E E F 498,089,800
WE - A ERRI R ARRRET R RE =T H499,910M8 -
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Major operating and financial data of the integrated biomass
utilisation segment in 2020 are summarised in the table below:
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—E_TFAYERENA
BEIEMENT -

DEbz ERE L HEE

Integrated biomass utilisation projects Y BEHREFAER
On-grid electricity (MiWh) ERE=E OKRK) 5,365,724 3,826,504
Biomass raw materials processing volume EYERMEIRIES ()

(tonnes) 6,707,958 4,635,939
Household waste processing volume (fonnes) A4 & B3 BRiR & (1) 2,271,844 1,439,893
Volume of steam supplied (tonnes) EAMES () 1,343,552 818,804
EBITDA (HK$'000) BRAS BB -HEK

BiEp BN CEETT) 2,557,204 2,192,943
Hazardous and solid waste treatment EEREREE
The Group is principally engaged in the safe treatment and AEBETENE—FRITEER - BREY KL

integrated utilisation of wastes including general industrial solid

wastes, hazardous wastes and infectious animal carcasses.

Currently, the Group conducts the disposal by way of

incineration, landfill, physicochemical treatment and integrated

utilisation.

The Group is a leading industry player in the hazardous waste
treatment business, with capabilities for safely disposing of 43 out
of 46 categories of hazardous wastes listed in the National
Catalog of Hazardous Wastes. During the year under review, we
continued to explore the potential of the general industrial solid
waste electricity and heat cogeneration business. The Group is
well-positioned to fully meet various requirements of customers on
the back of its solid technical strengths and ability to provide
one-stop services.

As of 31 December 2020, the Group had a total of 60 hazardous
and solid waste treatment projects, located variously in 10
provinces and autonomous region in China, including mainly
Jiangsu Province, Shandong Province, Anhui Province, Hubei
Province and Zhejiang Province, etc. Such projects commanded a
total investment of approximately RMB14.102 bilion and an
aggregate annual processing designed capacity of approximately

2,841,900 tonnes.
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During the year under review, the Group operated and completed
23 hazardous and solid waste treatment projects. For
166,825 tonnes of
hazardous and solid waste were treated in total, a 9% decrease
compared to 2019. For integrated resource utilisation, 15,276
tonnes of hazardous and solid waste were treated, increasing by

detoxification treatment, approximately

12% compared to 2019, and approximately 5,768 tonnes of
recycled products were sold, a 10% increase compared to 2019.
There were 15 hazardous and solid waste treatment projects
under construction with an aggregate annual processing designed
capacity of approximately 873,800 tonnes.

During the year under review, the Group’s hazardous and solid
waste treatment projects contributed EBITDA of approximately
HK$419,733,000, a decline of 27% over 2019. Hazardous and
solid waste treatment projects contributed net profit of
approximately HK$203,180,000, a decrease of 44% over 2019.
The decrease in profit was mainly attributable to the decrease in
revenue from operation services as the processing volume had
been affected by the epidemic.

Major operating and financial data of the hazardous and solid
waste treatment segment in 2020 are summarised in the table

below:

REBEFEEA  AEEES k7T INGRERERE
REHEHZME BECEEHE HEBGER
[EfE49166,825MF * B —F— NFE /L 9% : &R
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ZE-NFEIN12% - WHEEREFHERL
5,768 + =T — NLFLN10% LB fafE K E
R EIEE151E - AR REREENENTSE
873,800 °

REBEFEAN ASENEEREEEEEEE
RIBRFE BE -NERBENRBMNOBE
419,733,0007C * M- B—NERMD27% ° BENR
[E B R 2 18 B B RUF & 498 % 203,180,000 -
BT NFRD44% - BFRDEERREE
EXEETE  AMBBUEERBUEABLEIRD -

—F -

TEBEMEBREED M T RE LR
BEIEMENT

Hazardous and solid waste treatment EEREEREEEE
projects
Hazardous and solid waste processing volume & & % & & R I & (WE)
(tonnes)
— Detoxification treatment — BFELEE 166,825 184,248
— Integrated resource utilisation — BRtREFA 15,276 13,654
Sales volume of recycled products (tornes) BREFBAEREE=S
(1) 5,768 5,242
EBITDA (HK$'000) BRAS - BIE - TE R
§H Al & A B #Fr) 419,733 571,824




Environmental remediation

The Group’s environmental remediation business covers mainly
the restoration of industrial contaminated sites, restoration of
contaminated farmland, restoration of ecology for mines and
landfills, treatment of industrial gas emission, integrated treatment
of oil sludge, treatment of river and lake sediments and industrial
sludge, construction and operation of wetland parks,
environmental stewardship services and anti-seepage at landfill

sites.

In connection with qualifications, as of 31 December 2020, the
Group held the following accreditations: First-grade Professional
Contracting Qualification for Environmental Protection Projects,
Second-Grade General Contractor for Municipal Public Works,
Third-Grade General Contractor for Construction Works,
Environmental Engineering EPO License (Class B) (for pollution
remediation and prevention of water pollution), Environmental
Pollution Control License (Class A) (remediation of contaminated
sites) in Jiangsu Province, Environmental Pollution Control License
(Class B) (contaminated water body remediation) in Jiangsu
Province, Environmental Pollution Control License (First Class)
(remediation of contaminated sites) in Jiangsu Province and
(Second Class)
(contaminated water remediation) in Jiangsu Province. It had also
obtained an “AAA” corporate credit rating given by a credit rating
ISO9001, OHSAS18001 and 1SO14001
management system accreditations. In addition, the Group holds
the China National
Assessment (CNAS) certificate which qualifies it to issue test data
results to third parties as valid proof for certification

Environmental Pollution Control License

agency, as well as

Accreditation Services for Conformity
and
purposes.

As of 31 December 2020, the Group had 13 environmental
remediation projects under implementation, the majority of which
were located variously in Jiangsu Province, Jiangxi Province and
Guangdong Province, with a total contract amount of
approximately RMB583 million. There were also 3 projects in the
preparatory stage, with a total contract amount of approximately

RMB117 million.
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For the year under review, the Group’s environmental remediation
projects contributed EBITDA of approximately HK$39,223,000, a
decrease of 29% over 2019. The environmental remediation
projects contributed net profit of approximately HK$15,317,000, a
decrease of 50% over 2019. The decrease in profit was mainly
attributable to the impact of the epidemic on construction work

progress and reduction in government tenders.

Major financial data of the environmental remediation segment for
2020 are summarised as follows:

REBFER  AEENRFEEEB BRERA

B BIE - e RE A AT 498 %39,223,000
T BT E—NERAD29% - RIFEEER B

SHE R 476 815,317,0007C © B - E— L FERD
50% - BRI EFEHROBFERNIREES
KIS ERBTRIBIZEE -

—ECTFERBBESH 2T EVBEEHEN
-

RIEHEER
BRAE B FER

Environmental remediation projects
EBITDA (HK$'000)

BiEm BN CEETT) 39,223 55,454
Solar energy and wind power HRBER
The Group has 7 solar energy projects and 2 wind power ANEBMAF7EELHNIRBBEL AN 2EES
projects in operation located in Jiangsu Province, Anhui Province, H®IREIER © D RIDHILIEHE - TH%E -~ IUA
Shanxi Province and Germany respectively, involving a total é&fﬁl W R ETRN ARE13.9585 © 8

investment of approximately RMB1.395 billion and providing an
aggregate power generation designed capacity of 125.9MW. The
Group is responsible for building, managing and operating these
projects and selling electricity generated by such projects to local
power grid companies.

During the year under review, the Group’s solar energy and wind
power projects sold approximately 257,781 MWh of electricity,
representing a decrease of 4% compared to 2019. EBITDA
contribution decreased by 2%, as compared to 2019, to
approximately HK$181,365,000. Solar energy and wind power
projects contributed net profit of approximately HK$78,415,000,
representing a decrease of 6% as compared to 2019. It was
mainly attributable to the decrease in on-grid power volume
following the suspension of wind power operation in Shanxi

Province owing to the epidemic.
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Major operating and financial data of the solar energy and wind
power segment in 2020 are summarised in the table below:
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Solar energy and wind power projects KRBEERREER
On-grid electricity (MIW/h) FREE CKEE) 257,781 268,675
EBITDA (HK$°000) BRAE - BB TER

BiEai B A CEEFor) 181,365 185,683

The Group has been consistently committed to a dual emphasis
on both social benefits and economic benefits in its vigorous
efforts to promote energy conservation and emission reduction.
During the year under review, the Group generated approximately
5,623,505 MWh of green electricity, which was sufficient for the
annual electricity consumption of 4,686,259 households, reducing
standard coal consumption by 2,249,402 tonnes and carbon
dioxide (CO,) emissions by 4,478,665 tonnes, while saving
731,055,625 trees. The Group also processed 501,782.6 m® of
leachate in its waste-to-energy power plants and hazardous
waste landfills eliminating aggregate chemical oxygen demand
(COD) by 15,599.8 tonnes.

Business Prospects

In the wake of the 18th National Congress of the Communist
Party of China, the development of ecological civilisation has been
afforded a strategic priority like never before, and the building of
a beautiful China has become a consensus for all throughout the
nation. The unexpected outbreak of the epidemic has warranted
new requirements for the nation’s development of ecological
civilisation, while the complicated and severe external environment
has caused an impact on the traditional patterns of economic
development. Given the significance of the development the
ecological and environmental business to protecting public health
and safety and realising sustainable development of mankind,
ecological and environmental governance could have enormous
effect on directing the adjustment of the economic structure,
transforming the pattern of economic development and enhancing
qualitative economic growth. Going forward, the environmental
sector is bound to embrace new historic opportunities for
development.
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Year 2020 is the concluding year of China for the general
development of a moderately prosperous society and the “13th
Five-Year Plan”, as well as the year of planning and formulation
for the “14th Five-Year Plan”. At the 75th United Nations General
Assembly held during the vyear, President Xi Jinping made a
solemn pledge to the world that China’s carbon emission will
peak by 2030 and carbon neutrality will be achieved by 2060.
According to the “Proposals for the Formulation of the “14th Five-
Year Plan” and Long-term Goals 2035 for National Economic and
Social Development” adopted at the 5th plenary session of the
19th Central Committee of the Communist Party of China, the
task of low-carbon green development, improving environmental
quality and facilitating eco-friendly transformation of important
industries and sectors was further emphasised. In the foreseeable
years to come, the perfection of the carbon emission trading
regime, the ongoing battle against pollution with synergies in
pollution and carbon reduction has become the latest critical point
for the environmental industry in its service to the national cause
and people’s livelihood.

The fast-changing scenes in domestic as well as international
developments in 2020 posed not a few risks and had a profound
impact on the industrial structure of China. All in all, it has
expedited the process of consolidation in the environmental
sector for more in-depth development, where strong players were
driving out the weak. Against a backdrop where both
opportunities and challenges abound, we continued to persist in
development in “three dimensions”: extending the length of the
industry chain, penetrating the depth for more market shares and
broadening the scope of our business. Based on a profound
commitment to “delivering value to customers”, we constantly
enhanced our ability to provide service and create value through
a market-oriented and technology-driven approach.
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The Group will continue to operate in close adherence to national
strategies and seize opportunities for development presented by
“peak carbon dioxide emission” and “carbon neutrality”, with a
view to transition towards qualitative growth. To consolidate its
existing business strengths, the Group will drive quality and
efficiency enhancement for its existing projects, while seeking
further optimisation of its business mix in an active move to
Our
utilisation business will negotiate a general transition to electricity

advance business transformation. integrated biomass
and heat cogeneration and high value-added businesses. The
hazardous and solid waste treatment business will develop new
operations such as general industrial solid waste treatment and
ELT recycling in a transition to the provision of industrial
environmental services. We will enhance development of the
environmental remediation business and step up with business
in areas such as landfill
field
opportunities in the new development ahead of our competition,

deployment remediation, mine

remediation and agricultural remediation. To seize
the Group will expedite research in new business models and a
business positioning pivoting on three areas: energy, resources
and environment, investigating new approaches and transform the
enterprise into a technology-oriented and versatile business
ecology platform. The Group will persist in leading the way
through business innovations and driving sustainable development
of various businesses through technological innovation and
innovations in business model, in a full effort to foster core

corporate competitiveness.

Moving forward, with the solid backing of China Everbright Group
and strong support of CEEGL, the Company’s controlling
shareholder, and on the back of its extensive experience in the
development and operation of diversified project portfolios and
strong ability in market development, the Group will work in close
tandem with national policies and market trends with a firm
strategic focus, as it continues to uphold the corporate vision of
endeavouring to “Create Better Investment Value and Undertake
More Social Responsibility” and strive incessantly to become a

leader in China’s environmental business sector.
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Subsequent events

On 28 January 2021,
registration acceptance issued by the National Association of

the Company received the notice of

Financial Market Institutional Investors (the “NAFMII”) in respect of
the Company’s application for the proposed issue of asset-
backed notes (the “ABN”) with the maximum registered principal
amount of RMB2 billion in the national inter-bank bond market in
“PRC").
principal amount shall be valid for two years from the date of the

the People’s Republic of China (the The registered
notice of registration acceptance, being 27 January 2021. The
targeted subscribers for the ABN shall be institutional investors in
the national inter-bank bond market in the PRC. The ABN shall
be traded in the inter-bank bond market.

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has not issued
any ABN. The Company will make further disclosure on the
progress of the possible ABN issue as and when appropriate.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Financial position

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s total assets amounted to
approximately HK$35,264,668,000 (31 December 2019:
HK$26,258,315,000) with net assets amounting to approximately
HK$12,866,841,000 (31 December 2019: HK$10,587,352,000).
Net asset value per share attributable to equity shareholders of
the Company was HK$6.06 per share, an increase of 21% as
compared to HK$5.01 per share as at the end of 2019. As at 31
December 2020, liabilities over total
assets) of the Group was 63.5%, an increase of 3.8 percentage
points as compared to that of 59.7% as at the end of 2019. The
current ratio of the Group was 156.2%, an increase of 7.5

the gearing ratio (total

percentage points as compared to that of 148.7% as at the end
of 2019.
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Financial resources

The Group adopts a prudent approach on cash and financial
management to ensure proper risk control and lower the costs of
funds. It finances its operations primarily with internally generated
cash flow, proceeds from the issue of medium-term notes and
bank loans. As at 31 December 2020, the Group had cash and
bank balances of approximately HK$2,727,053,000, a decrease of
HK$170,433,000 as compared to HK$2,897,486,000 at the end
of 2019. Most of the Group’s cash and bank balances were
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi.

Indebtedness

The Group endeavours to develop a diverse range of financing
options and increasing banking facilities to reserve funds for the
development of its environmental protection business. As at 31
December 2020, the Group had outstanding borrowings including
2020 First Tranche Medium-term Notes (as defined below) of
approximately HK$16,933,373,000, an increase of approximately
HK$5,378,362,000 as compared to HK$11,555,011,000 as at the
end of 2019. The borrowings included secured interest-bearing
borrowings of approximately HK$8,566,054,000 (31 December
2019: HK$6,472,644,000) and unsecured interest-bearing
borrowings of approximately HK$8,367,319,000 (31 December
2019: HK$5,082,367,000). The borrowings of the Group were
denominated in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars, representing
73% and 27% of the total respectively. The majority of the
Group’s borrowings were subject to floating rates. As at 31
December 2020, the Group had banking facilities of
approximately HK$22,038,898,000 (31 December 2019:
HK$17,423,770,000), of which approximately HK$7,591,705,000
(31 December 2019: HK$6,328,994,000) was unutilised. The tenor
of banking facilities ranged from 1 year to 16 years.

In June 2018, the Company entered into a comprehensive
strategic cooperation agreement with Bank of China Limited,
Shenzhen Branch (“BOC”) to deepen the two parties’ strategic
cooperation in energy conservation and environmental protection.
BOC will provide RMB4 billion
funding to the Group in the coming 3 years, which would offer

Pursuant to the agreement,

strong financial backup for its development. The RMB4 billion
funding is subject to definitive agreements to be entered into by
the Group and BOC.
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The Company entered into a strategic cooperation agreement
with Postal Savings Bank of China Co., Ltd., Shenzhen Branch
(“PSBC Shenzhen Branch”) in July 2019, paving the way for
cooperation in the fields of ecology and environmental protection
between the two parties. Pursuant to the cooperation agreement,
PSBC Shenzhen Branch would offer financial cooperation with an
aggregate amount of RMB5 billion to the Group in the coming 3
its  full
construction and working capital requirements of the Group’s

years. By extending support to the investment in
environmental protection projects, it will offer comprehensive,
quality, efficient, preferential and tailored financial services to the
Group. The Company will take the opportunity presented by this
strategic cooperation to deepen the cooperation between both
parties continuously, establish a long-term, stable and mutually
beneficial cooperative relationship with PSBC Shenzhen Branch.
On 20 May 2020, received the notice of

registration acceptance issued by the NAFMII in respect of the

the Company

Company’s application for the proposed issue of medium-term
notes in an aggregate principal amount of not more than RMB3.5
billion in the national inter-bank bond market of the PRC, which
registered principal amount shall be valid for 2 years from the
date of the notice of registration acceptance, being 19 May
2020. The targeted subscribers for the medium-term notes shall
be institutional investors in the national inter-bank bond market.
The medium-term notes shall be traded in the national inter-bank
bond market.

During the year, the Company completed the issuance of 2020
first tranche medium-term notes (the “2020 First Tranche
Medium-term Notes”) on 12 June 2020. The 2020 First Tranche
Medium-term Notes was issued for an amount of RMB1 billion
with a maturity period of 3+2 years at a coupon rate of 3.68%
per annum for the first 3 years. The Company shall be entitled to
adjust the coupon rate of the 2020 First Tranche Medium-term
Notes on the third anniversary of the issuance date. The adjusted
coupon rate shall remain unchanged for the last 2 years. The
proceeds from issuance of the 2020 First Tranche Medium-term
Notes will be used as general working capital and for loan
repayment. As at 31 December 2020, the Company’s outstanding
medium-term notes had an unissued registered principal amount
of RMB2.5 billion.
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Foreign exchange risks

The Company’s financial statements are denominated in Hong

Kong dollars, which is also the functional currency of the
Company. The Group’s investments made outside Hong Kong
(including Mainland China) may incur foreign exchange risks. The
Group’s operations have been predominantly based in Mainland
China, which makes up over 95% of its total investments and
revenue. The majority of the Group’s assets, borrowings and
major transactions are denominated in Renminbi, forming basically
a natural hedging effect. The Group closely manages its foreign
exchange risk through the optimal allocation of borrowings in
different currencies, moderate control of borrowings in non-base

currencies, and adoption of appropriate financial instruments.

Pledge of assets

Certain banking facilities of the Group were secured by certain
revenue rights, contract assets and receivables in connection with
the Group’s service concession arrangements, bank deposits,
mortgages on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets of the Group. As at 31 December 2020, the aggregate net
book value of assets pledged amounted to approximately
HK$19,019,934,000 (31 December 2019: HK$14,193,658,000).

Commitments

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had purchase commitments
of approximately HK$1,104,064,000 (31 December 2019:
HK$1,934,256,000) under the construction contracts and capital
commitments relating to capital injection in an associate and a
joint venture of approximately HK$35,405,000 (31 December
2019: HK$33,148,000) and HK$3,575,000 (31 December 2019:
Nil) respectively.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not have any contingent
liabilities (31 December 2019: Nil).

Tax relief and exemption

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company’s shares.
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Service concession arrangements

The Group entered into Build-Operate-Transfer (“BOT”) and Build-
Operate-Own (“BOQ”) arrangements in respect of its projects.

The Group concluded that all the BOT arrangements and certain
BOO arrangements are service concession arrangements under
Hong Kong (International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee) (“HK(IFRIC)”) Interpretation 12, because the local
government controls and regulates the services that the Group
must provide with the infrastructure at a pre-determined service
respect of BOT arrangements, upon expiry of
infrastructure has to be

charge. In
concession right agreement, the

transferred to the local government at nil consideration.
Infrastructure for BOO arrangements is used

concession arrangements for its entire or substantial useful life.

in the service
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SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENT
—> 745 A

The following chart sets forth a summary of the accounting
treatment for service concession arrangements and non-service
concession arrangements under Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”):

Projects with

guaranteed
revenue stream

BRE WS
A

Projects fulfiling all of (1),
(2) and (3)
MREN) QR
EHIER

@EER

CRITERIA 2%

(1) The grantor of the project

controls or regulates what
services we must provide with
the infrastructure, to whom we
must provide the service, and
at what price
HEMERFEALRSREE KM
WERERIRE 2R - R
H R AR RIS E A%

(2) The grantor of the project controls,

through ownership, beneficial
entitement or otherwise, any
significant residual interest in the
infrastructure at the end of the
service concession arrangement
or the infrastructure is used in the
service concession arrangement
for its entire useful life
HEMREAERBITFLE
RS R A R - IR AT
ik Bamgad iy iz
R 2 (E T E AR R A4
AR RIRBS ST ERR
PR EERAFHAER

(8) The infrastructure is constructed

or acquired from a third party
for the purpose of the service
concession arrangement or is
an existing infrastructure of the
grantor of the project to which
we are given access for the
purpose of the service
concession arrangement.

R R R IR TS R AT AS
ZHEE B RSB E =W
B RERARMEENER
AMBAEER  MEMHRR
AT SRR B B R
iz

-

Projects with
non-guaranteed
revenue stream
BREURRTH
R"A

D

Other projects
HitIEA

Construction phase
BRER

Statement of profit — construction revenue recognised

or loss

AR

Statement of
financial position

BRI R

Cash flow
ReRE

EEREERE

— construction costs charged
EHBRRERE

— finance income recognised

SRRM KA

— the consideration receivable for the
construction service is recognised as service

concession assets, which is an interest
bearing contract asset
REERBOEBLBERRALANEE
NIRBHATREREE

finance income receivable is classified as
service concession assets

M B WA D BB RE AT A E

— payment for construction costs is classified
under operating activities
BERAXNREASBELEEHET

no cash flow effect for construction revenue
and finance income

HEERa kP BRALERSTEVE

Operation phase

EEEE

— operation revenue (service fee received/
receivables less partial settlement of the
service concession assets recognised during
the construction phase) recognised
B R Iz (RE R R TE AR
BRMRIE TR LEEED D BT

— finance income recognised

BHERMBKA

— service concession assets will be settled by
allocation of service fees received during the
operation phase
R 795 o S A 4 K E A R OE T R IR B R
BEREN

— service fee received is classified under
operating activities

BURBRBEADSEELEEEHAT

SERVICE CONCESSI N ARRANGEMENT

B 3 455 7

Construction phase

BB

Statement of profit — construction revenue recognised

or loss

Bmk

Statement of
financial position

ISR &

Cash flow
REeRE

BEREREE R
— construction costs charged

B MEREEKA

— the consideration receivable for the
construction service is recognised as
intangible assets

RERERBNEERERZRBIVAE

payment for construction costs is classified
under investing activities
BERAXNRADBEREEHET

— no cash flow effect for construction revenue

HERERRTEREREYE

Operation phase

EEEE

— operation revenue (service fee received/
receivable) recognised
BERRL e W (Bl BB IRSER)

— amortisation charge of intangible assets

BVAEBRHEER

— intangible assets are amortised on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful life

BV AENRG A FREEREERH

— service fee received is classified under
operating activities

BhRBRBRADEEKLETHRAT

NON-SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENT
FE RG4S R AR B

Construction phase

BB

Statement of profit — nil

or loss

kT

Statement of
financial position

BRI R

Cash flow
ReRE

— construction costs are capitalised as
construction in progress and classified under
property, plant and equipment
BEKAERMAEEIRUDEEYE -
BB RS BET

— payment for construction costs is classified
under investing activities

BEKAXNFRADBEERAEHRT

Operation phase

B

— operation revenue (service fee received/
recelvable) recognised

BREREE Kz (BN BERRBER)
— depreciation charge of property, plant and
equipment

¥ BERREHEER

— upon completion of the construction,
construction in progress is reclassified to the
relevant categories under property, plant and
equipment
BRRTERE  CEREENDEEVE K
B RREOERERNT

— cost of the infrastructure is depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful
life

EREAARHERFREERELRE

— service fee received is classified under
operating activities

BRBRBEADEEKEFHAT
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As of 31 December 2020, the Group had a total of 76 projects in
in which 48
integrated biomass utilisation projects and 12 hazardous and solid

operation and 21 projects under construction,

waste treatment projects are accounted for as service concession
arrangements. Most of the integrated biomass utilisation projects
and some of the hazardous and solid waste treatment projects
are accounted for as service concession arrangements. The
construction contracts for the biomass portion of our integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy projects and some of our
hazardous and solid waste treatment projects are recorded under
“intangible assets”, while the construction contracts for the
waste-to-energy portion of our integrated biomass and waste-to-
energy projects and some of our hazardous and solid waste
treatment projects are

recorded under “service concession

assets”.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the construction
revenue recorded under intangible assets and service concession
assets for projects accounted for as service concession
arrangements during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 31

December 2019.
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Construction revenue recorded as additions to:
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2020 2019

—E_EF —ET—NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT T

Intangible assets E B E 2,304,535 3,661,081
Service concession assets RGETEEEEE 2,158,094 1,258,678
Total @t 4,462,629 4,919,759

INTERNAL MANAGEMENT

Strengthening corporate management and risk control is the
cornerstone that ensures efficient, healthy and sustainable
development of an enterprise. The Group has always upheld a
“People-oriented, Pragmatic, Creative and Systematic”
management philosophy, as it continues to develop and improve
its management system and mechanism with a special emphasis
on fostering a corporate management culture that encourages
participation by all employees, so as to enhance management

awareness and effectively raise its management standards.

During the year under review, the Group further brought its
strength
meeting” mechanism to track and guide frontline work in

in management into play by instituting a “weekly

epidemic prevention and production in a timely
manner while ensuring the protection of staff health and
operational stability, against the backdrop of the COVID-19

resumption

epidemic, adjustments to the national grant policy and increasing
austerity in the industry. We continued to drive the transformation
and upgrade of the enterprise by focusing on future development,
strengthening strategic guidance and emphasising reform and
innovation.
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The Group is committed to the introduction of industry-leading

technologies to empower the investment, construction and

operation sectors, in an ongoing effort to enhance the
enterprise’s ability to produce benefit and efficiency.
Informatisation in operation management is vigorously promoted,
extending the boundaries of management and enhancing the
standardisation, sophistication and systematisation of operational
management. Cost management awareness has been enhanced
and a long-term mechanism has been established to facilitate
end-to-end cost control over new projects, conversion projects
and expansion projects in fulfiment of the objective of cost
reduction and efficiency enhancement. Improvements have also
been made to the risk management regime, underpinned by
initiatives to strengthen know-how training and practical drills in
relation to the ESHS management system and risk management
system. A comprehensive risk inspection with collective
involvement across different departments has been organised to
identified. To
“Risk
management-oriented auditing” has been incorporated into our

procure closed-loop rectification of problems

complement efforts of the Internal Audit Department,
audit process, whereby reviews on the operating conditions and
viability of our risk management system from an audit point of
view has been conducted to ensure effective implementation and
stringent execution of all management systems.

The Company has always been highly concerned with legal
compliance of project construction and has rigorously
implemented requirements for work progress to ensure that the
commencement and construction of all projects are compliant
with relevant laws and regulations. In consistent adherence to the
operating principle of “Pursuing Excellence and Close to Zero
Discharge”, the Company has enhanced management over
projects in operation in terms of production safety and emission
compliance. Competitions in terms of four indicators, namely,
“Expenditure Reduction, Efficiency Enhancement, Energy Saving
and Cost Control”, have been organised subject to assurance that
no significant safety or environmental incidents would occur.
Moreover, a “Five Minors Innovative Award” has been introduced
to encourage staff creativity and facilitate the Company’s

high-quality development through innovation.
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During the year under review, the Company held the management
committee meeting on a monthly basis to conduct reviews on
project investment, preparation, construction and operation. The
Investment Project Risk Review Committee and the Engineering
Technology Committee played their part effectively to review the
investment and construction of projects according to stringent
standards. In the meantime, members of the management
committee deliberated on corporate development strategies and
important tasks of the enterprise in a collective effort to drive the
stable development of the Group.

HUMAN RESOURCES

With a special emphasis on human resource management, the
Group makes reasonable plans to structure its human resource
requirements according to the Company’s business development
trends to provide an ongoing drive force for its rapid
development. During the year under review, the Group continued
to actively promote and attract talents through internal training,
open recruitment and on-campus recruitment, among others. We
seek to improve staff quality through different approaches, such
as collective external training, internal associations, technical
exchange sessions and personal learning programmes. The Group
has also provided different types of trainings designed to explore
the potentials of employees, with a view to achieving
co-development with employees and sharing with them the
rewards of its business achievements.

To enhance technical exchanges and capitalise on its technical
resources, the Group made active efforts to build an internal
team of lecturers during the year under review and ensure
continuous improvements in their teaching standards through
selection examination, training and education, so that they could
pass on their expertise to upgrade the skills of other employees.
In addition to induction training for new employees to facilitate
swift integration, special centralised training sessions for general
managers, chief commanders and back-up officers were also
organised, contributing to significant enhancement in
management efficiency and organisational effectiveness. Apart
from the above, the Group also arranged specialised training in
human resources during the year to generally improve the
professional qualities and theoretical knowledge in human
resource management on the part of its human resources staff.
To strengthen risk management and facilitate consensus for
risk-related tasks, training in risk management and internal control
was arranged for the management personnel of the functional
departments at the headquarters and the management of the
project companies. The risk awareness, management standards
and risk control capabilities of the management personnel have
been effectively enhanced as a result.
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To further enhance its talent pool, the Group has organised, in
addition to on-campus recruitment of fresh graduates, competitive
internal appointment and selection to strengthen the selection and
training of back-up personnel, such that staff with the right caliber
and ambition can undertake more appropriate positions to play to
their strengths and enhance efficiency. During the year, we
launched an international recruitment campaign to promote the
training and selection of international talents and the development
of a pool of core overseas professional, with a view to fostering a
culture of diversity and inclusivity. To better support the
Company’s development strategy, regulate its human resources
management and enhance guidance and inspection over human
resources management at the business management centres and
project companies, the Company has started human resources
management inspection visits. Issues identified in the inspection
visits have been reported to the management in a timely manner
to facilitate the implementation of corrective measures.

During the year, the Group announced a range of new and
revised environmental regulations and standards, including the
“Investment Project Management Measures” ((X& B E & E it
7%)), “China Everbright Greentech Limited Administrative
Measures for Market Development (2020)” ({FR B K4k BIRIRE
RARMHHMEEENE (2020) )), “China Everbright Greentech
Limited Guide for Project Development Reward 2020-2021” ({7
B K& B IRIR G R A A]2020-2021F 1H B R € E 5 31)),
“Administrative Measures for the Appointment of Directors and
Supervisors at Everbright Greentech Investment Enterprises” ({3t
RGEBRRREPEZRES  HFEEIE)), “Everbright
Greentech Management (Shenzhen) Company Limited
Administrative Regulations for Remuneration and Benefits
(Revised)” (A KRZERRER (RYI) BRAFFMEFNERHE
(f&%T))), among others, have been announced and implemented.
The implementation of such regulations, measures and standards
has had a positive effect on safeguarding the Company’s routine
management procedures, regulating its management processes
and enhancing its operating standards.
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As at 31 December 2020, the Group had over 2,800 employees
in total in Hong Kong and Mainland China. Total staff cost for the
year ended 31 December 2020 was HK$638,850,000 (31
December 2019: HK$590,478,000). Employees are remunerated
according to their qualifications, experiences, job nature and
performance, with reference to market conditions. Apart from the
discretionary performance bonus, the Group also provides other
benefits such as medical insurance and mandatory provident
fund.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

During the year under review, the Group placed a stronger
emphasis on the effectiveness of risk control on the back of an
improved internal control and risk management system. Feasible
and effective risk mitigation measures were implemented by
improving the internal environment, enhancing dissemination of
information and conducting specific inspections, among others, to
address material risks which had been identified and evaluated.
Key risks associated with the development of the Group’s
environmental business included policy changes, trade
receivables, environmental compliance and safety management,
investment and business development, construction work budget
and cost management, as well as recruitment and staff allocation.
In addition to the above-mentioned material risks, prevention and
control of the epidemic represented one of the Company’s key
risk control tasks for the year.

The risk of policy changes refers to the risk of failure to
respond to changes in national policies and business models in a
timely and effective manner resulting in an adverse impact to the
business of the Group. The Group has been closely monitoring
adjustments to national environmental policies and has made
timely adjustments to its development approach in tandem with
changes in environmental policies. In the meantime, we have
furnished advice and suggestions to relevant policy-making
authorities through industry associations and expert teams, in a
bid to ensure that the actual conditions and needs of the industry
would be taken into consideration by the government in its policy
formulation. The Group has conducted analysis on national
industrial development strategies based on the contents of
important meetings on environmental protection recently convened
by the government and made pre-emptive moves in project
deployment to explore new business frontiers. We intend to seize
development opportunities by employing innovative business
models, in order to accomplish the stated objective of sustainable
development.
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The risk of trade receivables refers to the risk of incurring bad
debt losses that would affect the Company’s profit and solvency
owing to the failure to collect trade receivables in a timely
manner. The Group places a strong emphasis on trade receivable
management and has formulated trade receivables call plans,
under which the customer service department would enhance
calls on trade receivables through various means, such as
telephone calls, facsimile or personal visits. Meanwhile, a flexible
credit policy catering to different customers and subject to instant
adjustment has been adopted. For projects that have been
included in the catalogue, active efforts have been made to
ensure timely disbursement of grants; for projects eligible for
inclusion, efforts have been made to expedite the application
process such that they will be included as soon as practicable. In
addition, the possibility of incurring trade receivables is reduced
through proportional adjustments to various types of businesses,
the development of new businesses and the adoption of
reasonable business models. The Company has formulated cash
management plans to ensure sound financial conditions.
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The risk associated with environmental compliance and

safety management can be distinguished into the risk
associated with environmental compliance and the risk associated
with safety management. The risk associated with environmental
compliance refers to the risk of environmental emission limits,
safety incidents and adverse external conditions resulting in an
adverse impact on project construction and operation. The risk of
safety management refers to the risk of safety liability incidents
occurring as a result of deficiencies in the safety management
regime, imperfections in the safety management system and
ineffective implementation of safety management measures. The
Group has persisted in work design optimisation, stringent quality
control over project construction and efficiency upgrade for
equipment in a bid to enhance project management standards.
We have also exercised stringent control over emission indicators
to ensure the compliance with emission standards. During the
year under review, the Group conducted itself in strict
accordance with the ESHS management
consistent implementation of “Standard Operating Procedure”

(*SOP”) and formulation of contingency plans for accidents.

regime with the

Inspections on actual implementation were also conducted and

effective rectifications were made in respect of any issues
identified. The Group continued to disclose the environmental
emission data of its waste-to-energy projects in a proactive move
to subject itself to the supervision of the general public. The
Group has upheld the principle of “safety comes first in
development” and continued to improve, as well as resolutely and
consistently implement, its safety management regime, and to
fulfill its responsibility in safety management. Safety inspections
within the system are conducted monthly and quarterly to identify
and eliminate safety hazards and avoid safety liability incidents.
The Group has also conducted numerous sessions of safety
training for the learning of safety management knowledge and
enhancement of safety risk awareness, with a view to curbing any
potential risks at source and improving its safety management

standards.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE DN

e

BERBLEERERE R DR RREERER
iz 2 EEAR - REARRRERFRFENE
S REEH - FTRINMIRESHHBONER
BETKAERZENRR Z2EEEBRELZE
EEERIMMEE Z2EEFETTE K2E
BEBNENERAEHNBLEREEEERN
BB o NEE—ERFELE TR - BITEE
ERME  RITREREE RSB EEKE
BRIE BB R - REERW - REEFE
N RNEBRIFESHSER B R - ERWMITIEE
tEXREI([SOP)) ~ HIE T FRESTERIEH &
BRTBRNETRE  HURENREERTH
MBI - EERSH R HEIRB NRRINE
AR IPERIMSRABNEE - AEER
BREBFEDEL  ZEERNFRA]  HETE
VWEREBRTLEEERE  ZFELXE2ERESA
T -BEA BFRHERGRETLZERE
ERABERLE2RB BR2X2EEEHNE
o AEENZRAFARZEEITIE BELE
BB ReTRBESR - DML - =
LEREIRKLE -

i



CHINA EVERBRIGHT GREENTECH LIMITED
Annual Report 2020

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
HEEEWWE DA

The risk associated with investment and business
development refers to the risk of intense competition in the
industry affecting the Group’s business development and the
investment return of its projects. The principal operations of the
Group, comprising integrated biomass utilisation, hazardous and
solid waste treatment, environmental remediation, solar energy
and wind power, are all subject to intense market competition.
The Group has fully utilised its inherent strengths to exercise risk
control through information sharing with fellow enterprises in the
industry, market analysis and internal communication within the
Company. By enhancing friendly information sharing with
competitors and partners in the industry, we have obtained first-
hand knowledge of the actions and development strategies of our
competitors. Internal information packs are prepared on a regular
basis, such as the monthly report on market development
information and the annual industry analysis report and nationa
market investment guide. Relevant competition strategies are
formulated on a regular basis according to market trends.
Meetings of the leaders of project companies are held regularly to
facilitate information-sharing and put together different ideas.
Reference materials in the forms of abstracts, documents and
special-topic publications are provided to relevant departments for
studying and to the management as reference for decision-
making.
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The risk associated with construction work budget and cost
management refers to the risk of incurring investment loss as a
result of inadequate assessment of essential factors such as
design scheme,
requirements, project work quality and fundamental conditions for

technical requirements, work schedule
construction, or inaccurate calculation of work volume, during the
stage of construction work budget. For example, the absence of
effective  measures or management systems for the timely
deliberation and examination of technical (such as design
sophistication and design defects) or financial aspects of design
changes may result in excessive actual costs of project work.
During the year, the Group enhanced the feasibility studies in
depth and quality to bring them closer to the design tasks and
increase the accuracy of budget estimates. The furnishing of
information between the equipment manufacturers and the design
institutes was expedited, while the order for information supply
among various equipment was internally clarified to facilitate the
streamlining and implementation of the accountability system for
incorporation in the appraisal. Thorough understanding of
investments made in similar projects was sought in our due
diligence process at the preliminary stage; thorough consideration
was given to the feasibility and economics of the technical
processes at the stage of feasibility study; and construction work
was carried out in strict accordance with the design scheme at
the construction stage. Equipment tenders commenced only after
the completion of preliminary procedures. Work progress
requirements were strictly specified with specific penalty terms in
the tenders for civil engineering and design contractors. Control
measures and assessments were implemented at each milestone
during the course of construction. Optimised designs were sought
to maximise reduction in construction work cost. The suppliers’
list was expanded and communication with suppliers (construction
work contractors in particular) was enhanced to lower project

work cost.
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The risk associated with recruitment and staff allocation
refers to the insufficiency of existing staff backup capacity or
establishment for important functions and positions, or inability to
recruit sufficient management, technical personnel (especially the
recruitment of technology team leaders) and experienced staff
affecting the fulfilment of the Company’s strategic and operating
goals. The Group is committed to improving its overall human
resources management standard with greater efforts to maintain
and manage staff relations to enhance staff unity and solidarity.
Active efforts are being made to investigate the reasons for staff
resignation and improve relevant management processes, with a
view to making anticipatory preparations that would alleviate the
adverse impact of staff turnover on the Company’s production
and operation. More duty-specific training sessions have been
provided to enhance staff performance at job positions.

The Company’s operations were generally affected by the
epidemic during the year, and dealing with the risk associated
with the prevention and control of the epidemic represented
a key task of the Company for the year. In connection with
epidemic prevention and control, the Company has set up a
dedicated steering group to carry out epidemic prevention and
control tasks on all fronts. With a strong emphasis on the
procurement of anti-epidemic suppliers and adoption of anti-
epidemic measures, the Company has ensured the sufficiency of
supplies and effective implementation of measures. We have
achieved the target of zero infection in our plants, such that there
have been no instances of the Company’s normal operation being
affected by staff infection. As part of the measures to prevent and
control the epidemic, restrictions were imposed regarding the
mobility of people and production operations. We have effectively
addressed the impact of such restrictions on the Company’s
investment development,
production operations by actively resorting to online office
operations, while closely liaising with government departments at

project work construction and

various levels to ensure that suppliers could resume production
with smooth road access for the transportation of goods and
project construction workers could return to their work sites as
soon as practicable. In the meantime, the management centres
and departments under the Group have been engaged in a
collaborative effort in information-sharing and centralised
procurement and allocation of raw materials and eco-friendly
consumables required for production operations, with a view to
enhancing operating efficiency and ensuring reasonable utilisation
of supplies. We have essentially ensured the stable operation of
our projects without any safety incidents or environmental
incidents of non-compliant emissions.
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ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL MANAGEMENT

The Group has continued to make improvements to its ESHS
management system, driving ongoing upgrades in the external as
well as internal management of environment, safety, occupational
health and social responsibility and improving systematic,
regulated, standardised and delicacy management throughout the
Group to maximise control over relevant risks and eliminate
management deficiencies.

In 2020, the Group focused on enhancing management over
operators of relevant parties and high-risk operations and
launched joint inspections on specific areas. The development
and utilisation of biomass fuel was enhanced, while strict
regulation and examination of flue emission was implemented. In
connection with epidemic prevention and control, the Group
undertook social responsibility in a proactive manner as it
assisted local governments in the disposal of contaminated
medical wastes and made monetary donations as well as
donations of anti-epidemic supplies, earning commendations and
honours from the government in recognition of its contributions.
In connection with environmental management, we compiled an
environmental compliance checklist covering 110 items in 16
areas, as well as 9 managements standards relating to ashes,
rainwater and storage yards. We continued to subject ourselves
to public supervisions by actively opening our environmental
facilities at various projects to the public via online means.

The performance of the operations and environmental services of
the Group’s projects are gauged in strict adherence to relevant
standards and requirements of their respective environmental
impact assessment reports, taking into account the expectations
of the neighboring communities. Major laws, regulations and
standards applicable to the Group’s projects include the
“Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China”,
the “Production Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China”,
the “Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the Standard
for Pollution Control on Municipal Solid Waste Incineration
(GB18485-2014), Directive 2010/75/EU and its relevant Annexes/
Amendments, the Emission Standard of Air Pollutants for Thermal
Power Plants (GB13223-2011), the Standard for Pollution Control
on Landfill Sites for Hazardous Waste (GB18598-2019) and the
Pollution Control Standard for Hazardous Wastes Incineration
(GB18484—2001), among others. No breach of the said laws and
regulations and environmental standards resulting in significant
loss for and impact to the Group was recorded in 2020.
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DEVOTED TO ECOLOGY AND
ENVIRONMENT FOR
A BEAUTIFUL CHINA
BRERRE
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Enterprise sustainability performance has been
increasingly emphasised by different stakeholders,
including regulators and investors and the Group has
already integrated the philosophy of sustainable
development into its daily operations. Through the
actions such as the establishment of sustainability
governance structure, identification of sustainability
trends, formulation of sustainability strategies and
communication with stakeholders during the vyear,
the Group had further clarified its future
sustainability direction, and strived to promote the
attainment of sustainable development goals set out
by the United Nations.
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SUMMARY OF THE SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
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Significant Progress 1 EE# R — :

Sustainability

Governance Structure
AEERRERER

At the board meeting held on 11 August
2020, it was resolved to establish a
Substainability Committee, which was
authorized by the Board and chaired by the
Chief Executive Officer, with various
sustainability working groups thereunder,
including the operation management working
group, the employment and community
investment working group and the
compliance and risk working group. The
Substainability Committee was established to
oversee the management and effectiveness of
the Group on sustainability issues, and to
ensure the smooth implementation of relevant
policies and initiatives in different scopes and
business units within the Group.
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Significant Progress 2 EE# R = :

Sustainability Trends A E %X RE S

With the gradual incorporation of sustainability into national development strategies and the increasingly
stringent requirements from different regulators and investors for enterprise sustainability disclosure, the
ability of an enterprise to understand the impact of sustainability trends on its daily operations and
management will be critical to the long-term success of its businesses. During the year, the Group had
commissioned sustainability consultants to identify seven sustainability trends according to the
uniqueness of the industry, and analyzed the disclosure practices of our peers to understand how the
industry perceives them as risks or opportunities. The seven sustainability trends are as follows:
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Sustainability Strategies ] i34 2% & 5K &

To achieve the blueprint for sustainable development, the United Nations formulated 17 sustainable
development goals in 2015, covering economic development, social inclusion and environmental protection,
and were unanimously endorsed by all member states to help the world in achieving sustainable
development by 2030. China, as the world’s largest developing country, has already integrated the
sustainable development agenda with its medium-and long-term planning in the “13th Five-Year Plan”, and
is committed to achieving the Sustainable Development Goals by 2030. Against this backdrop, establishing
sustainability strategies based on industry sustainability trends and other sustainability indicators has
become an important step for enterprises to address the future challenges and opportunities in
sustainability.

During the year, the Group commissioned sustainability consultants to analyze the sustainability issues
relevant to the Group, including corporate governance, environment, employee relationship, operational
management and community involvement, which are taken as potential strategic pillars for the Group’s
sustainability strategies.
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In addition to the 3 significant progresses above, the Group has also identified 4 scopes of concern
according to its operations and communications with stakeholders during the year, namely:
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Epidemic Prevention and Control Conditions
and Response Policies

B AR B #2251 O A FE ¥ 75 &t

The outbreak of the COVID-19 in early 2020 had exerted significant impact on the safety of all human beings
as well as global economic development. Owing to the needs of epidemic prevention and control, enterprise
production and operation activities were restricted, and had a certain impact on enterprise operation in the
short term. In order to protect employee safety and respond to the government’s call, since the outbreak of
the epidemic, the Group immediately issued a notice requiring all project companies to formulate emergency
plans and epidemic prevention and control measures against the COVID-19 according to the headquarters’
requirements and their own circumstances, and to update such project companies timely on epidemic
prevention. Currently, China has entered the stage of normalized epidemic prevention, and the Group will also
fully cooperate with national policies to devote self-contribution to protect employee safety as well as
economic recovery.
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Highlights for the Year @
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e Submitted the “Critical Report on the Impact of COVID-19 on the Biomass Energy Sector” to the
NDRC and other competent national authorities to reflect how the entire environmental industry had
been affected by COVID-19.

e Prepared the Special Report on Risks associated with the Epidemic Outbreak ({22355 15 | & 2218
D) to report the possible impacts of the COVID-19 on the Group and the measures taken,
including engineering construction, cost management, investment development and financial
budget.

e Established an epidemic response working group with the Chief Executive Officer as the group leader.

e Spent a total of RMB3,640,000 on epidemic prevention products.
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SUMMARY OF THE SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
IHERERERE

To protect the safety of our employees, the Group’s headquarters in Shenzhen
integrated the central government’s policy and deployment, local government’s “Notice

on Resumption of Business Operations and Production” and the respective working
arrangements of CEEGL, and requires all employees to work on a flexible schedule in early
2020 when the epidemic situation was severe, while ensuring that the overall proportion of

staff on duty in each department would not be less than 30%. Staff working from home would

work online. In addition, a rotating shift system was adopted in Shenzhen headquarters,
requiring employees to work at staggered hours and shifts. All on-duty employees are required to
cooperate with the administration and human resources department to have their body temperature
measured daily and recorded properly. If abnormal body temperature is found, it will be reported
immediately.

In addition to the flexible working system, to meet the requirements of epidemic prevention and control,
only breakfast is served in the Shenzhen headquarters canteen during the epidemic period, and all
employees are prohibited from dining in the canteen to prevent group gathering. After meals are taken,
dedicated staff will put kitchen wastes in a special area to maintain sanitary conditions of the entire office.

The various operation departments of the Group will also strengthen their management efforts on COVID-19
through formulating special COVID-19 contingency plans, setting up COVID-19 task force as well as
organizing training on COVID-19 prevention and other measures. For example, Everbright Environmental
(Suzhou) Solid Waste Treatment Limited immediately set up an epidemic prevention and control group and
formulated contingency plans in the early stage of COVID-19 outbreaks. It took charge of the co-ordination of
epidemic prevention and control engagement of various departments, such as epidemic prevention and
control publicities, environmental disinfection and provisions preparation. In addition, the company improved
staff’'s awareness of epidemic prevention issues through various training courses. All trainings were conducted
by videos recording for the purpose of avoiding people from gathering together.
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SUMMARY OF THE SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
IHERERERE

Process of Business Transformation

EBERER

The Group will actively facilitate business transformation to further increase its competitive advantage, enhance
social value and create more diversified areas of contribution to sustainability. Since 2019, the Group has
developed its hazardous and solid waste treatment business to include general industrial solid waste,
production of recycled materials and metal-contained hazardous waste recycling in a transition to the
provision of industrial environmental services, so as to further propel sustainable development.
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Highlights for the Year @
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e General industrial solid waste: By investing about RMB1.5 billion, we have constructed 3 general
industrial solid waste treatment projects, with an average daily treatment of 1,800 tonnes of general
solid waste. These projects can provide 280 million kWh of green electricity annually, and supply

about 1 million tonnes of steam in the vicinity areas of the project sites.

e Recycled materials (carbon black): Recycled carbon black is produced after treating ELT with
pyrolysis technology. For 1 tonne of tires, we can recover 12% of high-quality steel, 12% of
combustible gas, 40% of petroleum and 36% of carbon black; 4 tonnes of carbon dioxide emissions
can be reduced in processing 1 tonne of tires.

e Metal-contained hazardous waste recycling: Hazardous waste is melted at high temperature to
achieve non-hazardous disposal, and in addition, pyrometallurgical technology is used to extract
nickel, copper and other high-value metals from hazardous waste and sell them externally.
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SUMMARY OF THE SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
IHERERERE

At present, most of the ELT in China failed to be recycled effectively due to the
relative low utilisation technology standard of ELT, which has become one of the
important factors of environmental pollution. Therefore, adopting advanced technology to
conduct large-scale construction of ELT processing plant that meets the environmental
protection standards has become one of important measures to effectively solving the problem

of ELT pollution. Leveraging its own experience in environmental protection industry, the Group has
commenced the construction of ELT processing project. We believe that developing various projects
will effectively solve the treatment of ELT, produce several products such as bio-oil and pyrolysis carbon
black for reuse by different enterprises and thus demonstrating significant environmental benefits.

The General Solid Waste and Electricity and Heat Cogeneration Project in Xiao County, Anhui Province is
located in the Xiao County Economic Development Zone and occupies an area of about 80 mu. The project
has adopted the 1Xx480t/d medium temperature secondary high-pressure water-cooled grate boiler as the
main equipment for general industrial solid waste incineration, and constructed 2 X 100t/h steam pumping and
condensing turbines, 1 X7.5MW back-pressure steam turbine generator unit and 1 xX20 MW steam pumping
and condensing turbine generator unit. The flue gas generated from such project meets the requirements of
the Standard for Pollution Control on Household Waste Incineration (GB18485-2014) of the PRC and the
2000/76/EC of the European Union, and the steam generated can also provide heat for enterprises in the
zone. The total treatment scale of general solid waste can reach 800 tonnes per day.
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Technology Research and Development Results

The Group has always attached importance to the research and development of new technologies, with the
hope of enhancing the environmental performance of its projects through technological innovation. As a
leading enterprise in the environmental protection industry, the Group has formulated a series of policies to
encourage the research and development of new technologies, and Everbright Greentech Research Institute
to take charge of technological research and management.
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Highlights for the Year @
AEEEHKRE k1

¢ |nvested approximately RMB20,205,990 in the research and development of environmental technologies.

e Successfully developed the technology package for the incineration of hazardous waste with high
sulphuric and halogenic contents and the package was applied to Lianyungang Hazardous Waste
Incineration Phase ll, Wenling Hazardous Waste Incineration and Haimen Hazardous Waste Incineration
projects.

e Obtained 19 authorised patents, including 1 invention patent. Also published 3 dissertations.

e Jointly co-operated with Southeast University and ANDRITZ AG and other organisations and have
successfully applied for a national key research and development program project of the Ministry of

Science and Technology, which is the key part of international cooperation in science and technology
innovation among governments.
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In view of the current trend of increasing sulphur and chlorine content in the raw
materials of hazardous waste incineration projects, the relevant departments of the Group
have optimized raw materials configuration, feeding, refractory materials, residual heat boiler
and wet de-acidification processes of hazardous waste incineration, and has formed an
incineration system suitable for high sulphur and high halogen hazardous waste. At the same time,
the design of theoretical calculation, public auxiliary systems and automatic control systems were
improved around the main process system, and the equipment layout was optimized.

Currently, there is a problem of excess capacity of general hazardous waste incineration. Therefore, the
technology for the incineration of hazardous waste with high sulphuric and halogenic contents will be
increasingly used in new hazardous waste incineration projects in future, so as to solve the existing problem
of current hazardous waste incineration projects unable to dispose of hazardous wastes with high sulphuric
and halogenic contents, and provide differentiated competitiveness and bring new development opportunities

for the Group’s hazardous waste treatment business.

Looking forward into the future, by focusing on the Group’s needs in business development and
transformation and upgrading and on the basis of deepening the development of the existing business
sectors, Everbright Greentech Research Institute will further invest more resources in the new business
sectors, such as new metal smelting technology, new solid waste recycling technology, new technologies for
pollution detection and treatment and new environmentally-friendly materials, for the purpose of providing
technical assistance for the Group’s transformation and upgrading of the environmental protection sector.
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Guidelines for Climate Change Management

RIRBILEET

The issue of climate change has always been the focus of the Group and is also one of the sustainability
trends identified by the Group. As a leading enterprise in the environmental protection industry, the Group will
also undertake its self-responsibility during the process of achieving carbon neutrality in China by 2060, and
strive to reduce the impact on climate through various measures to reduce carbon emissions from corporate
operations.

RIEZCEE-BEURGRIAEENER  TREASERFIZNAFERRBE 2 — ARERRRITE
MEREE AEEEBERAF060FRTMNERTTERALEBEHAEE  BETRERRIEEEEE
EIRPER - B EHRIENZE -

\/

Highlights for the Year Led by the technology
KEESUSERE management department, professors

from domestic universities were invited

to investigate and study the quality and
efficiency improvement of the Group’s 6 clean
energy projects. The investigation and research
summarized the common problems for biomass
power generation projects and household waste

e Climate change has already been
included in the Group’s risk
inventory, and is updated regularly.

e The Group has initiated research on

latest technologies to improve energy
efficiency and energy conservation.
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incineration projects, and made recommendations
on boosting revenue and energy conservation and
consumption reduction to name a few. To
promote the implementation of various
recommendations from experts, the Group has set
up a dedicated working group on quality and
efficiency improvement of clean energy projects to
coordinate the implementation of different
measures.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Group believes that maintaining sound and high standards of
corporate governance is not only a key element in safeguarding
the interest of the Shareholders, but also a way to enhance the
corporate value and strengthen accountability and transparency of
the Group.

Echoing the Company’s theme of “Laying a Solid Foundation and
Keeping Pace with Times”, the Group has constantly reinforced its
internal control, risk prevention and management, corporate
governance through a set of rules and regulations. The Group
strives to inculcate the corporate governance, risk management
and sustainable development concept into the Company’s
operation and business for cultivating the strong backup to the
breakthrough development of the Company’s business.

The Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set out in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) has been adopted by the
Board as the guidelines of corporate governance practices of the
Company. During the year of 2020, the Company has fully
complied with the code provisions set out in the CG Code.

Key practices adopted by the Company on corporate governance
are as follows:

— Review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

— Review and monitor the implementation of the Company’s
inside information policy;

—  Review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

— Review and monitor the implementation of the Company’s
whistleblowing policy;

— Review and monitor the Company’s risk management policy;

— Review and monitor the implementation of the board diversity
policy and nomination policy; and

— Review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.
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COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its code of
conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions. Specific
enquiries have been made with all Directors regarding any non-
compliance with the Model Code and all Directors confirmed that
they have complied with the provisions of the Model Code for the
year ended 31 December 2020.

Written guidelines were established for the relevant employees,
including certain employees of the Company, certain directors or
employees of its subsidiaries (the “Relevant Employees”), in
respect of their dealing in the Company’s securities. The Board
has also formally adopted the inside information policy which
contains the guidelines to the Directors and the Relevant
Employees to ensure that the inside information of the Company
is to be disseminated to the public in an equal and timely manner
in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.

During 2020, to enhance the awareness of the specified
procedures of handling inside information and the importance of
compliance with the regulations of insider dealing, the inside
information policy together with the enforcement actions taken by
the Securities and Futures Commission relating to insider dealing
were circulated to the Relevant Employees from time to time. An
overview of insider dealing and its
applications relating to mainland Chinese employees was
circulated to the senior and middle management in mainland
China.

inside information and

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for formulating business policies and
strategies, directing and supervising management of the Group,
adopting and monitoring business and management
control, approving and monitoring annual budgets and business
plans, reviewing operational and financial performance, reviewing
and monitoring the Company’s systems of corporate governance,
environmental, social and governance, internal control and risk
management. It oversees the task of making decisions in the best
interest of the Company and maximising the financial performance
of the Company. The Board has delegated the daily operations
and the execution of Board policies and strategies by formulating
and implementing of annual work plans and medium-term
development plans for the Group to the management committee
of the Company (“Management Committee”).

internal
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Management Committee holds meeting every month for
discussing and reviewing the investment proposal, key personnel
matters and appraisals, project schedules, budget executions,
etc.

As at 31 December 2020, the Board consists of 9 members,
including:

Mr. WANG Tianyi (Non-executive Director and Chairman)
Mr. QIAN Xiaodong (Executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. YANG Zhigiang (Executive Director and Vice President)
Mr. LO Kam Fan (Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer)
Ms. GUO Ying (Non-executive Director)
Mr. SONG Jian (Non-executive Director)
Mr. CHOW Siu Lui (Independent Non-executive Director)
Mr. Philip TSAO (Independent Non-executive Director)
Prof. YAN Houmin (Independent Non-executive Director)

All' Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive
Directors have entered into letters of appointment with the
Company for a specific term. Under the Memorandum and
Articles of Association of the Company (the “Articles of
Association”), the term of service as a Director is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election. The Board is empowered
to appoint any person as a director to fill the casual vacancy on
or as an additional director of the Board. According to the board
diversity policy and nomination policy, the Board considers a
candidate’s gender, experience, skill and knowledge and
competency and ability to fulfill duty of care and diligence and
fiduciary duties and recommendation by the nomination
committee (if any).

Mr. WANG Tianyi, Mr. YANG Zhigiang and Ms. GUO Ying, are
subject to re-election at the next annual general meeting of the
Company and retirement by rotation in accordance with Articles
108(a) and 108(b) of the Articles of Association.

In compliance with rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules, the Company
has appointed 3 Independent Non-executive Directors, one of
whom has appropriate professional qualifications in accounting
and financial management. The Company has received from each
of the Independent Non-executive Directors an annual
confirmation of his independence and considers them to be
independent in accordance with the guidelines for assessing
independence set out in rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
nomination committee has reviewed and concluded that there is
no business or other relationships with the Group or management
that are likely to affect, or could affect their independence.
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Directors have disclosed to the Company the number and nature
of office held in Hong Kong and overseas listed companies and
organisations, and their other significant commitments.
Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 104 to
109 of this annual report.

The Company has maintained an updated list of its directors
identifying their roles and functions on websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange. Independent Non-executive Directors
are identified as such in all corporate communications that
disclose the names of Directors of the Company.

The Company has subscribed appropriate and sufficient insurance
coverage on Directors’ liabilities in respect of legal actions taken
against Directors arising out of corporate activities. The Directors
may seek independent professional advice at the Company’s
expenses in carrying out their duties and responsibilities.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information
in relation to the Group’s businesses and affairs as well as
unrestricted access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary, who is responsible for providing Directors with board
papers and related materials. The Company provides monthly
updates to the Board members on the Company’s performance
and position to enable them to make a balanced and
understandable assessments on the Company’s performance,
position and prospect.

Board Evaluation

The Board recognizes that a formal, objective and open
assessment on a continuous basis can enhance the effectiveness
of governance structure of Everbright Greentech. Through the
annual board evaluation exercise, each director can share his/her
opinions and concerns to the Company. The company secretary
acts as a bridge between the Board and the management of the
Company, delivers the Board’s opinions and concerns to the
management, which in turn will take appropriate actions to do
evaluations and will report the same to the Board. Directors also
show to the Company their preferences on training topics for
improving the Board’s performance.

The findings from 2020 Board evaluation were presented to and
discussed by the Board in February 2021.
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BOARD DIVERSITY

The Board believes that the ratio between Executive Directors,
Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors
is reasonable and adequate to provide sufficient checks and
balances that safeguard the interests of Shareholders and the
Group. Conforming to the international trend on board diversity, a
female Director was appointed. The Board also believes that the
views and participations of the Independent Non-executive
Directors
independent judgment on the
performance, conflict of interest and management process to

in the Board and committee meetings provides

issues relating to strategy,

ensure that the interests of all Shareholders are considered and
safeguarded.

As at 31 December 2020, the diversity of the Board is as below:
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The Directors come from diverse background with varied
expertise in finance, legal and business fields. All Directors,
including Independent Non-executive Directors, have given
sufficient time and effort to the affairs of the Group. Independent
Non-executive Directors have provided professional advices to the
Board with their diversified expertise and experience. To succeed
in the changing environment and meet the Company’s theme of
“Laying a Solid Foundation and Keeping Pace with Times”,
nomination committee has identified skills and experiences being
the measurable objectives that should be contained in the Board

and the relevant assessment was conducted during 2020:

WANG

IX%

Measurable objectives to
the Board
EERRER

Qualities required
FREBHRERE

Leadership skill and Outstanding leadership qualities and the ability v

experience to identify and develop the talents of

BEARLELR other employees. Hands-on understanding
of organisation, projects, strategies and
risk management, as well as know-how in
driving reform and growth.

AEREANEERE - AREBRIME R
BTH g - WK BE  BERAER
EREERIBE - W AE WS RERM
R

Financial skill and As the Company measures its operational and

experience strategic performance by reference to
B RRAE EE R financial benchmarks, it is essential to

understand finance and the financial
reporting process, and accurate financial
reporting is of paramount importance to
the Company’s success.
ERAAR G2 LIS BIERE S HLEEME
BAER - BRI S IS R MRIZRIET
BE WAEBNFBREENAREN
BHWEREE -
Leadership in the environmental industry. v

ERRITHEER R, -

Industry experience

THER

Marketing experience

KR

Achieving the Company’s business growth
through product optimisation and the
development of new businesses. Paying
special attention to the development of
overseas markets in order to diversify
future development.

BBECERMRAENELRERARAEE
MR - BERRARZEAER  KHIE
JEBINTIBHBE ©

QIAN
Tianyi Xiaodong Zhigiang Kam Fan
S28BER KR ERH
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Directors
S

\'Z\\[c] QIAN YANG LO (c]V]e} CHOW  Philip YAN

Tianyi Xiaodong Zhigiang Kam Fan Ying Siu Lui TSAO Houmin
Measurable objectives to EPS BBRR BER ERD 25 #FIE ERE RBER
the Board Qualities required
EEETRER FEABHRERR
Government experience Experience in liaison with the government. The 4 v 4
BT 458 environmental business is subject to

stringent regulation and under the direct
impact of governmental behaviour and
socio-economic trends.
EERBNBMELER RREBIIBIKE
T THEERIBFNTRAMHLEKEBS

MFE -
Corporate governance Supporting and providing recommendations on (4 v (4 (4
experience the system of Board and management
TEELLR accountability to enhance transparency,

with the ultimate aim of safeguarding

shareholders’ interests.
IREHEFENEREME SR RS 2

MEHE  RERRASERELAR -

Knowledge on Enhancing Board supervision over sustainable (4 v (4 (4
sustainability and development and ensuring the
corporate achievement of strategies and delivery of
responsibility long-term shareholders’ value under a
AR EERECEE sustainable business model.
EH R MEEEFHARERENER  ITRRER

BEMAFERBRATEREBNSA
REERAEME -

Risk management Supervising risk exposures of the Company v v v v v
experience from the perspective of the Board.

R EIRLER EEEENARHE  DEARAEBENHRR

Talent management Conducive to the Company’s effort to attract, v

ATER motivate and retain valuable and talented

staff to ensure the continuous supply of
talents during the implementation of the
Company’s strategy.

BYPRARRRS - BENBEEEEERES
BRI B T - URERRNE AL AR A8
RARRREEAT -



BOARD MEETINGS

During the year of 2020, the Board held 5 meetings. In addition
the Chairman held 1
Independent Non-executive Directors annually without the

to Board meetings, meeting with

presence of Executive Directors and Non-executive Directors. Up
to the date of this report, the Board has considered, approved,
reviewed and/or formulated the matters summarized below,
including but not limited to:

o Financial results of the Company;

° Reports and recommendations from the board committees;

° Announcements/reports for publication, including release of
interim and annual report and sustainability report;

° Declaration of interim and final dividends;

o Change of auditors;

° Set up sustainability committee and its terms of reference;

° The effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk
management systems for the year of 2020;

° Change of authorized representative of the Company under
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance;

° Voluntary announcements regarding government new subsidy
policy and precautionary measures for the 2020 annual
general meeting of the Company;

° Continuing connected transactions relating to trademark
license agreement and loan arrangement from China

Everbright Group;

° Change of principal share registrar and transfer office in the
Cayman Islands of the Company;

° Issuance of 2020 first tranche medium-term notes;

° Possible issuance of the asset-backed notes initiated by a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company;
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° Investment transactions and related announcement;

° The adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and

experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function;
o Any possible

improprieties raised out through the

whistleblowing policy; and
° Training and continuous professional development of
directors and senior management.

The valuable recommendations contributed by each committee
are highly respected by the Board and the Board takes proactive
actions to put the recommendations in place.

At least 14 days’ notice prior to the date of regular Board
meetings is given to all Directors and an agenda together with
Board papers are sent to all Directors no less than 3 days before
the date of meeting. All Directors are given opportunity to include
in the agenda any other matter that they would like to discuss in
the meeting. With respect to the Board committee meetings,
reasonable prior notice is given to all committee members. All
Directors and committee members of the Board committee are
urged to attend the Board meetings and Board committee
meetings in person. For the Directors and committee members,
who are unable to attend the meeting in person, participation
through electronic means will be arranged and available.

Should a Director have a potential conflict of interest in a matter
being considered in the Board meeting, he/she will be abstained
from voting. Independent Non-executive Directors with no conflict
of interest will be present at meetings dealing with such conflict
of interest issues.

When approving a connected transaction, apart from the fairness
of the agreement terms, the Independent Non-executive Directors
also consider the commercial rationale and the benefits brought
by the proposed transaction to the business of the Group.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established 3 Board committees, namely audit and
risk management committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee, to oversee the particular aspect of the
Company’s affairs. The Board committees are provided with

sufficient resources to discharge their duties.

The Board acknowledges that it should take leadership for and
accountability in promoting a culture from the top-down to ensure
ESG considerations are part of the business decision-making
process. During the year, a sustainability governance structure has
been established by the Board. A general description of the
structure is set out in the section headed “Time commitments
outside the formal meetings” in the “Corporate Governance
Report” on pages 82 to 83 of this annual report. Details of the
same will be stated in the 2020 sustainability report of the

Company.

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
AND ACCOUNTABILITY

The audit and risk management committee, currently comprises
all 3 Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHOW Siu
Lui (chairman), Mr. Philip TSAO and Prof. YAN Houmin. Details of
the committee’s membership and members’ attendance records
during 2020 are set out on page 80 of this report.

It is primarily responsible for, including but not limited to,
providing an independent review of the effectiveness of the
financial reporting process, risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, overseeing the audit process, reviewing the
completeness, accuracy, clarity and fairness of the Company’s
financial statements, considering the scope, approach and nature
of both internal and external audits and reviewing and monitoring
connected transactions and performing other duties and
responsibilities as may be assigned by the Board from time to

time, etc.
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The terms of reference of the audit and risk management
committee are published on the websites of both the Company

and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (“HKEX”).

The audit and risk management committee held 4 meetings in
2020 and all minutes were kept by the Company Secretary. The
audit and risk management committee has reviewed with the
management and the external auditor of the Company, including
limited  to,

but not the accounting principles and practices

adopted by the Group, significant audit matters such as
significant accounting estimates and judgmental areas and
external auditor’s audit plan; and has reviewed and discussed the
Group’s financial reporting matters, including review of the
audited financial results for the year ended 31 December 2019
and the unaudited interim financial results for the six months
ended 30 June 2020. In order to ensure the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control functions of the Company,
the committee reviewed, discussed and monitored the works of
risk management in year 2020, the risk management plan for year
2021 and the works done in 2020 according to the 3-year
internal audit plan of the Company. Further, it has reviewed the
compliance of continuing connected transactions, the proposed of
change of auditors, the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function, the
investigation results of the whistleblowing cases reported through
the whistleblowing channels and the engagement of external
auditor of the Company. The audit and risk management
committee reported that there was no material uncertainty that
cast doubt on the Company’s going concern ability. The

aforesaid reviews were recommended to the Board.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020, Ernst & Young, the
external auditor, received the following remuneration from the
Group in connection with the provision of audit and non-audit
services to the Group:

FEXXGEREAERAT
ZECTEFR

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEEREE

BE-_ZTZ-_ZEF+-_A=+—HI-FE  jMER
RN L KA EB M AE B IR T K IE
EETRTS - AN BUE T 71 E B

2020 2019

—EC-BF —E-NF

HK$°000 HK$’'000

BT T BT T

Annual audit services FEETRE 2,350 2,640
Interim review services FREAEE B AR 7S 300 350
Other services, includes tax service, etc. H RIS BB R E 729 —
3,379 2,990

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee currently comprises Mr. Philip TSAO
(chairman), an Independent Non-executive Director, Mr. QIAN
Xiaodong, the Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, and 2 other Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. CHOW Siu Lui and Prof. YAN Houmin. Details of the
committee’s membership and members’
during 2020 are set out on page 80 of this report.

attendance records

The terms of reference of the remuneration committee, which are
published on the websites of both the Company and HKEX,
setting out the duties of the remuneration committee, including
determining, the remuneration

with delegated responsibilities,

packages of the individual Executive Directors and senior
management, etc. Human resource is a valuable asset to the
Company. A reasonable and comprehensive remuneration
package is one of the measures in attracting, retaining and
motivating experienced people of high calibre. The Company
takes into consideration a number of factors in determining
remuneration package of all level of staffs of the Company,
including but not limited to their job duties and responsibilities,
performances, updated salary index launched by independent
human resource agency and the financial

performances of the Company.

and operational

ZEE

FMEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2020, 1 remuneration
committee meeting was held. It has reviewed and approved the
remuneration policy and remuneration packages of Executive
Directors and members of senior management with reference to
the goals and objectives of the Company. The aforesaid approved
matters and reviews were reported and recommended to the

Board.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee currently comprises Mr. WANG Tianyi
(chairman), the Chairman of the Board, and all 3 Independent
Philip
Details of the committee’s

Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHOW Siu Lui, Mr.
TSAO and Prof. YAN Houmin.
membership and members’ attendance records during 2020 are
set out on page 80 of this report.

Its primary responsibilities include reviewing the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of
the Board and making recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy; considering the need for identifying suitable persons to
become directors and made recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships, etc. The
terms of reference of the nomination committee are published on

the websites of both the Company and HKEXx.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, 1 nomination committee
meeting was held. Up to the date of this report, it has reviewed
the structure, size and composition (including skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board and the qualification and experience
of each of Directors according to the board diversity policy and
the nomination policy. It has also considered the independence of
each of the Independent Non-executive Director and assessed the
qualification and experience of Directors to be retired and entitled
to be
aforesaid reviews were recommended to the Board.

re-elected in the forthcoming general meeting. The

The board diversity policy was adopted. Selection of candidates
will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but
not limited to, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
length of service, skills and/or professional experience. Other than
the above factors, the Company will also consider factors based
on its own business model and specific needs from time to time.
The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidate(s) will bring to the Board.
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In consideration with the strategies and objectives of the
Company, the nomination committee takes a prime role on board
recruitment, including the appointment, re-appointment or/and re-
designation of the director(s), to ensure the Board possesses a
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirement of the business of the Company.
When considering a candidate nominated for directorship or a
director’s proposed re-appointment, the nomination committee will
have regard to certain selection criteria, such as potential time
commitment for the Board/committees responsibilities, reputation
for integrity, accomplishment and experience in environmental
industry, independence of the candidate and governmental or
geopolitical expertise. Nomination committee will review annually
the structure, size and diversity of the Board, external agencies
for collecting impartial opinion in the nomination procedure may
be engaged if necessary. The Board, having the ultimate
responsibility for selection and appointment of Director(s), will
contemplate the recommendations from the nomination committee
when considering candidate(s) to be appointed or re-appointed as

Director(s) of the Company.

The Company recognizes the importance of Board succession
planning to ensure optimal continuity and that the Board is
composed of people with proper and relevant expertise and skills
to govern and strengthen the Company effectively. To empower
the basis of talent pool of potential candidates, the Company
develops a broader and more diverse pool of skilled and
experienced employees and that, in time, their skills will prepare
them for senior management and Board positions, by a series of

training courses.
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DIRECTORS’ TIME COMMITMENT TO THE
COMPANY

Attendance of Meetings and Trainings of Directors of
the Company in 2020

The attendance records of each Director at the meetings of the
Board, audit and risk management committee, remuneration
committee, nomination committee and annual general meeting
during the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out below:

B EH AR AR AR E

CECEFRANTESEHESIREING
42
TXHNSEFHE T - TF+-_A=1+—H
IHFEREES  EXMRARERZE S - FEl
ZE8g REZEgCHEMBRRAFRKEHNHE
S08%

Board Committees Meetings Attendance

HREESZEE8R
Audit and Risk
Management Remuneration Nomination Annual
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Name of Directors Meeting* Meeting* Meeting* Meeting* Meeting*
ERRABRER FHEES REEES BB F
EEpR Esgam ZEEEH" 25 25 RE*
WANG Tianyi 3/5 C 0/1 C 1/1
FRE
QIAN Xiaodong 5/5 M 11 M 1/1
BEER
YANG Zhigiang 5/56 M 1/1
15 7558
LO Kam Fan 5/5 M 1/1
GUO Ying 4/5 M 1/1
EIE
SONG Jian 5/5 M 1/1
RIR
CHOW Siu Lui 5/5 M 4/4 C 11 M 11 M 1/1
#;NEZ
Philip TSAO 5/5 M 4/4 M 11 C 11 M 1/1
BRE
YAN Houmin 5/5 M 4/4 M 11 M 11 M 1/1
BER
Remarks: 3
Board and Board Committees Membership: EFEREFLEEKE
C - Chairman C-x/%
M — Member M- K8
Note: B &

*

Number of meetings attended/held.



During the meetings, Independent Non-executive Directors, based
on their respective expertise and experience as well as the
perspectives of minority shareholders, actively brought out
valuable opinions and queries in order to allow the Board to have

comprehensive analysis and decisions on each issue.

According to the Board evaluation result in 2019, the Company
Secretary arranged two Board trainings with the title of “Analysis
and Categories of Securities and Futures Commission approaches
to Enforcement Cases” and “Corporate Restructuring and M&A
Trends under Changing Environment to Create Corporate Value
and Risk Aversion” organised by The Hong Kong Institute of
Directors. A brief on the latest updates on HKEx's ESG Reporting
Guide also be conducted by an outside expertise. Other than the
above, the Directors participated or spoke on seminars/talks/
director training programme 2020 and/or reading regulatory/legal
updates and other materials pertinent to directors’ duties and
responsibilities. To meet the expectations and practical needs of
the Directors, the Company Secretary has obtained the views of
the Directors through a questionnaire and has consolidated their
views, which will be progressively advanced as appropriate.

Record of training received by each existing Board member in
2020 is summarized below:

Name of Directors
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HEBRARELBEROBY  BRELEER
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MEE IEERMEMREMME RRRES
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HEEFEEKEN T -_TFRINEIILR
BEaian T

Types of Training

WANG Tianyi FRE
QIAN Xiaodong TR
YANG Zhigiang 15558
LO Kam Fan & 5% B
GUO Ying EIEE]
SONG Jian N
CHOW Siu Lui ;M=
Philip TSAO BAE
YAN Houmin BER

Remarks:

A — Attending seminar(s)/forum(s) and/or giving talk(s) relating to the

business or directors’ duties.
B — Reading materials relating to the business or directors’ duties.
C — Attending corporate event(s)/visit(s).

BIIEE

A B, C
A B, C
A B, C
A B, C
A B, C
A B, C
A B, C
A B, C
A B, C
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Time commitments outside the formal meetings
Taking an active interest in the Company’s affair

Other than attending regular meetings, the directors take an
active interest in the Company’s affairs and obtain a general
Since the outbreak of the
traffic has been blocked,

understanding of its business.
epidemic, therefore the Executive
Directors visited the project companies when the epidemic was
under control, or monitored project operation and internal review

through electronic communications from time to time.

To complement with the development of the laws and regulations

and investors’ expectations, the Company established the
Sustainability Committee in the year with the Chief Executive
Officer as the chairman and 3 Independent Non-executive
Directors as the members of the committee. There are 3 working
groups under

the Sustainability Committee: operation

management working group, employment and community
investment working group, and compliance and risk working
group. The 3 groups comprise employees from different positions,
and the groups are responsible for the Company’s environment
and safety, social and human resources, governance and risk
management issues respectively. The members of the 3 groups
will report to the committee members at the Sustainability
Committee meeting on the implementation of strategies and target
practices in different areas. The committee members can directly
learn about the latest development of the Company’s operations
and talent development from the reports of the groups every year.
From the perspective of sustainable development, the
Independent Non-executive Directors, leverage their knowledge
and experience, could provide our management more pertinent
and directional opinions, assisting the Company to control risks

and capture opportunities.

EREBUMRAERE
N NI

REFEERERIN ESTREBHEIARAS
B BREREEEGNAR - BRIEBBEIAK - X
BERXE WOTEFERBRTHRAEEAEE
NRAEBE TKEBEFBA REHEEZ
BRI ETF AN -

RAERNEREREENHE  NARNASE
BRI TAFKEEREZES  AARRTRAH
HEXE  ZUBIHFRTEERZEEKE -
AREEREZEGE TRI=_EIENE Y
ERTHENM  BREMMERETIHENMEREGR
HERTHENM DHEEARARFREEZ S
HEeRANERRERERAREREEE  AARQ
AAETARBHNE TEREKE - =@/
MKERERRFERRZEGESE L TR
BRASZEERRBNETRARERFRIR
MEZEEXBASFERNE THENEERTE
HMARREERATBEERNER - WAHE
BRNAE  BESBIUIIFNTESHOAZLL
B ARTARAEREEES AEFIESS
BERBHAMNER  BBARRIEZAR &
s -



Through the Sustainability Committee meeting, the 3 Independent
Non-executive Directors can receive the latest and up-to-date
The 3
Independent Non-executive Directors could learn about the work

information of the Company at least once a vyear.

situation of project companies’ employees and demands at the
Sustainability Committee meeting even if there are other factors in
future that would not allow them to visit the projects in person.
The 3 Independent Non-executive Directors have actively
participated
governance structure for

in the establishment and implementation of the
thus

demonstrating their concern on the Company’s governance and

sustainable development,

its future development.

According to the assessment of the nomination committee, our
directors are still able to devote sufficient time and energy to
perform their duties, despite some of them are holding multiple
directorship positions or important tasks in universities.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. WANG Tianyi is the Chairman of the Board and Mr. QIAN
Xiaodong is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The
division of responsibilities between the Chairman of the Board and
the Chief Executive Officer are clearly divided to ensure a balance
of power and authority and to reinforce their independence and
accountability.

Mr. WANG Tianyi,
providing leadership to the Board and ensuring that the Board

being the Chairman, is responsible for
functions effectively; that Directors receive in a timely manner
adequate information which is complete and reliable and that all
Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board
meetings. The Chairman also encourages Directors to participate
actively in and to make a full contribution to the Board so that

the Board acts in the best interest of the Company.

Mr. QIAN Xiaodong,
responsible for the daily operations of the Company, execution of

being the Chief Executive Officer, is

business policies, strategies, objectives and plans as formulated
and adopted by the Board and leading the management of the
Company.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary assists the Chairman of the Board in
preparation of the agenda for the Board meetings and Board
committee meetings and ensures that all applicable rules and
regulations regarding the Board meetings are followed. She also
acts as the secretary to the 3 Board committees and
sustainability Committee. She prepares and keeps detailed
minutes of each Board meeting, Board committee meeting and
sustainability committee meeting. Within a reasonable time after
each meeting, the draft minutes are circulated to all Directors or
committee members for comments and the final and approved
version of minutes are sent to all Directors or committee
members for their records. Board committees, including the audit
and risk management committee, nomination committee and
remuneration committee, all follow the applicable principles,
practices and procedures used in Board meetings. The Company
Secretary is also responsible for organizing the Board training for
all Directors and circulating to all directors materials relating to the

Directors’ jobs and duties for their review.

Ms. CHOW Wing Man possesses professional qualification and
extensive experience in discharging her duties as the Company
Secretary of the Company and she is an employee of the
Company and directly reports to the Chief Executive Officer.

As at 31 December 2020,
Company has undertaken 15 hours of relevant professional

the Company Secretary of the

training in compliance with rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. As a key
adviser on corporate governance and other regulatory compliance
CHOW Wing Man keeps up-to-date with the
regulatory and legal developments relevant to the Company that

matters, Ms.

she serves and takes the initiative to have trainings on risk
management.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The remuneration of the members of the senior management by
band for the year ended 31 December 2020 is set out below:
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EEREREERABRFM

BE_ZFT-_TF+_A=T—"HLFE =4E
BABREBONFMEEIFHOT

Number
of persons

Remuneration bands (HK$) s E (B T)
$1,500,001 to $2,000,000 7 151,500,001 7T 2= 7 # 2,000,000 7T 1
$2,000,001 to $2,500,000 78 2,000,001 7T 2= 7 # 2,500,000 7T 3
$2,500,001 to $3,000,000 78 ¥ 2,500,001 7T 2 7% # 3,000,000 7T 2

Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the 5
highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 9 and 10

to the financial statements, respectively.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation of
the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December
2020 which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company and of the Group at that date and of the Group’s
results and cash flows for the year then ended and are properly
prepared on the going concern basis in accordance with the
applicable statutory requirements and accounting standards.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in
the “Independent Auditor’'s Report” contained in this annual
report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Adhered to the principle of sharing the fruit of our success with
our Shareholders, the Board has adopted a dividend policy.
Subject to certain factors, including but not limited to, general
business conditions and strategies of the Company and the
Company’s financial results and capital requirements, the dividend
payout ratio is approximately 20%.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL [2 B2 B IR K N BR B 4

The Group always places high emphasis on risk management and AEE—E5EERRAREEEANIPEL T
internal control. The main features of risk management measures  HEit AN E B AN ERE IR T AN T BHE
adopted by the Group are as follows:

. Risk Management Structure — BEBERER
The risk management organisation system of the Group is AEERERERERB TR =ZEN
based on the following “Three Lines of Defense” model: HIEXPrES -

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE/THE BOARD

BERRAREEZEES EET

= o= o=

First Line of Defense Second Line of Defense Third Line of Defense
E—BElR EZERR FE=ERAR
Operational Management Risk Management Internal Audit
(Risk Ownership) Functionalities (Risk Control) (Risk Assurance)

EEEE (RREERE) [\ B T 2R Bl e (L B 42 ) REBEE (ABRE)
Board EFE
The Board shall be responsible for the evaluation and EEeFAEETMMNEEERENAEHE
determination of the nature and level of risk it is willing to F SRS X 75 B IR M BEFT A E R M 1 E K
undertake in order to achieve the strategic targets of the BE UHRRASERILAGHEERA
Group. It shall also ensure the establishment and R [ B IR B N B B R AT o

maintenance of proper and effective risk management and
internal control systems by the Group.

Audit and Risk Management Committee EEREAREEZRE
The audit and risk management committee shall assume the %@&E&Eﬁ%ﬁi TRREBAREZ
role of supervising the overall risk management structure of EREREERE LR ARE @A
the Group and provide advice to the Board on any risk- MEEMNEFERHEER -

related matter of the Group.



First Line of Defense

In respect of the first line of defense, each of the business
center, the project companies, command authority and
project departments of the Group, being the officers for risk
management, shall ensure effective implementation of risk
control measures based on the risk management system
and requirements of the Company, supervise any risk which
involve in every business operations and collect details of,
and report any risk-related incident.

Second Line of Defense

The risk management department, being the second line of
defense, shall, based on the Board’s appetite, identify and
assess relevant risks and conduct necessary monitoring in
this regard, execute appropriate supervision to ensure
effective and efficient control of all activities of all
departments internally or between different departments, as
well as evaluate and provide regular report to the audit and
risk management committee. Each functional departments
at headquarters jointly deal with the risk-related incidents
reported from the first line of defense and the comments
from the audit and risk management committee with the risk
management department.

Third Line of Defense

For the third line of defense, the department of internal
audit shall carry out internal audit on a yearly basis and
ensure the effectiveness of the first and the second lines of
defense. The department of internal audit shall provide to
the audit and risk management committee and the Board
an independent assurance as to the sufficiency and
effectiveness of the internal control of the Group.
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Risk management process

The Board has formulated with due care a risk
management system policy and risk tolerance levels through
the audit and risk management committee, while the
management identifies and ranks major risks according to
sources of risks, scope of influence, incidents and their
potential impact. Risks that identified have been categorised
into policy changes, trade receivables, environmental
compliance and safety management, investment and
business development, construction work budget and cost
management, recruitment and staff allocation. Discussion in
relation to the management policies and procedures for
principal risks exposed to the Group is set out in the
section headed “PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES”
in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 45
to 50 of this annual report. The Group’s risks are classified
according to their impact and probability of occurrence. The
ranking shall be based on the level of remaining risk. The
level of remaining risk refers to the score value of the
existing risk after taking into account all monitoring
measures currently in force. The assessment of risk analysis
results aims at determining whether the risks identified are
within our default risk appetite and risk tolerance level.
Based on such risk assessment, the risks could be
transferred, eliminated or effectively controlled through risk
mitigation measures formulated.
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Summary table for principal risks

Principal risks
FEER

Description
R

Potential impact
BEYE

Key mitigations
FEHEEE

Change in principal
risks in 2020 (Higher/

unchanged/lower)
FEER
REZE-ZSEEHNEL
(E#H HF/TH)
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FEERES X

Policy changes

HERD

The risk of failure to respond to changes in national policies and business
models in a timely and effective manner resulting in an adverse impact to the
business of the Group.
EREMSAREHERBRABRLEERA S MERNEEXBT KM
Zu)E g -

Compliance, operations and finance might be affected. Extent of the impact
might result in higher operating costs, increase pressure for emissions, or failure
to receive new energy grants in a timely manner resulting in escalated pressure
on operations.

G BEERMBAEFELE WA REBGEEKAN LA - SEREIEM - 3
RNEE R EISH e R AL - ELE B MK -

1. Paying attention to the adjustments on national environmental policies, and
adjust the development path of the Group in a timely manner to adapt to
the changes in environmental policies.

2. Providing advices and make suggestions to relevant policy-making
departments through industry associations, expert teams and others.

1. BIBRERRBERNHFAE  KFIBEERRERNSELCMABREAEEER
FEAR ©

2. BBITEME FTREFZMMEBBRGIEIBPFIRSBAE -

Higher
£

@ﬁ'
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Principal risks Trade receivables
FERB JFE W2 B X
Description Failure to collect receivables in a timely manner.
AEN FEFRIBET B KU E o
Potential impact Result in bad debt losses that would affect the Company’s profit and cash
BEXE flow.
BYBRBIHLE  FEARRMBERBE R
Key mitigations 1. Following up the outstanding amounts according to the established trade
FTEFEER receivables call plans.

2. Actively promoting the timely release of subsidies for projects that have
entered the list.

8. Actively promoting the application procedures for eligible projects to include
them in the list as soon as possible.

4. Efforts were made to lower the possibility of incurring trade receivables

through proportional adjustments to various types of businesses, the

development of new businesses and the adoption of reasonable business

models.

Formulating cash management plans.

AR A Il T ) FE L B oK (i AT B BRAE R

HYECEARENIAR  BRAEEMI IR T -

HEMEIRMNIER  EREERZREN  FRMAGE -

RAEBREAOLLOIAE  ARFTEBLER G E N E R R ERE

TEEE R AR -

5 HIEHeBEERAIR-

Change in principal Higher
risks in 2020 (Higher/ 7

BN = o

unchanged/lower)

= EE R
RE-Z-ZFBNEL
(EHAHF/TE)




Principal risks
FEER

Description
2k

Potential impact
BEXE

Key mitigations

FETFERER

Change in principal
risks in 2020 (Higher/

unchanged/lower)
FERK
R-B-EFHNEL
(EFH BF/TH)
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Environmental compliance

REAHR

The risk of the potential breach of environmental emission limits, safety
incidents and adverse external conditions resulting in an adverse impact on
project construction and operation.

BRAVFWER Z2FRNRTRIIINBRESEHEINERRELTKEAY
Rk -

In the worst-case scenario, excessive emissions or non-compliant operations
might result in administrative penalties, tax refunds being affected or forced
suspension of operations, thus undermining the Company’s reputation.
BRI ERRENRBREXEFARSXITRES - ¥ERNATABE
TENTBE-

1. Enhancing ESHS management by improving our ESHS organisational
structure to strengthen organizational protection.

2. Amending ESHS related regulations to accommodate present control
requirements.

3. Developing a responsibility system and including it in the annual
assessment.

4. Enhancing safety training and promotion to reduce the probability of
environmental incidents occurring.

B Enhancing property insurance management to conduct necessary risk

transfer in relation to major risks involved in projects under construction

and in operation.

INSRESHSE I » BT EESHSAE 2L « MR AR -
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Principal risks Safety management
= EE R ZEER

Description The risk of the occurrence of incidents involving safety liability as a result of
AR deficiencies and imperfections in the safety management regime and system
and ineffective safety management measures.

BZ2ERRBATES2 Z2ERBHEITE R2EBRBTICERAZH
MEBEELE2REETRHERR -

Potential impact Reputation, compliance and finance
BEXE BE SHREMK
Key mitigations 1. Strictly implementing corporate safety management regime.
TEFEER 2. Multiple sessions of safety training have been conducted.
8. Multiple rounds of safety inspection have been conducted.
1. BEBTRARLEEEER-
2. ZRARREMBEI -
3. ZRARZERE-
Change in principal Lower

risks in 2020 (Higher/ TB&

unchanged/lower)

= EE R
RE-Z-ZFBNEL
(EHAHF/TE)
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Principal risks Investment and business development
*EAK BEREHEAR
Description The risk of intensive industry competition affecting the Group’s business
AR development capability and investment return of its projects.
BEXEFAHFNIZIBEFET  PEXASENEBHERENRBEEREDRHNE
B o
Potential impact Business development and finance
BEXE FBERENMTE
Key mitigations 1. Control through exchanges with peers: enhancing friendly exchanges with
TEFERER industry competitors and joint venture partners to facilitate real-time

understanding of peers’ actions and development strategies.

2. Control through market analysis: completion of regular market development
information reports on a monthly basis; completion of internal information
such as industry analysis reports and national market investment
guidelines on an annual basis, as well as formulation of competitive
strategies according to market trends on a regular basis.

3. Control through internal exchanges: meetings among management of
various project companies for the sharing and consolidation of ideas were
regularly organised and contents were recorded in the form of summaries,
documentations and special-topic publications for the learning of relevant
departments and to provide reference for management decisions.

1. TEARCENRMEERE  NRETERNRFHFRBEHRNRFN
R ZRH F BN B RER

2. WHOWMEEREHR: BATH KT SEREMBSESR  BFTKITED
fRE  2EMISREESISEAMBER  WERRETSHBEE - GIEHERE
B 55 S BRI o

3. RAABKREEER: THESRTEEAFREETIRS FMERE
G WHURE 1B FENNEEA  HEESMEBERA/EEEREKREMR

Change in principal Higher
risks in 2020 (Higher/ A

unchanged/lower)
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Principal risks
= EE R

Description
AEN

Potential impact

BER

Key mitigations

TETFERER

Change in principal
risks in 2020 (Higher/

unchanged/lower)
FERER
R-B-EFHNEML
(EFH HF/TKE)

Construction work budget and cost management
TiRREEEEER

Failure to fully evaluate the technical requirements, design proposals, project
duration requirements, construction quality, basic construction conditions and
other factors at project budget stage, or inaccurate calculation of work volume,
resulting in loss of control over the investment.

BEIREERER  REeBRMER RAFR - THER IRmE 2R
RIS ERETRD TG REHTRSFETERE  ERRERENER
Finance

8%

1. Improving the depth and quality of the feasibility study report to make it
closely integrated with the design work, and improving budget accuracy.

2. Reorganising and implementing the accountability regime and including it
in the assessment. Work progress requirements were strictly specified with
specific penalty terms.

3. Conducting due assessment at each stage.

4. Minimizing construction costs through optimizing the design.

1. REATUEAERERERRE  GHERATERTLES  BRAEED
AN

2. FREEHMBMEZEEIE MAZSZ - BRIBAREEER  WRLEHE
MEyE R -
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Unchanged
BT



Principal risks
FEER

Description
2k

Potential impact
BESE

Key mitigations
TEFERR

Change in principal
risks in 2020 (Higher/

unchanged/lower)
FEEE
REZ-ZSEHNEL
(E#H HF/TH)
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Recruitment and staff allocation
REEABRE

Shortage of staff, inadequate key personnel or failure to recruit enough
managerial staff, technical staff (particularly leading technical talents) and
experienced staff could affect the realisation of strategic and operating goals of
the Company.

ERAANERBIRHAEEEBEEUABREIE  HEREHRERHNE
BAE BEMAB(RRRERMEZEAANSA)MEGLKRNET XEQF]
BB AE & B IRAERK o

Various aspects such as business development, finance and operations
XGER UBRESELZTE

1. Increasing efforts in the preservation and management of staff relations to
enhance staff unity and solidarity.

2. Active efforts are being made to investigate the reasons for staff resignation
and improve relevant management processes, with a view to making
anticipatory preparations to reduce the impact of staff resignation on the
Company’s production and operations.

8 Increasing target-oriented training to improve employees competency.

. R ETHERNEENEIE BESTHNRENMEL S -
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Risk Control and Report

A report, which contains the implementation of risk control
measures and the results of risk management, as well as
details of the risk-related incidents, shall be submitted to the
risk management department by each risk bearing unit on a
quarterly basis. Based on the contents reported by various
project companies and functional departments, the risk
management department will quarterly prepare “Risk and
Internal Control Report” and submit the same to the
management and the audit and risk management committee
of the Company. The management of the Company will
understand the status of risk management and optimise the
relevant measures. The audit and risk management
committee provides assistance to the Board for maintaining
and monitoring the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of Everbright Greentech. The
risk management department and internal audit department
will semiannually provide conclusive report to the audit and
risk management committee in respect of the risk
management and internal control aspects of the Company,
and receive the risk management and internal control plan
for the next year. In addition, the Board reviews principal
risks taken by Everbright Greentech annually.

The Board and the audit and risk management committee
have conducted reviews on the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget of the accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions, and they considered all of the above
were adequate.

Internal Audit

Everbright Greentech has established the internal audit
department which shall directly report to the audit and risk
management committee. Undertaking a key role to provide
assurance to the Board of proper maintenance and
operation of the internal control system by the
management, the internal audit department prepares internal
audit report to the audit and risk management committee
and the Board for the review of the sufficiency and
effectiveness of the internal audit functionalities. Any matter
proposed in the internal audit report shall be dealt with by
the management. The audit and risk management
committee and the Board are satisfied with the sufficiency
of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group.
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audit
department launched a 3-Year internal audit programme of
from 2018 to 2020 (“3-Year IA
Programme”) at the end of 2017. It aimed at conducting a
concrete internal audit throughout the Company after listing,
in accordance with the priority of significant risks. In these

Consulting by an external expertise, internal

the Company, i.e.,

years, management departments in the headquarter,
projects in different stages and project companies were
audited under the 3-Year IA Programme. Internal audit
department

reported to audit and risk management

committee the progress, findings, proposed rectification
actions and their results of the 3-Year |IA Programme once
a year. The Programme had completed as scheduled in

2020.

Risks Management Culture

Sound communication and ongoing education are among
some of the effective means adopted by the Group to cope
with existing material risk and internal control issues.
Members of the audit and risk management committee
actively furnish specific opinions to the management in
relation to the development, operations and culture building
of the Company’s risk management system, while the
management carried out the tasks of implementing the risk
management system and promoting the risk management
culture with pragmatic efforts to strengthen the risk
management awareness of frontline staff. During the year,
Everbright Greentech organised 1 training session on risk
management and internal audit delivered by the risk
management department and internal audit department,
who briefed and discussed with the management personnel
of the functional departments at the headquarters and the
management of the project companies on the key points in
risk management of the project companies as well as
issues identified in the current stage of the Company’s

internal audit and related proposals.
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For more content of the risk of epidemic prevention and
control, please refer to the paragraph on the risk associated
with epidemic prevention and control under the section
headed “PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES” in the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on page 50 of this
annual report. Regarding the impact of the epidemic on the
Company, the risk management department, together with
other functional departments of the Company, had prepared
the Special Report on Epidemic Risks associated with the
Epidemic Outbreak ((ZREZIBRAKREZEIERSE)) to
systematically summarize and report on epidemic prevention
and also the relevant impact on the Company. Stringent
control measures have gradually become normalized
epidemic prevention measures and will continue to exist to
prevent and control COVID-19. For more content of the
epidemic prevention and control, please refer to the section
“Scope 1: Epidemic Prevention and Control Conditions and
Response Policies” in the “Summary of the Sustainability
Report” on pages 57 to 58 of this annual report.

A safe working environment is particularly important in the
environmental industry. During the year, the Group carried
out safety management works in an orderly manner in
accordance with its internal safety management system. It
conducted comprehensive safety risk inspections on a
quarterly basis, with irregular inspections on the
implementation of various safety management systems of
project companies to identify issues and make rectifications
in a timely manner, so as to eliminate potential safety
hazards. The Company has set up an ESHS management
system to exercise systematic control over risks relating to
its operations. For details, please refer to the section
headed “ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL MANAGEMENT” in
the “Management Discussion and Analysis” on page 51 of
this annual report.
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The environmental industry itself is already an industry with
many SOP. When experienced employees face difficulties
and risks in their daily works, they do not want to be
restricted by more policies and codes, but a set of feasible
and effective work methods.

External Audit

External auditor carries out an assessment of the financial
reporting, relevant risk management procedures and the
control of the Company, and reports the issues of risks and
control identified in the process of the audit to the audit
and risk management committee.

Annual Confirmation

The risk management and internal control systems of the
Group are designed to provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss, as well as
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives. The systems take up an important role
in risk management when progressing towards business
objectives. Through the audit and risk management
committee, the Board has reviewed the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2020, and considered that the
systems were effective and sufficient. The management has
provided confirmation as to the effectiveness of the systems
for the year ended 31 December 2020 to the audit and risk
management committee and the Board.
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WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

In order to maintain business integrity and promote a healthy
working culture, a fair and effective whistleblowing policy,
complementing with a confidential handling mechanism, is

adopted. The scope and purpose of whistleblowing policy is

stated in the Company’s website at https://www.ebgreentech.
com/en/about/ewp.php.

Case(s) can be submitted by post, addressed to the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong or office in Shenzhen,
which is respectively presently situated at Room 3602, 36/F., Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong or 27/F.,
Building A, Oriental Xintiandi Plaza, No.1003 Shennan Avenue,
Futian District, Shenzhen 518000, China, or by email (emalil
address: report@ebgreentech.com).

A well-defined whistleblowing and reporting mechanism can
and the

whistleblower protection is being enhanced through effective

increase the trustfulness of the whistleblower

awareness-rising, communication and training. The whistleblowing
reporting channel can be accessed on the Company’s website,
staff handbook, intranet, annual report. An induction briefing to
new joiners be conducted for providing clear explanation on their
right and obligations when disclosing wrongdoing.

All whistleblowing cases and the investigation results will be
discussed in the audit and risk management committee and
report the same to the Board on semi-annual basis. During the
year, there were 3 cases reported through the whistleblowing
channels. After the investigation, these cases were not involving
misconduct, fraudulent activities, or malpractices in any matter
related to the Group. These cases had exposed the internal
management issues and job relocation disputes, the necessary
measures and actions were immediately undertaken by the

management.
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SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

The Company understands the importance of maintaining effective
mutual communication with its Shareholders and values every
opportunity to communicate with them. The Company has
adopted a policy of disclosing clear and relevant information to
Shareholders through various channels in a timely manner. Annual
and interim reports are printed and sent to all Shareholders. The
Company has also complied with the Listing Rules by posting
announcements, notices, annual report, interim report,
sustainability report and shareholders’ circular(s) on the websites
of both the Company and HKEx for the designated period. Apart
press

Company’s website to enhance its transparency. Being constantly

from these documents, releases are posted on the
updated in a timely manner, the website also contains a wide
range of additional information on the Company’s business
activities. The corporate communications can be accessed by
clicking “Investor Relations” section on the home page of the

Company’s website.

In addition to publication of information, the annual general
meeting provides a forum for communication between investors,
Shareholders and Directors. The annual general meeting and site
visit proceedings have been well prepared to ensure that the
Company will follow corporate governance practices and

Shareholders’ rights are preserved.

The annual general meeting of the Company was held on 19
May 2020, the Chairman of the Board chaired the annual general
meeting and the chairman of each Board committee attended the
meeting to ensure Shareholders’ views are communicated to the
Board. Auditor of the Company was available to answer any
queries that Shareholders may raise.
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Procedures for shareholders to convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”)

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association, any one or
more members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
(“EGM Requisitionists”) shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition sent to the Board or the Secretary of the Company, to
require an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall
be held within 2 months after the deposit of such requisition.

The EGM Requisitionists can deposit the written request at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong, which is
presently situated at Room 3602, 36/F., Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong. The EGM Requisitionists must
state in their request(s) the objects of the EGM, and such request
must be signed by all the EGM Requisitionists, any may consist
of several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of
the EGM Requisitionists.

The share registrar will verify the EGM Requisitionists’ particulars
in the EGM Requisitionists’ request. Promptly after confirmation
from the share registrar that the EGM Requisitionists’ request is in
order, the Company Secretary will arrange the Board to convene
an EGM by serving sufficient notice to all the registered
shareholders in accordance with all the relevant statutory and
if the EGM
request the EGM
Requisitionists will be advised of this outcome and accordingly,

requirements. On the contrary,

is verified not

regulatory
Requisitionists’ in order,
an EGM will not be convened as requested.

If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the EGM Requisitionists’ himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the EGM Requisitionists by reason of the
Board’s failure to duly convene an EGM shall be reimbursed to

the EGM Requisitionists by the Company.
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Procedures for putting forward proposals at general
meeting

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to purpose new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands
Companies Law. However, shareholders are requested to follow
Article 64 of the Articles of Association for including a resolution
at an EGM. The requirements and procedures are set out above.
Pursuant to Article 113 of the Articles of Association, no person
other than a director retiring at a meeting, shall, unless
recommended by the directors for election, be eligible for election
as a director at any general meeting unless a notice signed by a
Member (other than the person to be proposed) duly qualified to
attend and vote at the meeting for which such notice is given of
his intention to propose such person for election and also a
notice signed by the person to be proposed of his willingness to
be elected shall have been lodged at the head office or at the
registration office provided that the minimum length of the period,
during which such notices(s) are given, shall be at least 7 days
and that (if the notices are submitted after the dispatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election) the
period for lodgment of such notice(s) shall commence on the day
after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed
for such election and end no later than 7 days prior to the date
of such general meeting. The written notice must state that
person’s biographical details as required by rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules. The procedures for Shareholders to propose a
person for election as director is posted on the Company’s
website.

Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board in writing through the investor relations which
contact details are as follows:

Investor Relations

China Everbright Greentech Limited

Room 3602, 36/F., Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 2433 6546

Email: ir@ebgreentech.com

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE COMPANY’S
CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year under review, there is no change in the
constitutional documents of the Company.
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Mr. WANG Tianyi

aged 58, is a Non-executive Director and the Chairman of the
Board and the Nomination Committee. Mr. WANG currently
serves as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. He is
currently a part-time professor of Tsinghua University and a
Co-Director of the Center for PPP of Tsinghua University. He is
also a member of the China Council for International Cooperation
on Environment and Development, a member of International
Coalition for Green Development on the Belt and Road Advisory
Board, a vice chairman of China Ecological Civilization Research
and Promotion Association, a vice chairman of All-China

Environment Federation, a vice chairman of Industrial and

Academic Union of Ecological Environment of the China
Association for Science and Technology, a member of the
UNECE PPP Business Advisory Board, and a member of China
Business Research Centre Advisory Council of National University
of Singapore. He holds a Doctorate degree in Economics, a
Master’'s degree in Management and a Bachelor's degree in
Electronics from Tsinghua University. He had pursued advanced
studies at Harvard University and University of California in the
United States. Mr. WANG is the executive director, the chairman
of the board and chief executive officer and also the chairman of
each of the nomination committee and disclosure committee and
the member of the remuneration committee of CEEGL (stock
code: 0257.HK), a listed intermediate holding company of the
Company. He is also a non-executive director and chairman of
the board and also the chairman of the strategy committee and a
member of the nominating committee and the remuneration
committee of China Everbright Water Limited (“CEWL”"), CEEGL’s
subsidiary listed in Singapore and Hong Kong, (stock codes:
U9E.SG and 1857.HK). Prior to joining the Company, he was the
Dean of Shandong Academy of Sciences. He was formerly the
Deputy Mayor of Jinan City of Shandong Province. He had been
the Vice President, the Dean and Professor of the School of
Economics and Management of Yantai University of Shandong
Province. Mr. WANG joined the Board in January 2018.
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Mr. QIAN Xiaodong

aged 47, is an Executive Director, the Chief Executive Officer, the
chairman of Sustainability Committee and a member of
Remuneration Committee. Mr. QIAN currently serves as a director
of numerous subsidiaries and certain joint venture companies of
the Group. Prior to his position in the Company, Mr. QIAN served
of the
department of CEEGL and the general manager of Everbright
(Shenzhen) Ltd, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of CEEGL. He is also the executive

as the general manager investment development

Environmental Protection Venture Capital
director and deputy general manager and the member of the
disclosure committee of CEEGL. Mr. QIAN obtained a Bachelor’s
degree in Thermal Engineering from Dalian University of
Technology in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and a
Master’s degree in Environment Engineering from the Southeast
University in the PRC. He has comprehensive experience in
market development of environmental protection industry, national
environmental policies and industrial trend in the PRC. As at the
date of this report, he beneficially owns 242,000 shares of the
Company within the meaning of the Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO”), Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong

Kong. Mr. QIAN joined the Board in October 2015.

Mr. YANG Zhiqiang

aged 60, is an Executive Director and the Vice President.
Mr. YANG currently serves as a director of numerous subsidiaries,
an associated company and certain joint venture companies of
the Group. With effect from 3 January 2019, he was appointed
as a non-executive director of Weigang Environmental Technology
Holding Group Limited (stock code: 1845.HK), a company is listed
on the Stock Exchange. Mr. YANG was appointed as a non-
executive director of CEWL from 12 December 2014 to 23
February 2017. He served as the chief legal officer in CEEGL.
Mr. YANG obtained a Bachelor’'s degree from the Medical
Science Department of Beijing Medical University (1t 52 2%l A £)
in the PRC and a Postgraduate Diploma in Law from The College
of Law of England and Wales. He has the qualification of an
attending doctor and is a qualified lawyer in the PRC. Mr. YANG
joined the Board in October 2015.
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Mr. LO Kam Fan

aged 46, is an Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer.
Mr. LO also serves as a director of numerous subsidiaries and
certain joint venture companies of the Group. Prior to joining the
Company, Mr. LO held senior positions at a number of listed
companies on the Stock Exchange, including financial controller of
Shenzhen International Holdings Limited (stock code: 0152.HK),
financial controller and company secretary of Eco-Tek Holdings
Limited 8169.HK),
company secretary, respectively, of Wai Chun Bio-Technology

(stock code: chief financial officer and
Limited (formerly known as Wai Chun Mining Industry Group
Company Limited) (stock code: 0660.HK), Wai Chun Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1013.HK) and Sinopharm Tech
Holdings Limited (formerly known as China Vanguard You
Champion Holdings Limited and China Vanguard Group Ltd.)
(stock code: 8156.HK). Mr. LO obtained an honour diploma in
Accounting from Hong Kong Shue Yan University and a Master’s
degree in Finance from Curtin University of Technology Australia.
Mr. LO is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He beneficially owns 150,000 shares of the
Company together with his spouse and he is deemed to be
interested in 50,000 shares of the Company through his spouse;
and also beneficially owns 281 shares of CEEGL together with his
spouse and he is deemed to be interested in 5,760 shares of
CEEGL through his spouse within the meaning of the SFO.
Mr. LO joined the Company in November 2015 and joined the
Board in June 2019.

Ms. GUO Ying

aged 52, GUO holds a
Bachelor’'s degree in Accounting from Beijing Technology and
Business University. She holds titles of senior accountant and

is a Non-Executive Director. Ms.

senior auditor in PRC. She is the general manager of internal
audit department and risk management department of CEEGL.
Ms. GUO joined the Board in January 2018.

*

For identification purpose only
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Mr. SONG Jian

aged 51, is a Non-executive Director. Mr. SONG holds a
Bachelor’s degree in Economics from Renmin University of China.
He joined CEEGL in 2007 and currently takes a position of a
general manager of strategic development department. He is also
a director of Everbright Jinglang Greenergy and Lighting
(Shenzhen) Limited, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of CEEGL.
Prior to joining CEEGL, Mr. SONG had worked in China Light
Industry International Engineering Co., Ltd. Mr. SONG is deemed
to be interested in 3,000 shares of the Company through his
spouse, and he is also deemed to be interested in 7,851 shares
of CEEGL through his spouse within the meaning of the SFO.
Mr. SONG joined the Board in June 2019.

Mr. CHOW Siu Lui

aged 60, is an Independent Non-executive Director, the chairman
of Audit and Risk Management Committee and a member of
Nomination, Remuneration and Sustainability Committees.
Mr. CHOW is currently a partner of VMS Investment Group (HK)
Ltd., an independent non-executive director of Fullshare Holdings
Limited (stock code: 0607.HK), Genertec Universal Medical Group
Company Limited (formerly known as Universal Medical Financial
& Technical Advisory Services Company Limited) (stock code:
2666.HK), Shanghai Dazhong Public Utilities (Group) Co., Ltd* (&
BRBAAEE(EB)RMHAER AT (stock code: 1635.HK),
Futong Technology Development Holdings Limited (stock code:
0465.HK) and China Tobacco International (HK) Company Limited
(stock code: 6055.HK), and a non-executive director of Renrui
Human Resources Technology Holdings Limited (stock code:
6919.HK), the shares of all of the above companies are listed on
the Stock Exchange. He is also an independent non-executive
director of Global Cord Blood Corporation (listed on the New York
Stock Exchange, Symbol: CO). He was an independent non-
executive director of NWS Holdings Limited (stock code: 0659.
HK), Shi Shi Services Limited (formerly known as Heng Sheng
Holdings Limited) (stock code: 8181.HK) and Sinco
Pharmaceuticals Holdings Limited (stock code: 6833.HK), the
shares of all of the above companies are listed on the Stock
Exchange. He was a partner in KPMG and chairman of the
Mainland Development Strategies Advisory Panel of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and a
member of its Registration and Practice Committee of the
HKICPA. Mr. CHOW was also the chairman of the audit
committee and a council member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries. Mr. CHOW obtained the Professional
Diploma in Accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. He is qualified as a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. CHOW joined the Board in
May 2017.

*

For identification purpose only
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Mr. Philip TSAO

aged 60, is an Independent Non-executive Director, the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee and a member of Nomination,
Audit and Risk Management and Sustainability Committees.
Mr. TSAO is currently the founder and chief executive officer of
CHANCES Advisory Group and a director of SinoPac Financial
Holdings Company Limited (“SinoPac”, a company listed on the
Taiwan Stock Exchange with stock code: 2890.TT), and a non-
executive director of Bank SinoPac (a subsidiary of SinoPac) with
effect from 13 May 2020 and 1 May 2018, respectively. He
served as a consultant at Barclays Capital Asia Limited. Prior to
his current role, Mr. TSAO was a managing director of Barclays
Capital Asia Limited, an executive director of Goldman Sachs
(Asia) L.L.C., a managing director of UBS, the president of China
Development Industrial Bank (F#EF % T2 iE177) (‘CDIB”), an
executive vice president of China Development Financial Holding
Corporation (2 £ gi#EA% A 7)) (“CDFHC”, a company listed
on the Taiwan Stock Exchange with stock code: 2883.TT), a
director of CDFHC and CDIB (a subsidiary of CDFHC), a non-
(Asia) Limited (a
subsidiary of SinoPac) and a managing director of Morgan

executive director of SinoPac Securities

Stanley Asia. Mr. TSAO received a Bachelor’'s degree in Power
Mechanical Engineering from National Tsing Hua University in
Taiwan, and a Master of Business Administration degree from
National Taiwan University in Taiwan. Mr. TSAO is a Chartered
Financial Analyst. Mr. TSAO joined the Board in May 2017.
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Prof. YAN Houmin

aged 66, is an Independent Non-executive Director, a member of
Remuneration, Audit and Risk Management and
Prof. YAN
Management Sciences at City University of Hong Kong (“CityU”)

Nomination,
Sustainability Committees. is Chair Professor of
where he directs International PPP China Center of Excellence of
the Unite Nations Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE).
Prof. YAN
Financial Technologies Limited. He was the Dean of the College

is also a director of Laboratory for Al-Powered

of Business from January 2013 to June 2020. Prior to joining
CityU, Prof. YAN was a Professor at the Chinese University of
Hong Kong. He was the program director for the Executive
Master for Logistics and Supply Chain Management, and he was
the executive director of Center for Supply Chain and Logistics
Optimization, Li & Fung Logistics and Supply Chain Institute, the
Chinese University of Hong Kong. He was the associate director
and science advisor for the Hong Kong Government R&D Center
for Logistics and Supply Chain Management Enabling
Technologies. He was also a tenured Associate Professor at the
School of Management, University of Texas at Dallas. Prof. YAN'’s
main research areas are stochastic models, simulations, and
supply chain  management. He has published extensively in
top-tier international journals and has been awarded the Best
Paper Prizes by professional societies such as the Production
and Operations Management Society (POMs) in 2004 and
Institute of Industrial Engineers (lIE) in 2005 and 2012. He
consults a number of international and local enterprises. Prof.
YAN received his Bachelor's degree and Master’'s degree in
Electrical Engineering from the Department of Automation in
Tsinghua University in the PRC and his Doctor of Philosophy
degree from the University of Toronto in Canada. Prof. YAN
joined the Board in May 2017.
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Mr. ZHU Fugang

Mr. ZHU is the Vice President of the Company. Mr. ZHU currently
serves as general manager of a subsidiary, namely EB Greentech
Technology Services (Jiangsu) Limited, and a director of an
associated company of the Company. Prior to joining the Group,
he served as president of eco-recycling sector in CEEGL, vice
president of Everbright Environmental Protection (China) Company
(China)
manager of Everbright Environmental Energy (Changzhou) Co.,

Limited and Everbright Envirotech Limited, general
Ltd, general manager of Everbright Environmental Energy (Nanjing)
Limited, and general manager of Everbright Environmental Testing
(Nanjing) Company Limited. Mr. ZHU holds a Master’s degree in
Business Administration from Southeast University and is also a
senior engineer. Mr. ZHU joined the Group in September 2019.

Mr. WANG Dianer

Mr. WANG is the Vice President of the Company. Mr. WANG
joined China Everbright Group since November 2006. At present,
he serves as a director of EB Urban and Rural Renewable Energy
(Nanjing) Limited, chairman of the board of Suntime Environmental
Remediation CO., Ltd, and the general manager of Everbright
Environmental Remediation (Jiangsu) Limited. Mr. WANG has
previously served as the deputy general manager of Everbright
Environmental Energy (Yixing) Limited, the deputy supervisor of
Jinan WTE Project, the general manager of Everbright Alternative
Energy (Dangshan) Company Limited, the project leader of the
construction of Dangshan project, the general manager of
Limited and the
general manager of Everbright Photovoltaic Energy (Zhenjiang)

Everbright Environmental Energy (Zhenjiang)

Limited and Everbright Photovoltaic Energy (Huaining) Limited.
Mr. WANG completed the legal
University in the PRC and the Power Plant and Electricity System

studies program at Anhui

program at Shanghai University of Electric Power in the PRC.
Mr. WANG joined the Group in January 2016.
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Mr. ZHANG Jianping

Mr. ZHANG is the Chief Investment Officer and the general
manager of its Solid Waste Management Centre of the Company.
Mr. ZHANG currently serves as a director of various subsidiaries,
a joint venture and an associated company of the Company.
Before joining the Group, he was the deputy director of Suzhou
Environmental Sanitation Administration Agency. Mr. ZHANG has
served as the vice chairman of Everbright Environmental Energy
(Suzhou) Limited, the standing representative of the Nanjing
Representative Office of CEEGL, the general manager of
Everbright Environmental Energy (Nanjing) Limited, the genera
manager of Everbright Environmental Energy (Suzhou) Limited, and
the general manager of Everbright Environmental (Suzhou) Solid
Waste Treatment Limited. Mr. ZHANG graduated from Nanjing
Engineering Institute (currently known as Southeast University),
majoring in Environmental Engineering, Mr. ZHANG joined the
Group in April 2016.
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Mr. SUN Xiandong

Mr. SUN is the Chief Operating Officer of the Company. He
graduated from China University of Mining and Technology,
in Thermal Energy and Power Engineering, and
completed a CEO management training programme from
Tsinghua University. Mr. SUN has been engaged in power-related
construction and power plant operation and administration for 37
years. Since joining China Everbright Group in November 2006,
he has been repeatedly named “Outstanding Manager in CEEGL”".
He has served as deputy general manager of Everbright
Environmental Energy (Suzhou) Limited, general director at the
project command centre of Everbright Alternative Energy
(Dangshan) Company Limited, deputy general manager of
Everbright Environmental Energy (Pizhou) Limited, general
manager of Everbright Greentech Environmental Protection
(Northern Anhui) Administrative Center (J¢ A 4% IR (R iR B IE b
L)) and Everbright Greentech Environmental Protection (Anhui)
Administrative Center (&t KA EIRRLZEEEF L)) Meanwhile, he
concurrently served as general manager of various subsidiaries,
namely Everbright Biomass Energy (Lingbi) Limited, Everbright
Environmental Energy (Lingbi) Limited, EB Urban and Rural
Renewable Energy (Xiao County) Limited, EB Urban and Rural
Renewable Energy (Fengyang) Company Limited, Everbright
Alternative Energy (Dangshan) Company Limited and Everbright
Environmental Energy (DangShan) Limited. He currently serves as

majoring

director of a number of subsidiaries and a joint venture company
of the Company, and general manager of Everbright Greentech
Environmental Protection Clean Energy Administrative Centre (3%
REBRIREZEREES L), Mr. SUN joined the Group in
January 2016.

Ms. CHOW Wing Man

Ms. CHOW is the Company Secretary of the Company. She is a
fellow of both The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and The Chartered Governance Institute. She has over 15 years
of experience in the fields of company secretarial and compliance.
Ms. CHOW holds a Bachelor's degree
University of London and a Master’s degree in Finance (Corporate

in Laws from the

Finance) from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Ms. CHOW
joined the Group in July 2017.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are pleased to
present their report and the audited financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2020 which are to be presented at the
annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) to be held at
Salon Il & IV, Mezzanine Floor, Grand Hyatt Hong Kong,
1 Harbour Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong on Monday, 17 May
2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are
set out in note 40 to the financial statements. There were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities
during the year.

Business review of the Group during the year, particulars of
important events affecting the Group that have occurred since the
end of the year ended 31 December 2020 (if any), an analysis of
the Group’s performance using financial key performance
indicators and a discussion on the Group’s future business
development are provided from pages 16 to 45 of this annual
report. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties that the
Group may be facing are set out on pages 45 to 50 of this
annual report. Also, the financial risk management of the Group
can be found in note 38 to the financial statements. A discussion
on the Group’s environmental policies and performance can be
found from pages 51 to 63 of this annual report.

The Group believes that stakeholders provide valuable insights to
its business development, which support the Group in formulating
sustainable and long-term development strategies. Therefore, the
Group
exercises on a regular basis, throughout the whole project life
cycle from the planning stage to the operation stage, to express
their views on issues that are relevant to the Group’s operational
and environmental

invites stakeholders to join stakeholder engagement

performance. The Group actively pursues
effective engagement and on-going dialogue with its stakeholders
through processes that are collaborative, transparent and
responsive. Key stakeholders of the Group include investors,
employees, governments, communities,
business partners, suppliers, media and investment analysts, etc.
Summary of sustainability report are set out from pages 54 to 63
of this annual report.

shareholders, local

The aforesaid discussions form part of this “Report of the
Directors”.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW
(Continued)

As the PRC environmental protection service provider and
investment company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, the Group shall comply with the relevant rules and
regulations of both of the PRC and Hong Kong. For maintaining
the development of environmental business and investment
business in mainland China, the Group shall comply with national
policies set out by the PRC Government as mentioned in the
“ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL MANAGEMENT” section stated

in page 51 of this annual report.

On the corporate level, the Group complies with the requirements
under the companies ordinances in the Cayman Islands, Hong
Kong and PRC, the Listing Rules and the SFO for, among other
things, the disclosure of information and corporate governance,
and the Group has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

For the discussion on the Company’s commitment to high
standards of corporate governance and the Board’s responsibility
for compliance with statutory obligations, please refer to the
Corporate Governance Report set out on pages 66 to 103 of this
annual report.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages 142
and 143 of this annual report respectively.

The Board has proposed the payment of a final dividend of
HK7.0 cents (2019: HK8.0 cents) per ordinary share for the year
ended 31 December 2020 payable on or around Friday, 11 June
2021 to the Shareholders whose names are on the register of
members of the Company on Friday, 28 May 2021. Together with
the interim dividend of HK8.0 cents (2019: HK8.0 cents) per
ordinary share paid in October 2020, the total distribution of
dividend by the Company for the year of 2020 will be HK15.0
cents (2019: HK16.0 cents) per ordinary share. The dividend
payout ratio in 2020 is 20.6%.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A financial summary of the Group for the last 5 financial years is
set out on pages 279 and 280. This summary does not form part
of the audited financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 29 to the financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2020, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution amounted to approximately HK$3,654,110,000. Details
of distributable reserve of the Company are set out in note 39 to
the financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The charitable donations made by the Group during the year
amounted to approximately HK$2,327,000.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as
at 31 December 2020 are set out in note 25 to the financial
statements.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the major customers and suppliers
of the Group respectively during this financial year is as follows:

TERFPRMER

REERATREEZTERP RftER 2 &R
DA

7

Percentage of the Group’s total

HAEEREZADLL

Turnover Purchases
= - i
The largest customer BAREP 19%
Five largest customers in aggregate AREFAG 43%
The largest supplier =AM ER 3%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate ARHEEEE 13%
None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any &®EHHEZ R BZTHE A TR (&

shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any beneficial
interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the
year are set out in note 28 to the financial statements.

DEBENTURES

Except as detailed in note 26 of the financial statements, the
Group has not issued any other debenture during the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year
and subsisted at the end of the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
has purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

WANG Tianyi** (Chairman)

QIAN Xiaodong* (Chief Executive Officer)
YANG Zhigiang* (Vice President)

LO Kam Fan* (Chief Financial Officer)
GUO Ying**

SONG Jian**

CHOW Siu Lui**

Philip TSAO***

YAN Houmin***

*

Executive Director
Non-executive Director
Independent Non-executive Director

*k

*kk

In accordance with Articles 108(a) and 108(b) of the Articles of
Association, Mr. WANG Tianyi, Mr. YANG Zhigiang and Ms. GUO
Ying will retire from office as Directors by rotation and being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from Mr. CHOW Siu Lui, Mr. Philip TSAO and Prof. YAN Houmin,
and as at the date of this report still considers them to be
independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management
of the Group are set out on pages 104 to 112 of this annual
report.
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CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION UNDER
RULE 13.51B OF THE LISTING RULES

Pursuant to rule 13.51B of the Listing Rules, changes in
information of Directors during the year are set out below:

—  Mr. Philip TSAO was appointed as a director of SinoPac
Financial Holdings Company Limited (a company listed on
the Taiwan Stock Exchange; stock code: 2890.TT) on 13
May 2020 and resigned as a director of SinoPac Securities
(Asia) Limited with effect from 20 May 2020.

—  Prof. YAN Houmin ceased to be the Dean of the College of
Business at CityU with effect from 1 July 2020.

=5 Mr. QIAN Xiaodong was appointed as the chairman of the
sustainability committee and Mr. CHOW Siu Lui, Mr. Philip
TSAO and Prof. YAN Houmin were appointed as the
members of the sustainability committee on 11 August
2020.

== Mr. WANG Tianyi was appointed as the chairman of the
board, the chairman of the nomination committee and the
member of the remuneration committee of CEEGL on 25
September 2020.

= Prof. YAN Houmin was appointed as a director of Laboratory
for Al-Powered Financial Technologies Limited on 1
December 2020.

—  The remuneration packages of all 3 Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. CHOW Siu Lui, Mr. Philip
TSAO and Prof. YAN Houmin, have been changed as
follows:

° each of the Independent Non-executive Director is
entitted to the Director’'s fee of HK$330,000 per
annum with effect from 1 January 2021; and

° the meeting allowance for each committees and Board
meetings has been cancelled with effect from 6
February 2021.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information required to
be disclosed pursuant to rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The term of service as a Director is subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the provisions of the
Articles of Association.

Each of the Non-executive Director and Independent Non-
executive Director has entered into a letter of appointment with
the Company for a term of two years and/or around two years.

Apart from the foregoing, no director proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one vyear
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed under the section “Continuing Connected
Transactions” below and Related Party Transactions as set out in
note 35 to the financial statements, no transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or
any entities connected with the Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.

NO COMPETITION BETWEEN CEEGL AND THE
COMPANY

In connection with the spin-off of the Group from CEEGL, the
Company implements some corporate governance measures to
confirm that the directors of both of CEEGL and the Company
will be able to function and operate independently and effectively
in the best interest of the respective companies. Details of the no
competition between CEEGL and the Company are set out in the
section headed “Relationship with our Controlling Shareholders” of
the listing document issued by the Company dated 21 April
2017 (“Listing Document”).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year and up to the date of this report, Mr. WANG
Tianyi and Mr. QIAN Xiaodong are also the executive directors of
CEEGL. CEEGL is a listed intermediate holding company of the
Company and is engaged in renewable energy business. CEEGL
may be in competition with the Group. However, as stated in the
section “No competition between CEEGL and the Company”
above, the Board is independent of the board of CEEGL and
none of the above Directors can control the Board of the
Company, the Group is therefore capable of carrying on its
businesses independently of, and at arm’s length from the
businesses of these entities. Furthermore, the Company
implements some corporate governance measures to ensure the
independence between CEEGL and the Company. Up to the date
of this annual report, there is no change in the details previously
disclosed in the Listing Document.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors are considered to
have interests in a business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group, as defined in the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ emoluments are subject to the recommendations
of the remuneration committee. The emoluments are determined
with duties, responsibilities and
performances and the results of the Group. No Director is

reference to directors’

involved in deciding his own remuneration.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE SENTETRAEFAE R, - 8
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES, BBEMDEEASEREAE
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

The Directors and the Company’s chief executive who held office  1BiEZEH M EIEHEIEREBTERZE
at 31 December 2020 and their respective close associates had =R E BT A B KA R B M ArEi s 8k 88
the following interests in the shares, underlying shares and &~ R _ZE_ZTF+_A=+—HEFTZEE=R
debentures of the Company, its holding company, subsidiaries ZARARIZEBITHRAEBRBESAZERHEA
and other associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV RZBEARRR] « EIER AR - B R A R EAt
of the SFO) at that date as recorded in the register of directors’ fHEHAE (F & R 7F 5 KB EEHI EXVIE) 2 I
and chief executive’s interests and short positions required to be 17 + F8EAR (D R EHF FT#E A L TS IRIFIZ
kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the  *£5F BB &€ KA &) M B 32 B 2 # 25 MoK B #51
Company and Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were — ZAF :

as follows:

Long position in shares of the Company RAEQDIRBDZEHR

Approximate
percentage of
total issued
shares
Number of (note (iii)
shares held {27 MH
(shares) Bz
Name of Capacity Nature of interest  FT# Ik n 2k B RO
Director =8 BatE (f&) (B2 (i)
QIAN Xiaodong BN Beneficial owner Personal {EA 242,000 0.0117%
EnBEA
LO Kam Fan ERE) Interests held jointly with another  Family interest 200,000 0.0096%
person/Interest of spouse (note (i)
HE—-ALRFAZER /BB KikEs ()
2w
SONG Jian K1 Interest of spouse Family interest 3,000 0.0001%
iR 2 (note (i)

EN2 SACE )

Notes: B EE

@) Mr. LO beneficially owns 150,000 shares of the Company together (i) EhERERBLRE S A2 E150,0008%
with his spouse and is deemed to be interested in 50,000 shares I 15 K33 8 B AL (B AR YE#E B 2N A 550,000 AR AR
of the Company through his spouse. 0z o

(i) Al those shares were beneficially owned by Mr. SONG’s spouse. (i) FBZSERNARLECZEBERES -

(i)  As at 31 December 2020, the number of shares of the Company in (i) R-ZE-_ZTF+_A=+—H AQARIBEETE

issue was 2,066,078,000 shares. 1 &8 B £2,066,078,0000% °
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE EENTETHAEREAEZRG 18
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES, HERMDRELS#ESEREAE (&)
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

(Continued)
Long position in shares of CEEGL, a listed RAEAQXB ETHFNERAAXRKBRERSGS 2
intermediate holding company of the Company e

Approximate
percentage of
total issued
shares
Number of (note (vi))
shares held HEETRM
(shares) Bz
Name of Capacity Nature of interest PSR m 20 BABE S
Director 30 s (&) ()
LO Kam Fan E 55 E) Interests held jointly Family interest 6,041 0.0001%
with another (note (iv))
person/Interest of KMz (FI5E(v)
spouse
BE—ALRIFEEZ
B BBz ER
SONG Jian R Interest of spouse  Family interest 7,851 0.0001%
[l 2 (note (v))
Rz (FTEEW)

Notes: B &E -

(iv)  Mr. LO beneficially owns 281 shares of CEEGL together with his  (v)  [E 44 L= A48 KR E 25 A e AIRE 281 IRA%
spouse and is deemed to be interested in 5,760 shares of CEEGL 19 X8 B A PR B AR B Y RIR3E 5,760/ A%
through his spouse. 2Rz o

(v)  All those shares were beneficially owned by Mr. SONG’s spouse. v) FBZERNVEREECZREBERESR °

(v  As at 31 December 2020, the number of shares of CEEGL in issue (v RZIZE-ZE+-A=+—0  XARECET
was 6,142,975,292 shares. B 15 #i B £6,142,975,292% ©



INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
(Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporation (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or which are
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, holding companies or fellow subsidiaries, a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE
UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 December 2020, the following persons (other than a
Director or the chief executive of the Company) had an interest or
short position in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange:
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INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE #HRIEZBANBHEEHBTHE ZIKE

UNDER THE SFO (Continued) B ()
Long position in shares of the Company AATRODZER

Long position in ordinary
shares held and
approximate percentage
of total issued shares

Name of substantial
shareholder

China Everbright Green
Holdings Limited (“CE
Green Holdings”) (note (1))

CEEGL (note (1))

China Everbright Holdings
Company Limited (“CE
Hong Kong”) (note (2))

Datten Investments Limited

(“Datten”) (note (2))

Guildford Limited (“Guildford”)
(note (2))

China Everbright Group
(note (2))

Central Huijin Investment Ltd.
(“Huijin”)

RESAREERERRA
(ERER e ]) (B (1)

RARRE (M)

FEXAKEERAA
(MEAREED(MEEQ)

Datten Investments Limited
([Datten) (M 5%(2))

Guildford Limited ([ Guildford])
(M #E@)

REAKHE (FEQ)

PRESREBREMLAF
(T ])

Capacity
17

Beneficial owner
ExBEBA

Interest of controlled
corporation
T D EMES

Interest of controlled
corporation
REHARMER

Interest of controlled
corporation
R RA R ER

Interest of controlled
corporation
T D EMES

Interest of controlled
corporation
REHARMER

Interest of controlled
corporation
SRR ES

Nature of interest
BEmltE

Corporate interest
AAlER

Corporate interest
NEER

Corporate interest
NIk L

Corporate interest
AAlER

Corporate interest
REER

Corporate interest
NIt

(note (5))

GET)

1,440,000,000
69.70%

1,440,000,000
69.70%

1,462,912,986
70.81%

1,461,706,369
70.75%

1,461,706,369
70.75%

1,462,912,986
70.81%

1,462,912,986
(note (3)) (F=EE)
70.81%

100,550,000
(note (4)) (Ff&F(4))
4.87%




INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE
UNDER THE SFO (Continued)

Long position in shares of the Company (Continued)

Notes:

(1) CE Green Holdings is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CEEGL, which
is in turn controlled 43.01% by CE Hong Kong, through its direct
and indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries. Accordingly, CEEGL and CE

Hong Kong are deemed to be interested in the 1,440,000,000
shares held by CE Green Holdings.

2) China Everbright Group holds 100% of the issued shares of CE Hong
Kong. CE Hong Kong holds (1) 100% of the issued shares of
Datten which in turn holds 55% of the issued shares of Guildford;
(2) 100% of the issued shares of Everbright Investment &
Management Limited (“EIM”); and (3) 45% of the issued shares of
Guildford, respectively. Out of the 1,462,912,986 shares,
1,440,000,000 shares are held by CE Green Holdings and
21,706,369 shares are held by Guildford. The remaining 1,206,617
shares are held by EIM. Accordingly, China Everbright Group and
CE Hong Kong are deemed to be interested in those shares held
by CE Green Holdings, Guildford and EIM respectively.

3) Huijin is indirectly wholly-owned by the State Council of the People’s
Republic of China and holds 63.16% equity interests of China
Everbright Group. It is deemed to be interested in the
1,462,912,986 shares indirectly held by China Everbright Group.

(4) Huijin is also deemed to be interested in 100,550,000 shares held
by its associated companies and a non-wholly owned subsidiary.

5) As at 31 December 2020, the number of shares of the Company in
issue was 2,066,078,000 shares.

Apart from the foregoing, as at 31 December 2020, the
Company had not been notified of any other interests by
prescribed notices which were required to be recorded in the
register kept under section 336 of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur
in or about the execution of the duties of his/her office or
otherwise in relation thereto. There is appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers
of the Group.
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MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Material related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the year are set out in note 35 to the financial statements
include transactions that constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Group as defined in the Listing Rules, the
Company has complied with the disclosure requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Deposit and loan services

On 6 December 2019, the Company entered into a new deposit
services master agreement and a new loan services master
agreement (collectively, the “New Services Master Agreements”)
with China Everbright Group. Pursuant to the New Services
Master Agreements, China Everbright Group will, through its
associate, China Everbright Bank Company Limited (“CE Bank”),
provide deposit and loan services to the Group for a term of 3
years from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022.

(@)  Pursuant to the new deposit services master agreement,
China Everbright Group shall procure CE Bank to provide
deposit services to the Group (including current and fixed
term deposit) in accordance with rules and regulations
prescribed by the People’s Bank of China (“PBOC”) and/or
other relevant rules and regulations within or outside the
PRC. The deposit services to be provided by CE Bank shall
be on normal commercial terms and no less favourable than
the terms available to the Group from independent third
parties.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the maximum
daily closing balance of the Group’s deposits (including
interests accrued thereon) placed in CE Bank amounted to
approximately HK$364,687,000. This amount did not
exceed the annual cap of HK$400,000,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

EREBMALRS
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AAI([ARBRITMAEBREFTAREZR
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(@) WREBEHEFHRBGERZ  TEAXAEES
REAXRBIRETFEAARRIT(HEA
RIITDATE 2 RAIRIROI R, B35
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Deposit and loan services (Continued)

(b)

The new loan services master agreement shall be on a non-
exclusive basis and the Company is at liberty to obtain loan
services from other third parties. Pursuant to the new loan
services master agreement, China Everbright Group shall
procure CE Bank to provide loans to the Group (including
revolving credit facility and fixed term loan) in accordance
with rules and regulations prescribed by the PBOC and/or
other relevant rules and regulations within or outside the
PRC. The loans services to be provided by CE Bank shall
be on normal commercial terms and no less favourable than
the terms available to the Group from independent third
parties.

Since CE Bank and the Group have a long-term relationship
of cooperation, CE Bank has a better understanding of the
operations and development of the Group and is in a better
position to serve the financial arrangements of the Group. It
is also expected that it will be cost-efficient, expedient and
beneficial for the Group to receive deposit and loan services
from CE Bank. In addition, CE Bank is regulated by China
Banking and Insurance Regulatory Commission and is
subject to the rules and requirements of such regulatory
authority, thus reducing risks to the Group in receiving
financial services from CE Bank.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the maximum
daily closing balance of the Group’s loans (excluding loans
which do not require security over the assets of the Group)
provided by CE Bank amounted to approximately
HK$249,078,000. This amount did not exceed the annual
cap of HK$400,000,000 for the year ended 31 December
2020.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Purchases of equipment

On 6 December 2019, Everbright Greentech Management
(Shenzhen) Company Limited*, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a new equipment
purchase master agreement with Everbright Environmental
(Changzhou) Company Limited* (“EB
Environmental Changzhou”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of CEEGL,
related services from EB Environmental Changzhou for a term of

3 years from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022.

Technology Equipment

in respect of the purchase of the equipment and

The new equipment purchase master agreement enables the
Group to procure the equipment and related services from EB
Environmental
competent and reliable supplier of the Company.

Changzhou which has been a technologically

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the amounts payable
to EB Environmental Changzhou under the new equipment
purchase master agreement amounted to approximately
RMB82,606,000. The amount did not exceed the annual cap of

RMB124,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020.

y For identification purpose only
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Purchases of steam

On 6 December 2019, Everbright Biomass Energy (Sugian)
Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a steam purchase master agreement with EB
(Sugian) EEB

Energy Sugian”), an indirect wholly-owned

Environmental Energy Company Limited*
Environmental
subsidiary of CEEGL, in respect of the purchase of steam from
EB Environmental Energy Sugian for a term of 3 years from 1

January 2020 to 31 December 2022.

Everbright Biomass Energy (Sugian) Limited is a supplier of steam
in Sugian, Jiangsu, the PRC. Everbright Biomass Energy (Sugian)
Limited entered into the steam purchase master agreement with
EB Environmental Energy Sugian in order to ensure that in the
event of excess demand, Everbright Biomass Energy (Sugian)
Limited can operate without interruption and maintain supply of
steam to its customers.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the amounts payable
to EB Environmental Energy Sugian under the steam purchase
master agreement amounted to approximately RMB19,563,000.
The amount did not exceed the annual cap of RMB60,000,000
for the year ended 31 December 2020.

China Everbright Group is a controlling shareholder of CEEGL, the
controlling shareholder of the Company. Therefore, each of China
Everbright Group and its associates, including CE Bank, and
CEEGL and its associates is a connected person of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. In particular, EB
Environmental Changzhou and EB Environmental Energy Sugian
are indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of CEEGL. Therefore, each
of EB Environmental Changzhou and EB Environmental Energy
Sugian is also a connected person of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the transactions
contemplated under
Agreements, the new equipment purchase master agreement and

each of the New Services Master
the steam purchase master agreement constitute continuing

connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Details of the New Services Master Agreements, the new

equipment purchase master agreement and the steam purchase

master agreement were set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 6 December 2019.

The Independent Non-executive Directors have reviewed these

continuing connected transactions in respect of deposit and loan

services,

purchase of equipment and purchase of steam

(collectively, the “2020 Continuing Connected Transactions”) and

confirmed that 2020 Continuing Connected Transactions were:

entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group;

conducted either on normal commercial terms or, if there are
not sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they
terms,
favourable to the Group than terms available to or from
independent third parties; and

are on normal commercial on terms no less

in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Shareholders as a whole.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Emst & Young, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to report on
the Group’s 2020 Continuing Connected Transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ernst &
Young has issued an unqualified letter containing the findings and
respect of the 2020 Continuing Connected
Transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance with

conclusions in

rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter
has been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the
requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of
the 2020 Continuing Connected Transactions.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any connected
transactions which were subject to the reporting requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year.

RETIREMENT SCHEME

The Company operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and not
previously covered by the ORSO Scheme. The MPF Scheme is a
defined contribution retirement scheme administered by
independent trustees. Under the Group’s MPF Scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the scheme at 10% and 5% of the employees’

relevant income, respectively.
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RETIREMENT SCHEME (Continued)

The employees of the subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the
The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of

retirement schemes operated by the local authorities.
their payroll to these schemes to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to these schemes is the
required contributions under the schemes. The Group’s total
contributions to these schemes charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss during the year ended 31 December

2020 amounted to HK$31,218,000.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the

Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors, the Board confirms
that the Company has maintained a sufficient public float as
required by the Listing Rules during the year under review.

AUDITOR

KPMG retired as the auditor of the Company upon the expiration
of its term of office with effect from the conclusion of the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 19 May 2020.

Ernst & Young was appointed as the auditor of the Company
following the retirement of KPMG. The consolidated financial
statements of the Group have been audited by Ernst & Young,
who will retire and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

By order of the Board

China Everbright Greentech Limited
WANG Tianyi

Chairman

Hong Kong, 4 March 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BYZBEARE

Ernst & Young
22/F, CITIC Tower
1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong

EY-
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO

THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA EVERBRIGHT
GREENTECH LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Everbright Greentech Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(“the Group”) set out on pages 142 to 278 which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2020,
consolidated statement of comprehensive
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the

the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the

income, the

consolidated financial statements, including a summary of

significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2020, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements

of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Audiitor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
staternents section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) FAgEEIZEIE (&)

How our audit addressed
Key audit matter the key audit matter

RREFLER EMREBZPUNNEEEHABERELSE

Recognition of construction revenue from service concession arrangements

KB IRTEHF AR S o 2 B W s TR AR

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group has | Our audit procedures, included, among others,
recognised revenue arising from construction services under the | Z M EZEF EE (EFB1E) -

terms of service concession agreements of approximately
HK$4,463 million, which is measured based on the Group’s | () evaluating the objectivity, competence and

estimation of the fair value of construction services and the independence of the independent valuer and
progress of construction work completed during the year for surveyors;
each project. () FEEIBLIHER ZBEMMNEEE - BT

BE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILEE " EBE£BECRERSEE JNE RV i
FEEERENERERREERSEE RSB E 446318 T
HhRE E£EHSEBFANEERSAAERE TMAE | (i) involving our internal valuation specialists to

ETIREFEHNGETMETE © assess the bases and key assumptions used

in the valuation of construction services with
Significant judgement and estimation are required to determine reference to observable market data and
() the fair value of construction services which involves comparable companies;

estimation of the total construction costs and the gross profit | (i) FRFEFINALBEERERLEZ A EENTIHH
margin of each project and (i) the completion status of BRAELRA R HEEREHEFEAD

construction work for the year. EERERKRR

EBE()PRMESEERRERAREMNENZEREANER

(i) FF A E TR FERAR ORI FH /B TR R B st o (i) checking the underlying data used in the
construction progress reports to construction

The Group engaged an independent valuer and independent agreements and invoices; and

surveyors to assess the fair value of construction services and | (i) B EEEE REPFTAEBEIEEEER S

the progress of construction work up to the year-end date, NEZE R

respectively.

EEEZRE—RBUGEMEBIYNSMMS I EEZEELA | (v) understanding management process in

IEWEERBNARERRETRANEE estimating budgeted costs and cost to

completion for incomplete projects.
Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 5 to the | (iv) T ER(AFTTBE K AR AT ITIEE /5T LK AR
financial statements. BEME o

MR R N B S R M AR 3 K5 o
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

B EREIR (&)

Key audit matter

HREZEE

How our audit addressed
the key audit matter

BEMREGPUMNEERABERERSE

Impairment of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

BIEEE WFE BERREREGHESEFER

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amounts of intangible
assets (“IA”), property, plant and equipment (“PPE”) and right-
of-use assets (“ROU”) amounted to approximately HK$13,311
million, HK$3,848 million and HK$649 million, respectively.
RZZ_ZTF+-A=+—H EFEE(EFEE] W%
BEREE(ME BERRE] RMEAEEE ([ERAEEE]
BEREE D R A R B ¥133.1118 7T - B#38.4818 T R E%6.49
BT °

Management performs impairment assessment on IA, PPE and
ROU when an indication of impairment exists. Impairment
losses on intangible assets of approximately HK$217 million has
been recognised for the year ended 31 December 2020 to
reduce the carrying amounts of certain IA to their recoverable
amounts which is the higher of the fair value less cost of
disposal (“FVLCD”) and value in use (“VIU").

BEFERBETRE  ERESHBVEE ME BERREX
CTRAEEEETEEIG BE_E-_TF+-_A=+—HIL

FECHERBLEERBEROBE217ET  UWBETEVE
ENEHEREEANKOSHE EARXAEREERA (AR

ERHEXRAD) EREE(TEREEDFHRFE

Management determined the recoverable amounts of the
relevant cash generating units (“CGUs”) as at 31 December
2020 to which these assets were allocated based on FVLCD.
Significant judgements and estimations are involved in the
assessments of the recoverable amount of the relevant CGUs
including assumptions on revenue growth rates, operating costs
and discount rates.
ERERBAABRLEKAEEXSFEEMOPEZERBAER €
EEBEN((ReEFEN ) R-_E-_TF+_HA=+—HBHTA
W el &5 - BRI & 2 4 B A A Y[l & BB VAT i 5 ] B K HI
Ritat  BRABARGEERE  SENA KRR EXNRKRE -

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 17 to the
financial statements.

ERARBEEH N RERMEIRT -

Our audit procedures included, amongst others,

RPN EZEFERE(ETRHE) -

(i) understanding and evaluating the Group’s
procedures in identification of impairment
indicators and determination of the relevant
CGUs;

() THREIE BEXEZNEETRKETEEH
REeEFBEUNET

(i) assessing impairment losses is made with
reference to the recoverable amounts of the
relevant CGUs being determined based on the
higher of FVLCD and VIU;

(i) 2ZEBAReELEML (ARBEARERLE
RAREREENRSEET) AT KE ¢
FHEFEEERE

(i

="

evaluating key assumptions and parameters
used in assessing FVLCD with reference to
historical data and market information;

(i) 2EFE L8R Rk Tin &SR AR ER
HEXRARTFEANBRRE RS

(iv) involving our internal valuation specialists to
evaluate valuation methodologies and discount
rates used by benchmarking to comparable
companies and normal market practice; and

(v) B RBEMOABEEZRTEEE(BHARE
LR AR ERIE B IS EHIPAEANBERER
BRIRE : |

(v) performing sensitivity analyses on key inputs
used.

(v) BERMBREBABBETHREDN
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B EXEIR (&)

Key audit matter

REEZER

How our audit addressed
the key audit matter

BEMREGPUMNEERABRERSE

Provision for expected credit losses on contract assets and deb

BHEERBRENATEIEEERERE

tors

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amounts of contract
assets and debtors amounted to approximately HK$10,256
milion and HK$2,291 million, respectively, net of provision of
expected credit losses (“ECLs”) of approximately HK$12 million.
RZEZZTF+ZA=1T—H GHEEREREZRNEKREE
D RIA BAERE102.56 8T kB 22,9118 7T - KRB HREEEE
(TTEEEEBE]) BELEE1,2008 T

Management performed impairment assessment of debtors and
contract assets without significant financing component under
the simplified approach whereas contract assets with significant
financing component under the general approach.
EREREMEENEZHEERNMEKDNRUERERRE L
BEETRENG MBEBE-—REEDNEHABERREKD
&R EEEITREBNMGE -

Significant management judgements and estimations are
involved in the assessment of ECLs after considering historical
settlement pattern, ageing profiles, credit rating of debtors, and
forecast economic conditions. Management has engaged an
independent valuer to assist in the calculation of ECLs.

RERBEGEEN - REREN - BHANERATREBALE
RAig - HEIGEEEETEEEREEE A R ME5 - BEERD
ZRE-—ZFEEMGAEEREEEE -

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3, 21 and 22 to the
financial statements.

TERE R R N B A TR R M RES 21 %22 ©

Our audit procedures included, amongst others,
ZMNBEZEFBEEFAPE) -

(i) obtaining an understanding of management’s
basis in determining ECL;
THREEEETHRAEEBBHELE

evaluating management’s basis of estimation
of loss rates by checking ageing profiles and
historical settlement patterns on sample basis;
FRMERBRERRBELBEZEER - 71
ERENEBEXRMGTNEE

(i

=

assessing the competence, objectivity and
independence of the external valuer; and

L ONED (L ERD R RS ERE T BB RSB
MRk

(i

=

(iv

==

involving our internal valuation specialists to
assist us to evaluate the methodology of ECL
calculation and the key parameters used with
reference to external available data sources.
FRBANABEEZER BB RAFERARE
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information

included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated

financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due

to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit and Risk
Management Committee in discharging their responsibilities for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken

on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BURHEERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

We communicate with the Audit and Risk Management
Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit and Risk Management Committee with
a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit and Risk
Management Committee, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected

to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Fok Lai Ching.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

4 March 2021
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -_TF+_A=+—HIFE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

2020 2019
—E_EZHF —E—NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
REVENUE g 5 9,835,376 9,279,555
Direct costs and operating expenses BEERARECEER (6,823,836) (6,478,539)
Gross profit EF 3,011,540 2,801,016
Other revenue HAth Uy 25 6 252,390 166,449
Other losses HibEsia 6 (7,155) (2,849)
Impairment losses of intangible assets EREEREBERE 17 (216,723) —
Administrative expenses THER (550,837) (488,148)
Finance costs MBER 7 (543,564) (376,891)
Share of profits/(losses) of joint ventures Frihd & ¥A8H,
(E548) (19,464) 9,890
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BB 8 1,926,187 2,109,467
Income tax Frig i 11 (412,879) (462,362)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR RKEEREF 1,513,308 1,647,105
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: EEB
Equity shareholders of the Company VNNV £33 1,502,532 1,621,477
Non-controlling interests JEVERERS 10,776 25,628
1,513,308 1,647,105
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE AR REZREEG
TO EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS OF THE BRER
COMPANY 13
Basic and diluted (HK cents) AR #E (BL) 72.72 78.48




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GEEZHEHWBER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E T -_TF+_A=+—HIFE

PEAKGBREFRAT

ZECTEFR

2020 2019
—E-ZHF —ET-NF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BET T BT T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR KEEEF 1,513,308 1,647,105
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) Hittzmb A (EiE)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that may be REZHARRIREENHIEE
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent BmzHEME2EmERAS
periods: (&) :
Exchange differences on translation of financial MEBAFEINERBITS
statements of entities outside Hong Kong, MEREEZIER
net of nil tax =8 MBREHIE
— Subsidiaries — WERAF 1,018,210 (307,063)
— Associates — & AT 5,216 (2,062)
— Joint ventures — 6D 3,636 (1,295)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR AEFEMEEBA
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (E518) - MBRFIE 1,027,062 (310,420)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR KEEEZHBABE
THE YEAR 2,540,370 1,336,685
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: LD
Equity shareholders of the Company VNNV £33 2,508,635 1,315,563
Non-controlling interests FE2 IR HE 2 31,735 21,122
2,540,370 1,336,685




CHINA EVERBRIGHT GREENTECH LIMITED
Annual Report 2020

mEeBBRR R

At 31 December 2020 R=ZE-_ZTH&+_-H=+—H

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2020 2019
—EoEE —E—NnF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB K& 14 3,848,120 2,630,584
Right-of-use assets FEREAE 15(a) 648,609 416,646
Goodwill Bk 16 157,609 149,079
Intangible assets | A E 17 13,311,103 10,781,335
Interests in joint ventures AR 18 44,632 61,177
Interests in associates i RN e 19 165,415 76,621
Other receivables, deposits and Hab eI ~ e Rk
prepayments TEf FRIB 22 816,945 602,982
Contract assets BREE 21 6,310,283 3,962,637
Deferred tax assets EETIEE 27 64,467 29,396
Total non-current assets ERBEERTE 25,367,183 18,710,457
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories rE 20 218,493 228,391
Debtors, other receivables, deposits and FE U AR R« E b R UK
prepayments I e RIBNRIE 22 3,001,399 1,379,846
Contract assets EREE 21 3,945,493 3,041,149
Tax recoverable A] Ug [0 7 18 5,047 986
Pledged bank deposits EEBIRITT K 23 219,415 189,847
Deposits with banks |ITEK 23 1,663 22,180
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEED 23 2,505,975 2,685,459
Total current assets MENEELRTE 9,897,485 7,547,858
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Creditors, other payables and accrued JETBRR - EAb BT R
expenses H K FEET & R 24 3,970,968 2,989,157
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings T B RITRHEMEE 25 2,314,706 2,038,974
Lease liabilities HE&E 15(b) 2,333 4,634
Tax payables FE{S B IR 47,530 43,771
Total current liabilities mEN B ERRE 6,335,537 5,076,536




FEXXGERERAERAT
ZECTEFR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FEBRRE

At 31 December 2020 R=E=_ZTF+_-A=+—H

2020 2019
—E-ZHF —ENE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFEHE 3,561,948 2,471,322
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT WEERRBEE
LIABILITIES 28,929,131 21,181,779
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBERE
Other payables Ho b pE S 3RIE 24 150,568 113,245
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings T BIRITREMEE 25 14,618,667 9,516,037
Lease liabilities HEBE 15(b) 6,503 8,381
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIBEEE 27 1,286,552 956,764
Total non-current liabilities ERB B EERR 16,062,290 10,594,427
NET ASSETS EEFHE 12,866,841 10,587,352
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to equity shareholders A EI R R E(G
of the Company HE 25
Share capital RN 28 1,608,029 1,608,029
Reserves & 29 10,916,253 8,738,190

12,524,282 10,346,219

Non-controlling interests FEFE AR HE A 342,559 241,133
TOTAL EQUITY R 12,866,841 10,587,352
Qian Xiaodong Lo Kam Fan
BEBER & 37 8
Director Director

5% 55
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CHINA EVERBRIGHT GREENTECH LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RERBEHR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -_TF+_A=+—HIFE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

AAREERREN
Non-
Share Share  Exchange Other  Reserve  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve fund profits Total interests equity
kA RHEE EXRE HtRE wEe REEA BE FERER ERAR
Note HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
HizE BTr BMTr BMTIr BMTr BETr  BMETr  B¥Tn  B%Tr  B%Tx
At 1 January 2020 RZE-85-A-H 1,608,029 4,313,953 (744,854) (8,615) 265,882 4,911,824 10,346,219 241,133 10,587,352
Proft for the year KEEEF - - - - - 1502532 1502532 10776 1,513,308
Other comprehensive income TEEEMEERA -
for the year:
Exchange differences on BREFRFINER
translation of financial BBRREEL
statements of entities outside ERZE THE
Hong Kong, nil of tax
— Subsidiaries - WBAR = = 997,251 = = = 997,251 20,959 1,018,210
— Associates - BEAR - - 5,216 - - - 5,216 - 5,216
— Joint ventures - RELE - - 3,636 - - - 3,636 - 3,636
Total comprehensive income TEEZEMAEE
for the year = = 1,006,103 = = 1502532 2,508,635 31,735 2,540,370
Capital contributions received by F2EMB LA IR
non-wholly owned subsidiaries BRUBAEZILER
from non-controlling interests = = = = = = = 78,366 78,366
2019 final dividend ZE-NEERERE 12 - (165,286) - - - - (165,286) - (165,:286)
2020 interim dividend “ToTERRERE 12 - (165,:286) - - - - (165,:286) - (165286)
Dividend paid to non-controlling EmE2EMBAR
interests of non-wholly owned FEhERRNZRE
subsidiaries = = = = = = = (8,675) (8,675)
Transfer to reserve fund DA - - - - 89,719 (89,719) - - -
At 31 December 2020 R-B-BF
+ZB=+-8 1,608,029 3,983,381*  261,249* (8,615)*  355,601* 6,324,637* 12,524,282 342,559 12,866,841
5 These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of — * ZERERRER_Z=TF+=-A=+—HZ
HK$10,916,253,000 as at 31 December 2020 (2019: mAEPBRRR G HEE10,916,253,000

HK$8,738,190,000) in the consolidated statement of financial T (ZZF— N4 : A¥8,738,190,0007T) °

position.



FEXXGERERAERAT
ZECTEFR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FERD2BX

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E T —TF+_A=+—HIFE

Share

capital

HK$'000

BETT

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

Share

premium

HK$'000

Exchange
reserve
T
HK$'000

Other
reserve
Eth e
HK$'000
BETT

Reserve Retained

fund profits Total
HEe
HK$'000

HK$'000

Non-
controling
interests
132
HK$'000

Total equity

HK$'000

BETT

At 1 January 2019 W=8-AF-A-A 1,608,029 4,613,634 (438,940) - 172,591 3,383,638 9,338,852 92,222 9431074
Profit for the year REERT - - - - — 1621477 1621477 25628 1,647,105
Other comprehensive loss for AEEEMEARE:
the year:
Exchange differences on PR SEIN
translation of financial BEELTESR
statements of entities outside 2% ERE
Hong Kong, nil of tax
— Subsidiaries - WEAH - - (302,567 - - - (302,587) (4,506)  (307,063)
— Associates - BERR - - (2,062) = N - (2,062) N (2,062)
— Joint ventures - ABpE - - (1,295) - - - (1,295) - (1,298)
Total comprehensive incomey/(loss) KEEZ2AMA/ (BB
for the year a% - - (305,914) - - 1,621,477 1,315,563 21,122 1,336,685
Acquisition of subsidiaries WERBLR 30 - - - - - - - 55,347 55,347
Capital contributions received by FEENBARRIERR
non-wholly owned subsidiaries BERRBAE AR
from non-controlling interests - - - - - - - 96,329 96,329
Acquisition of non-controling WE RS 31
interests - - - (8615) - - (8615  (23887)  (32,502)
2018 final dividend —E-\EERBKE - (134,29) - - - - (134209) - (134,005)
2019 interim dividend ZE-NEERERE 12 - (165286) - - - - (165,286) - (165286)
Transfer to reserve fund ERZERES - - - - 93,201 (93,291) - - -
At 31 December 2019 RZZ-N%
+=B=1-H 1,608,029 4,313953"  (744,854)" (8,615  265882° 4,911,824" 10,346,219 241,133 10,587,352
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -_TF+_A=+—HIFE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

REEFHFERERE

2020
=t LFY

—ir =

HK$°000
BET T

2019

—E-NF

HK$’000
BETIT

Profit before tax R F5 A & R 1,926,187 2,109,467
Adjustments for: 4R R
Depreciation of property, plant and W RENEE
equipment e 8 172,296 134,183
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRESETE 8 16,625 10,489
Amortisation of intangible assets MM EEE 8 405,923 245,109
Impairment losses of intangible assets B AERBER 8 216,723 —
Impairment losses of contract assets AHEERIEEIE 8 7,524 —
Impairment losses of debtors FEUNEBE N iEE 18 8 15 2,000
Finance costs M#ER 7 543,564 376,891
Interest income B A 6 (17,451) (16,145)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant HEDME - HBE KL
and equipment B2 ),/
&R 6 (384) 849
Share of losses/(profits) of joint ventures EaShEEE
(&F) 19,464 (9,890)
Effect of foreign exchange rates SNETE REB) »
changes, net =% e (15,257) 6,486
3,275,229 2,859,439
Decrease/(increase) in inventories TEERLGEm) 24,153 (94,050)
Increase in debtors, other receivables, FEUREBE X - H b pE UL
deposits and prepayments ZIE - R4S RIER
SRIB AN (1,838,073) (671,420)
Increase in contract assets AAEEEMN (2,327,664) (2,703,573)
Increase in creditors, other payables and FERTBR TR « EHpbpET
accrued expenses A K pESH B R N 154,866 525,177
Cash (used in)/generated from KesTE (FrA)
operations FFEL2BRE (711,489) 15,573
Interest received 24 F B 17,451 16,145
People’s Republic of China (‘PRC”) income 2 {ifh2E A R 70
tax paid (TeR B ) 158 (193,810) (169,438)
Net cash flows used in operating RESEE A2
activities HERETFHE (887,848) (137,720)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
REHEREBX

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E T —TF+_A=+—HIFE

PEAKGBREFRAT

ZECTEFR

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

REZDFBREERE

Notes
B 5

2020

—E-2F
HK$'000
BT T

2019
—E-NF
HK$’000
BT T

Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEEWE¥ - BiE MEE (760,468) (561,452)
Principal portion of lease payments/ HENRZASHBD

prepayment of land leases T EEN A (210,007) (146,848)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEWE  BE&

property, plant and equipment B E S RE 1,128 986
Additions to intangible assets HEEFEE (2,188,170) (3,291,679)
Capital contribution to an associate AE—RKEEE QA (83,578) (22,467)
Capital contribution to a joint venture AE—REEDE (5) -
Acquisition of subsidiaries IR BERT B A A 30 - (252,295)
Payment for acquisition of subsidiaries BEFEERENS

acquired in prior years NSIPANE-N (43,053) —
Decrease/(increase) in deposits with banks — $E1TERFUR L, (3Eh0) 20,908 (5,545)
Net cash flows used in investing RETEHFTAZ

activities ReREFHE (3,263,245) (4,279,300)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHMERERE

ACTIVITIES
New bank loans MIBRITER 6,669,951 6,308,574
Proceeds from issue of 2020 First Tranche #{7 - T T FF

Medium-term Notes, net of related F—HRHEREME

expenses paid FIBE(EHRER

MERER ) 1,091,047 —

Repayment of bank loans BERITER (3,930,248) (1,085,921)
(Increase)/decrease in pledged bank BIEFIRITER

deposits (3 m),/ @ (15,797) 4,409
Acquisition of non-controlling interests Ui B JEVE R i 2 - (32,502)
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from FE U [ Z B &8 A R RIE

fellow subsidiaries B () 39,855 (25,878)
Capital contributions received by non-wholly — FE& & [ B A 714

owned subsidiaries from non-controlling FE 122 IR e 2 B

interests Fiigz L& 78,366 96,329
(Decrease)/increase in amounts due to non-  FEfTFEIE AR R FRIE

controlling interests CRLA), /18N (16,865) 17,513
Increase in an amount due to an FERT— R A AR A

intermediate holding company SRIBE N 787,010 469,120
Increase in amounts due from joint FEUA & 1 5 FRIE 3 b1

ventures (15,298) —
Dividends paid to equity shareholders of the & MAIZANA AI4E % IR

Company HziE (330,572) (299,581)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
REHEREBX

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -_TF+_A=+—HIFE

2020 2019
—B-BF —E—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BT T
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 2t 3EEEWE A 7
of non-wholly owned subsidiaries IR IR B (8,675) -
Principal portion of lease payments MHEMNZZ KL (4,642) (2,781)
Interest portion of lease payments MENZZF B (466) (605)
Interest paid 215 B (536,468) (400,290)
Net cash flows generated from METFEREE Y
financing activities B RB N 3,807,198 5,098,387
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH HEeREEZEY
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS G D), /S EE (343,895) 681,367
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning S¥>E4RBELZ
of year B 2,685,459 2,044,826
Effect of foreign exchange rates IEERESFH I E2HE
changes, net EEE 164,411 (40,734)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT ERXZEHEEEREE
END OF YEAR &Y 23 2,505,975 2,685,459
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH HehBREZEBEYER
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 47
Cash and bank balances Ne RBIT4E5 23 2,207,060 1,884,647
Non-pledged bank deposits with original RESRRE|EH
maturity of less than three months when DA B 2 i
acquired RITERR 298,915 800,812
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in B4 FZEXFA T2
the statement of cash flows BARESZEY 2,505,975 2,685,459
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

China Everbright Greentech Limited (the “Company”) is a
limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands.
The registered office of the Company is located at Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

During the year, the principal activities of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
construction, integrated biomass utilisation project operation
(biomass direct combustion power generation projects,
biomass heat supply project, biomass electricity and heat
cogeneration projects, waste-to-energy projects and
integrated biomass and waste-to-energy projects),
hazardous and solid waste treatment project operation
landfill

incineration projects, general industrial solid waste electricity

(hazardous waste projects, hazardous waste
and heat cogeneration projects and physicochemical and

resources recycling projects), environmental remediation
project operation and solar energy and wind power project

operation (solar energy projects and wind power projects).

The immediate holding company of the Company is China
Everbright Green Holdings Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. In the

limited liability
opinion of the directors, the ultimate holding entity of the
Company is China Investment Corporation,
established in the PRC.

an entity

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which HKFRSs,
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants

(the “HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in

include all Hong Kong

Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when

cost convention. These financial

otherwise indicated.
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CHINA EVERBRIGHT GREENTECH LIMITED
Annual Report 2020

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HEMEE

2.1. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2020. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.
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22!

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
() the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (i) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (i) the fair value of any investment
retained and (i) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to
profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018 and the following revised HKFRSs
for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.
Amendments to Definition of a Business
HKFRS 3
Amendments to
HKFRS 9, and
HKAS 39 and
HKFRS 7

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

Amendments to COVID-19 — Related Rent

HKFRS 16 Concessions (early adopted)
Amendments to Definition of Material

HKAS 1 and

HKAS 8

The Group has assessed that the adoption of the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 and the
above revised standards has had no significant financial
effect on these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB HEMEE

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.

Amendments to
HKFRS 3

Amendments to
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 17
Amendments to

HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 37

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2'

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Insurance Contracts®

Insurance Contracts® ©

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current® °

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended
Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract?

Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 9, lllustrative
Examples accompanying
HKFRS 16 and HKAS 412
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2.3.

2.4.

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(Continued)

v Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023

5 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

2 As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong

Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised in October
2020 to align the corresponding wording with no change in
conclusion

© As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued
in October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the
temporary exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39
rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before
1 January 2023

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon initial
application, but is not yet in a position to state whether
these new and revised HKFRSs would have any significant
impact on its financial performance and financial position.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity
voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of
the investee, but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control.
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BB HEMEE

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method
of accounting, less any impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint
venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes,
when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates or joint
ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
investments in the associates or joint ventures, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included as part
of the Group’s investments in associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in
a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint
control and the fair value of the retained investment and
proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation
at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of
non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input
and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items is
lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups
of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group
of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in the
carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain
or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative value of
the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
fair value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes
place either in the principal market for the asset or liability,
or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by
the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within
the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, contract assets, deferred tax assets and
financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair
value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss
in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to
the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it
arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following

conditions applies:

(0

(i

(vi)

(vii)

(viil)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

— Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated
over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their
estimated useful lives, from 20 to 50 years after the
date of completion.

— Plant and machinery 5 to 25 years

— Leasehold improvements 10 years or over the
remaining term of the
lease, if shorter

— Other properties leased for 3 to 22 years
own use carried at cost
— Furniture and fixtures 5 to 10 years

— Motor vehicles, electronic 3 to 12 years
equipment and others
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and the
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises
the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing
costs on related borrowed funds during the period of
construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The wuseful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.

The following intangible assets are amortised from the date
they are available for use and their estimated useful lives are
as follows:

Integrated biomass utilisation project
operating rights

Hazardous and solid waste treatment 20 to 30 years
project operating rights

Licences 6 to 10 years

Technologies 8 years

Backlog contracts 2 years

30 to 50 years
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year the
intangible asset is derecognised is the difference between
the net sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant intangible asset.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains
a lease component and non-lease component(s), the Group
adopts the practical expedient not to separate non-lease
component(s) and to account for the lease component and
the associated non-lease component(s) (e.g., property
management services for leases of properties) as a single
lease component.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 BEREHBERBE ()
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued) HE(E)
Group as a lessee (Continued) KEFIERFRBA ()
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EHEELE

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Where
applicable, the cost of a right-of-use asset also
includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset
or the site on which it is located. Right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the
assets as follows:

Leasehold land 10 to 50 years
Buildings 20 to 30 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group
by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated
using the estimated useful life of the asset.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease
(including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives

payments include fixed payments
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if
there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a
change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies
the recognition exemption for leases of low-value
assets to leases of office equipment and laptop
computers that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’'s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of debtors that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Debtors that do not contain a
significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in
accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while
financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which
are not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or
(b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference
between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include
cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit
losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (@ 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of
the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information.

In certain cases, the Group may consider a financial asset
to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A
financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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BB HEMEE

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due from the end of
the credit term. However, in certain cases, the Group may
also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal
or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to
receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash
flows.

Contract assets that contain a significant financing
component and financial assets other than debtors are
subject to impairment under the general approach and they
are classified within the following stages for measurement of
ECLs except for contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component and debtors which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to
12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial
assets and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at
the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach

For debtors and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime
ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to
the debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include creditors, other
payables and accrued expenses, lease liabilities, amounts
due to fellow subsidiaries and a non-controlling interest, and
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.
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2.4, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 BEREHBEBE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued) cRBesEE)

Subsequent measurement Ri&qit &

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends CRABEERIGEIARESH BH
on their classification as follows: FaR

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and EBEEAGTEZ oHEE (BEALRE
borrowings) E)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and RYBHERE FRERREEHENE
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, R RRB KA 2 - BRRER 2%
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of BIWTAERBIBRIN - FEULBERT - BIIRECAR
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are BIER BERAERLERRRNRE
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the RN EX B o BEPEBERER -

statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any FTEEEK AR RKEREE 2 M
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that MELRE W Mt RIEARBEBRME—LH
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The ZEBRASRKA BRI ER#HT ABER
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance LHBERF -

costs in the statement of profit or loss.



2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories, mainly comprise biomass fuel, spare parts and
consumables used in the repairs and maintenance and are
stated at cost less provision for obsolete. Cost is
determined on the weighted average basis. When
inventories are consumed, the carrying amount of these
inventories is recognised as an expense in the statement of
profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have
a short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HEMEE

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to
be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit
or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations
and practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set
off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either
the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to
be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for
which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to deferred income account and is released to the
statement of profit or loss over the expected useful life of
the relevant asset by equal annual instalments or deducted
from the carrying amount of the asset and released to the
statement of profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer
and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one
year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

The Group satisfied a performance obligation and
recognises revenue over time, if one of the following criteria
is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs.

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced.

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternate use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If none of the above conditions are met, the Group
recognises revenue at the point in time when the
performance obligation is satisfied.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference to
the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at
the point in time when the customer obtains control of the
asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on the Group’s
efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the performance
obligation, by reference to the surveyors’ assessment of
work performed and the costs incurred up to the end of the
reporting period as a percentage of total estimated costs for
each contract.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

When the Group provides more than one service in a

service concession arrangement, the transaction price will be

allocated to each performance obligation by reference to

their relative stand-alone selling prices. If the stand-alone

selling prices are not directly observable, they are estimated

based on expected cost plus a margin or adjusted market

assessment approach, depending on the availability of

observable information.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the

promised amount of consideration for the effect of a

financing component if it is significant.

(a)

Construction service revenue

The Group’s performance in respect of construction
services creates or enhances an asset or work in
progress that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced, thus the Group satisfies a
performance obligation and recognises revenue over
time, by reference to completion of the specific
transaction assessed on the basis of the surveyors’
assessment of work performed and the costs incurred
up to the end of the reporting period as a percentage
of total estimated costs for each contract.

Revenue from construction services under a service
concession agreement is estimated on a cost-plus
basis with reference to a prevailing market rate of
gross margin at the date of the agreement applicable
to similar construction services rendered.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(b) Operation revenue

The Group recognised revenue from integrated
biomass utilisation project operation services,
hazardous and solid waste treatment operation
services, environmental remediation project operation
services and solar energy and wind power project
operation services when the related services are
rendered.

Revenue from other sources and other income

Finance and interest income is recognised on an accrual
basis using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or
a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange
for goods or services transferred to the customer. If the
Group performs by transferring goods or services to a
customer before the customer pays consideration or before
payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the
earned consideration that is conditional. Contract assets are
subject to impairment assessment, details of which are
included in the accounting policies for impairment of
financial assets.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a
customer before the Group transfers the related goods or
services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when
the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers
control of the related goods or services to the customer).
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Employee benefits
Retirement schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and
are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme, except for the Group’s employer voluntary
contributions, which are refunded to the Group when the
employee leaves employment prior to the contributions
vesting fully, in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute a
certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring costs
involving the payment of termination benefits.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part
of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing
of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare
interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are
recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of
exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with
the exception of monetary items that are designated as part
of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign
operation. These are recognised in other comprehensive
income until the net investment is disposed of, at which
time the cumulative amount is reclassified to the statement
of profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to
exchange differences on those monetary items are also
recorded in other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the
fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date
on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries,
joint ventures and associates are currencies other than the
Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the
end of the reporting period and their statements of profit or
loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of
overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires

management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected

in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
recognised

effect on the amounts in the financial

statements:

Service concession arrangements

The Group entered into BOT and BOO arrangements in
respect of its projects.

The Group concluded that all the BOT arrangements and
certain BOO arrangements are service concession
arrangements under HK(IFRIC) Interpretation 12, because
the local government controls and regulates the services
that the Group must provide with the infrastructure at a
pre-determined service charge. In respect of BOT
arrangements, upon expiry of concession right agreement,
the infrastructure has to be transferred to the local
government at nil consideration.

arrangements

Infrastructure for BOO
is used in the service concession

arrangements for its entire or substantial useful life.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Construction contracts

As explained in the accounting policies set out in note 2.4
to the financial statements for “Revenue recognition” and
“Contract assets”, revenue and profit recognition on an
incomplete project is dependent on estimating the final
outcome of the construction contract, as well as the work
done to date. Based on the Group’s recent experience and
the nature of the construction activity undertaken by the
Group, the Group makes estimates of the point at which it
considers the work is sufficiently advanced such that the
costs to complete and revenue can be reliably estimated.
As a result, until this point is reached, the “Service
concession assets” as disclosed in note 21 will not include
profit which the Group may eventually realise from the work
done to date. In addition, actual outcomes in terms of
revenue or costs may be higher or lower than estimated at
the end of the reporting period, which would affect the
revenue and profit

recognised in future years as an

adjustment to the amounts recorded to date.

Construction revenue arising from construction services is
recognised based on the estimation of the fair value of
construction services and the proportion of construction
work completed to date for each project. The fair value of
construction services is determined on a cost plus mark up
basis with reference to a prevailing market rate of gross
margin applicable to similar construction services rendered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for ECLs for debtors and contract assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
debtors and contract assets. The provision matrix is initially
based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The
Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical
settlement pattern, credit loss experience, published credit
ratings with forward-looking information. At each reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and
ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is
sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
published credit

economic conditions may also not be representative of a

experience, ratings and forecast of

customer’s actual default in the future.

The carrying amounts of debtors and contract assets at 31
December 2020 was HK$2,290,652,000 (2019:
HK$711,104,000) and HK$10,255,776,000 (2019:
HK$7,003,786,000), respectively. The information about the
ECLs on the Group’s debtors and contract assets is
disclosed in notes 21, 22 and 38 to the financial

statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment losses of gooadwill

As explained in the accounting policy set out in note 2.4 to
the financial statements for “Business combinations and
goodwill”, goodwill is allocated to a cash-generating unit or
to a group of cash-generating units that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination for the
purpose of requires
significant judgement. The Group determined that the group

impairment assessment, which
of cash-generating units to which goodwill was allocated
reflected the lowest level at which goodwill was monitored
for internal reporting and was not larger than an operating
segment in accordance with HKAS 36 /mpairment of
Assets.

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This involves an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from
the cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at
31 December 2020 was HK$157,609,000 (2019:
HK$149,079,000). Further details are given in note 16 to the
financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-
of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period. Indefinite
life intangible assets and intangible assets have not yet
available for use are tested for impairment annually and at
other times when such an indicator exists. Other non-
financial assets are tested for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that their recorded
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Determining
whether such assets are impaired requires an estimation of
the recoverable amount of each CGU to which the assets
have been allocated, which is the higher of its fair value less
costs of disposal and its value in use.

The calculations of the fair value less costs of disposal or
value in use involves significant estimations about future
business performance with key assumptions including
forecasted revenue growth rate and discount rates used.
The Group uses all readily available

determining an amount that is a reasonable approximation

information in

of the recoverable amount, including estimates based on
reasonable and supportable assumptions and projections of
revenue growth rates, operating costs and discount rates.
Further details are set out in note 17 to the financial
statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement on
the future tax treatment of certain transactions. The Group
carefully evaluates the tax implications of transactions and
tax provision are set up accordingly. The tax treatment of
such transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into
account all changes in tax legislation. Deferred tax assets
are recognised for temporary deductible differences. As
those deferred tax assets can only be recognised to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the unused tax credits can be
utilised, management’s judgement is required to assess the
probability of future taxable profits. Management reassesses
reporting period.
Additional deferred tax assets are recognised if it becomes

these estimates at the end of each

probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred
tax assets to be recovered. The carrying value of deferred
tax assets at 31 December 2020 was HK$64,467,000
(2019: HK$29,396,000). Further details are included in note
27 to the financial statements.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group manages its business by segments, which are

organised by business lines. In a manner consistent with the

way

in which information is reported internally to the

Group’s most senior executive management for the

purposes of resource allocation and performance

assessment, the Group has presented the following four

reportable segments.

(i)

(i)

(V)

Integrated biomass utilisation project construction and
operation: this segment engages in the construction
and operation of biomass direct combustion power
generation projects, biomass heat supply project,
biomass electricity and heat cogeneration projects,
waste-to-energy projects and integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy projects to generate revenue from
construction services, revenue from operation services
as well as finance income.

Hazardous and solid waste treatment project
construction and operation: this segment engages in
the construction and operation of hazardous waste
landfill projects, hazardous waste incineration projects,
general industrial solid waste electricity and heat
cogeneration projects and physicochemical and
resources recycling projects to generate revenue from
construction services, revenue from operation services
as well as finance income.

Environmental remediation project operation: this
segment engages in the operation of environmental
remediation projects covering restoration of industrial
contaminated sites, contaminated farmland, mines and
landfills, treatment of industrial gas emission,
integrated treatment of oil sludge, treatment of river/
lake sediments and industrial sludge, construction and
operation of wetland parks, environmental stewardship
services and anti-seepage at landfill sites to generate
revenue from operation services.

Solar energy and wind power project operation: this
segment engages in the operation of solar energy
projects and wind power projects to generate revenue
from operation services.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s most
senior executive management monitors the results, assets
and liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the
following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible assets, intangible
assets, goodwill, interests in associates and joint ventures,
deferred tax assets and current assets with the exception of
intercompany receivables and other corporate assets.
Segment liabilities include tax payables, deferred tax
liabilities, creditors, other payables and accrued expenses
attributable to the activities of the individual segments and
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings managed
directly by the segments, with the exception of
intercompany payables and other corporate liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to revenue generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or
which otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation
of assets attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is “earnings
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation”
(“EBITDA”). To arrive at EBITDA, the Group’s earnings are
further adjusted for items not specifically attributed to
individual segments, such as directors’ remuneration and
other head office or corporate administration costs.

In addition to segment information concerning EBITDA,
management is provided with segment information
concerning revenue, interest expense from borrowings
managed directly by the segments, depreciation and
amortisation and additions to non-current segment assets
used by the segments in their operations.
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REBHENRED ROBEREBZEER
BRAYEEDMBELRMERIERE DI
BEZIHE BHEREEZHER -
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4,

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4,
(Continued)

U]

Segment results, assets and liabilities

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments
as provided to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance for the year
is set out below:

For the year ended 31 December

Integrated biomass

BEDRER (B
) 2WXE -BEREE

AEERAFREERDERD BRI
AR ARERSERERMI A
THREDBERHINMT

BE+-A=+—-HLEE

Hazardous and solid

utilisation project  waste treatment project Environmental
construction and construction and remediation project ~ Solar energy and wind
operation operation operation power project operation Total
ENEGAFAER EEREREERA KRBER
BEREE BEREE BEBEEAEE EEEAEE @it
2020 2019 2020 20 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
ZBIEE F ZBIBE ZBIEE F ZBIBE F ZBIBE “TNE
HK$000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
BT AETT B¥Tn B%Tr EETn BETr  E%Tn B¥TT EETR
Segment revenue (note 5): A (KaEs)
Revenue from external customers and RENFEFPHRARETRE
reportable segment revenue 2HHhE 8318394 7270316 1,158,305 1,517,723 167,656 287,29 191,021 204,220 9,835,376 9,279,555
Segment results: AREE:
Reportable segment profit (EBITDA) ATHE 2 HHEFERTDA) 2,557,204 2,192,943 419,733 571,824 39,223 55454 181,365 185683 3,197,525 3,005,904
Finance costs HHER (543,564)  (376,891)
Depreciation and amortisation, including RERBH (BERIESS)
unallocated portion (594,844)  (389,781)
Unallocated head office and corporate KARBRARBERA
income 10,910 13,522
Unallocated head office and corporate KARBRARGERR
expenses (143,840)  (143,287)
Consolidated profit before tax GARKARR 1,926,187 2,109,467
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, BEDEEFR (E)
(Continued)
() Segment results, assets and liabilities (i) oBEEBE BEERAEE)
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 December BE+-A=1+—RHLEFE

Integrated biomass  Hazardous and solid
utilisation project  waste treatment project Environmental

construction and construction and remediation project ~ Solar energy and wind
operation operation operation power project operation Total
ENEGATNAEE  REREREERER AREER
BEREE BEREE BRBEEAEE EEEAEE it
2020 2 2020 2019 2020 . 9 2020 “OU 2020
bt k- 33 F -3-3F N ZB-BF ot gt 3:3 Eogt Jud 33
HK$'000 i HK$'000 0 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR AETT BETR BETL BB
Other segment information: HtAHER:
Finance costs HHER 336,161 247,809 38,950 22,958 8,065 7,759 19,537 22,084 402,713 300,610
Unallocated finance costs FARUBER 140,851 76,281
Depreciation and amortisation NEREH 369,157 240,940 139,606 64,772 13,989 13,165 65,699 66,557 588,451 385,434
Unallocated depreciation and amortisation RARFERER 6,393 4,347
Impairment losses of intangible assets EVEERBESR 216,723 - - - - - - - 216723 -
Impairment losses of debtors and contract EUEFRANEEREER
assets 7,430 19 109 868 = 1,013 = - 7,539 2,000
Share of (profits)/losses of joint ventures RESECE (BA)/BE - - 19,464 (9,890) - - - - 19,464 (9,890)
Additions to property, plant and equipment, i“‘ﬁ%# HER&E £RE
right-of-use assets, intangiole assets, BE BYRE BERE
goodwill and non-current portion of RREZ DS
prepayments 2,356,349 3,039,039 2,245,611 1,648,153 7,607 197,095 5,404 911 4614971 4,885,198
Additions to non-current portion of contract RERNAEZHNBTH
assets 2,428,423 1,445,068 7,367 8,142 = - = — 2435790 1,453,210

Integrated biomass  Hazardous and solid
utilisation project  waste treatment project Environmental

construction and construction and remediation project  Solar energy and wind
operation operation operation power project operation Total
ENEGREAAER REREREERR KREER
BEREE BEREE BRABERAEE EEEEEE @3
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020
F ZR-RF “T-NF ZB-%F "D NF ZR-%F “T-NF ZB-%F
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$000 0 HK$'000 HK$ 000
BETT  EE BETR BMTr B%Tn KT B%Tn T E¥Tn  BETR
Reportable segment assets BFREZIPEE 25,658,491 18,899,891 6,707,061 4,247,704 660,590 503712 1,312,799 1,302,854 34,338,941 24,954,161
Unallocated head office and corporate FARBAARGEAE
assets 925,727 1,304,154
Consolidated total assets GRABERE 35,264,668 26,258,315
Reportable segment liabilities ATREZABEE 11,105,026 9430879 2942256 1,382,686 487,772 337,821 456999 477,163 14,992,053 11,628,549
Unallocated head office and corporate FARBAARLESR
liabilities 7,405,774 4,042,414

Consolidated total liabiliies GRBRREE 22,397,827 15,670,963
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4,

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of () the Group’s revenue from
external customers, (i) the Group’s property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
and (i) the Group’s non-current portion of other
receivables, deposits and prepayments and non-current
portion of contract assets. The geographical location of
customers is based on the location at which the
services were provided. The geographical location of
the assets is based on the physical location of the
asset in the case of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets, whereas the location of the
operation to which they are allocated in the case of
other receivables, deposits and prepayments,
intangible assets and contract assets.

Revenue from external

4,

BEDEER (B)

(i) HEER

TREIBROAKRERAIATF

Z Wz

CARBEZYE  BE &R

e EREEEREIEE  Ri)A&
SEZ EfbEWGIR - e RIARNK
B2 FEENERER D AR & K& B 2 FERT
HEn 2 R ER - REMAE

b [ 12 AR 75 He (M B B 2>

- BEME

R EEBERMAELE (LY

R & &

RBAREREEEMS) -

M Rz 5 2 P s #h (B H fb &
WA - e RENRIE BV EE

REHWEEMmMS)ED

Non-current portion of
other receivables,
deposits and
prepayments and

Property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use
assets and

customers intangible assets contract assets
HttERRE  BER
nE BERRE BAREREGNEEZ
RENREFzUE FKAREERENEE FEEHH L
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
TEC%F ZT-NF ZBIBF —_T-NF “BZ%%f “T-NF
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
RMTR AETR RMTR ANTR BMTR AETx
PRC FE 9,829,244 9,273,442 17,769,340 13,784,710 7,131,903 4,565,619
Hong Kong B = - 1,750 6,245 - -
Germany &= 6,132 6,113 36,742 37,610 = -
Total FoH 9,835,376 9,279,555 17,807,832 13,828,565 7,131,903 4,565,619
Information about a major customer (i) FEEFER
For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group HE-Z-_TF+-_A=+—HIHF
has transactions with one (2019: one) local & ANEE P E— (@ BT
government authority in the PRC from which the (ZZ2—hEF: —EETXS 5
revenue individually exceeded 10% of the Group’s RHEBEAEEBKE10%A L

total revenue. The aggregate revenue from this
customer during the year ended 31 December 2020
amounted to HK$1,847,626,000 (2019:
HK$1,870,814,000).

BE_T-_TF+-_A=+—HILF
B REZEFPHREEBER/BE

1,847,626,0007C (=& — N5 :

1,870,814,0007T) °

B
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5. REVENUE 5 s
An analysis of revenue is as follows: W atra T

Revenue from integrated biomass utilisation

EWESENAER 2

2020
—E-FE

—=—=

HK$’000
BT T

2019

—E—NF

HK$’'000
BT

project construction services & AR 7% U = 3,869,337 4,050,945
Revenue from hazardous and solid waste EELEEREEE R

treatment project construction services ERRE W 593,292 868,814
Revenue from integrated biomass utilisation EYEERENAIERE

project operation services & PRSI a 4,182,317 3,032,982
Revenue from hazardous and solid waste EEREEREEIEEE

treatment project operation services 2Rl 557,647 640,767
Revenue from environmental remediation project IRIZE1EIE B B L RIE

operation services g 167,656 287,296
Revenue from solar energy and wind power HRBEERREIREE

project operation services & IR IR 191,021 204,220
Revenue from contracts with customers BEFEA & 9,561,270 9,085,024
Finance income from service concession RS RT i ST 2

arrangements pZON 274,106 194,531
Total revenue W a5 4258 9,835,376 9,279,555

BE-_Z-_ZTE+-_A=+—BIEE "
R B AR B E M U R A B AR S A
BERBURRMBUABER/ELE
8,659,260,000 L (=T — L& : B%
8,269,856,0007T) ° 4084 7% 3k % M sE 4 T 3%
B ZEWEEt ATE S EL o

The aggregated revenue from construction services, revenue
from operation services and finance income derived from
the local government authorities in the PRC amounted to
HK$8,659,260,000 (2019: HK$8,269,856,000) for the year
ended 31 December 2020. The revenues are included in
four segments as disclosed in note 4 to the financial
statements.
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5. REVENUE (Continued) 5 Wz (&)
Revenue from contracts with customers BEEEHWE
(a)  Disaggregated revenue information (@ DI B

Integrated biomass  Hazardous and solid
utilisation project ~ waste treatment project Environmental

construction and construction and remediation project ~ Solar energy and wind
operation operation operation power project operation Total
ENEGRAAER  REREREEER EREER
BEREE BEREE BRBEEAEE BEEAEE Eh
2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020
b b 23 =t St 23 et b 23 F ZB-%F
HK$'000 00  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
B¥Tn BBTT BETn E%Tr EMTn B%Tr  E¥TR E¥Tn  ARTn
(i) Types of goods and services () EWREBHE
Construction services BERE 3,869,337 4,050,945 593,292 868,814 - - - — 4462629 4919759
Operation services EERE 4,182,317 3,032,982 557,647 640,767 167,656 287,296 191,021 204,220 5,098,641 4,165,265
Total revenue from contracts with ERENNHRAE
customers 8,051,654 7,083,927 1,150,939 1,509,581 167,656 287,296 191,021 204,220 9,561,270 9,085,024
(ii) Geographical markets* (i) BEF5*
PRC FE 8,051,654 7,083,927 1,150,939 1,509,581 167,656 287,296 184,889 198,107 9,555,138 9,078,911
Germany 28 - - - - - - 6,132 6,113 6,132 6,113
Total revenue from contracts with ZEANRGHRE
customers 8,051,654 7,083,927 1,150,939 1,509,581 167,656 287,296 191,021 204220 9,561,270 9,085,024
* The geographical location of customers is based on % BRI R R IS S -

the location at which the services were provided.

Timing of revenue recognition Yoz 1 53 F BT

2020 2019

—EB-BHE —E-NE

HK$’000 HK$'000

T 5T BT T

Services transferred over time BE R % 2 IR 9,489,724 9,021,799
Goods transferred at a point in time RE—RER2EY 71,546 63,225

9,561,270 9,085,024
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REVENUE (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(b)  Performance obligations

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or
partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December are as
follows:

5.

Y a8

(&)

BEFAEN WS (&)

©)

IERIE (F

R+_A=+—HESREHTEL
B (REBTHE D REEIT) 2R
HERSENT :

2020 2019

—B-%F T F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT AT

Expected to be recognised within TEH RN —F AR

one year

Expected to be recognised after one year FEHR#S A —F IR HER

9,784,220 10,655,156
196,749,121 221,141,703

206,533,341 231,796,859

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations which are expected
to be recognised as revenue after one year relate to
construction services and operation services in
connection with the Group’s environmental protection
projects, of which the performance obligations are to
be satisfied within 50 years. All the other amounts of
transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations are expected to be
recognised as revenue within one year. The amounts
disclosed above do not include variable consideration
which is constrained.

The Group has applied the practical expedient under
HKFRS 15 and does not include information about
revenue that the Group will be entitled to when it
satisfied the remaining performance obligations for
contracts with an original expected duration of one
year or less.

ESRERTEOECLHEBR—F
BREAAWEZ X HBRSEIRA
S EBREE HERE+HENBITR
ERBGREEREBORE B9
REH TROEEZ AR5 E
% TR — F R B -
EXFHE 2 S BA T AEER 5
RELER

AEERATERUBRELENF5
ST A TRERENERLESLE
AEBEERREFEHERS—FHIA
NZAHZHBTROBETREKES
REGZ W 2 EFR -
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Hofth ez b H A5 1R
H i s REAMB R Z ST T -

6. OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER LOSSES 6.

An analysis of other revenue and other losses is as follows:

2020 2019
—E-ERF —T—hF
HK$’°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Other revenue Hib s
Interest income MEWA 17,451 16,145
Government grants* BT En &~ 124,721 70,805
Value-added tax refunds** EEBR ™ 87,989 63,709
Others EHih 22,229 15,790
252,390 166,449

*k

Government grants of HK$120,764,000 (2019:
HK$67,648,000) were granted during the year ended 31
December 2020 to subsidise certain integrated biomass
utilisation and hazardous and solid waste treatment projects
of the Group in the PRC. There were no unfulfilled
conditions and other contingencies attached to the receipts
of those grants. There is no assurance that the Group will
continue to receive such grants in the future. Government
grants received for which related expenditure has not yet
been undertaken are included in deferred income in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group was entitled to PRC value-added tax refunds of
HK$87,989,000 (2019: HK$63,709,000) during the year
ended 31 December 2020. There were no unfulfilled
conditions and other contingencies attached to the receipts
of such tax refunds. There is no assurance that the Group
will continue to receive such tax refunds in the future.

*k

BE_Z-_ZTE+-_A=+—RHILEE "
7 £5 B & B BT 4 B & 78 15 120,764,000
TL(ZZF—hF : #%67,648,0007T) * K
EPAEERPENE FTEYELREFA
LEBEREREREEE - WRZE/MBE
MEREN G REMIAETIE - FR
BAEBBBREIERERESZSHIDE -
BERAEEBRAT 2 ERBRFFEER
RE MBI R T ABLERA ©

BE-_ZT_TF+_A=+—HIFE"
AEEERESTHEERRB AL
87,989,000t (=T — N F : &K
63,709,0007T) © U BY 5% & iR B 4 48 R i
A RS AETE - BENMREBASEE
AEBrHEEESZERT -

2020 2019
—R_WF —T-AF
HK$’°000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Other losses HihEE
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE -« FE KL&E
plant and equipment BEEZF (W),
E1E (384) 849
Impairment losses of debtors and contract FEUEER R AN EE
assets FEEEE 7,539 2,000
7,155 2,849
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7. FINANCE COSTS 7. HMBER
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MBERSTHAT

2020 2019
—ECEF —E—NF
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Interest on bank and other borrowings RITREMEEZFE 539,409 400,290
Interest on medium-term notes RHIZEE 2 FI R 23,026 —
Interest on lease liabilities MEBBEZAE 466 605
Finance costs incurred EEZUHBER 562,901 400,895
Less: interest capitalised* B AR bz R B (19,337) (24,004)
543,564 376,891
H The borrowing costs have been capitalised at a rate ranging * BHE_T-TF+_A=+—HIFE"
from 3.05% to 4.95% (2019: 4.66% to 5.39%) per annum EERARTIZN F3.05%F4.95% (= F
during the year ended 31 December 2020. —NF: 4.66%%E5.39%) FFIRTINE

ZN A
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8.

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

(crediting):

5D

2020 2019
—E-EHF —FT-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Cost of inventories consumed BEREATEZKA 2,190,698 1,558,524
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment*  #1% - W= RREITE" 172,296 134,183
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 16,625 10,489
Amortisation of intangible assets** | B E 405,923 245,109
Lease payments not included in the Rt AHEAEEY
measurement of lease liabilities HEMNK 11,791 8,248
Auditor’s remuneration 1% 25 6 357 B
— audit services — EBZR 2,650 2,990
— other services — HtAR% 729 —
3,379 2,990
Employee benefit expense (excluding directors’ & B @ FF = (T B 3&
remuneration (note 9))* EEME (FI5E9))*
Wages and salaries I&ERF= 607,632 533,603
Pension scheme contributions RORREFT S 5K 31,218 56,875
638,850 590,478
Impairment losses of debtors JE W BR R FE R B 18 15 2,000
Impairment losses of intangible assets B EERBERE 216,723 —
Impairment losses of contract assets EHEEREER 7,524 —
Foreign exchange differences, net ME 5 H =R (244) (907)

*k

The depreciation of property, plant and equipment of
HK$139,906,000 (2019: HK$107,800,000) was included in
“Direct cost and operating expense” on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The amortisation of intangible assets of HK$386,507,000
(2019: HK$230,105,000) was included in “Direct cost and
operating expense” on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had no forfeited
contributions available to reduce its contributions to the
pension schemes in future years (2019: Nil).

& Y - R KRR 8 3T & S #5139,906,000
T(=ZZT— A& : #B%¥107,800,0007T) 7t
AGEBEREERARKEEBRIA -

¥ 4 Ji7 & B # 3 % 386,507,000 (= &
— N4 : ##230,105,0007T) :t A& 1B
HREERARCEERA]A -

4 R=-ZT_ZTF+_A=+—80 ' x5BT
FOSUME IR A A AR A S BERRFEE
ZRARREFEER(ZZ—LE &) -
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’

9. EFLTIBTHRAENE

REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, BIE ETARE] - FERQREME383(1)@)
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), o) Q) FMER T (HEEEFEER)
(b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and HROIF o FBECFNEEREEITHASR
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about BemT

Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Group
KEE
2020 2019
—E_EHF —ZT—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Fees we 720 720
Other emoluments: HEMe
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e 2K
B = 5,116 5,536
Discretionary bonuses B 15 TEAL 5,122 6,370
Pension scheme contributions RIKRBE T ZI4E X 1,232 1,059
11,470 12,965

12,190 13,685
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'’ 9. BEENFETHAEMSE (&)
REMUNERATION (Continued)
2020 —E-EF

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits  Discretionary scheme

Fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
e 2R 0 |

He BNAE RiERA #3 @it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BRI BET L BRI BRI BET L

Executive directors HiTE=S

Qian Xiaodong BER - 2,024 1,872 308 4,204

Yang Zhigiang BE® - 1,456 1,650 466 3,572

Lo Kam Fan (note () E R E (M) - 1,456 1,600 458 3,514

= 4,936 5,122 1,232 11,290

Non-executive directors FRTES

Wang Tianyi TXE = = = = =

Guo Ying Bl - = = - -

Song Jian (note (i) A1 (3£ (i) = = = = =

Independent non-executive directors BIFHTES

Chow Siu Lui B& 240 60 = - 300

Philip Tsao BRE 240 60 - - 300

Yan Houmin BER 240 60 - - 300
720 180 = = 900

720 5,116 5,122 1,232 12,190
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ 9. BEENFETHAEME (&)
REMUNERATION (Continued)
2019 —E—NEF

Salaris,
allowances Pension
and benefits  Discretionary scheme
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions
R R
ks ENAa BEfta S
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT BT BETT BETT
Executive directors HES
Qian Xiaodong BER - 2,023 3,120 279 5422
Yang Zhigiang B - 1,460 1,650 289 3,399
Lo Kam Fan (note (i) E R E (f() - 1450 1,600 285 3,335
Wang Yungang (note (i) TEM (W) - 438 - 206 644
- 5,371 6,370 1,059 12,800
Non-executive directors FETES
Wang Tianyi TXE - - - - -
Guo Ying EifS - - - - -
Song Jian (note i) R (F3E (i) - - - - -
Tang Xianging (note () EEE (F1() - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors BIFHTES
Chow Siu Lui Gl 240 55 - - 295
Philip Tsao BRE 240 55 - - 295
Yan Houmin BER 240 55 - - 295
720 165 - - 885

720 5,536 6,370 1,069 13,685
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10.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
REMUNERATION (Continued)

Notes:

(i) Mr. LO Kam Fan was appointed as an executive director on
24 June 2019.

(i) Mr. WANG Yungang resigned as an executive director with
effect from 24 June 2019.

(iif) Mr. SONG Jian was appointed as a non-executive director
on 24 June 2019.

(iv) Mr. TANG Xianging resigned as a non-executive director with
effect from 24 June 2019.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
during the year.

Starting from 2021, the discretionary bonuses of the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company will be paid by two
instalments.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included
three directors (2019: three directors), details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining two (2019: two)
highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief

executive of the Company are as follows:

10.

EERTETBRAEME (&)

B aE

() ESBEER-FT-AFAA-_THAE
RERWTES

M EFEREEA-ZT-AFAA-TEAR
BHERITES -

(iy REBEEERZZF-NFAAZTHOBEEZ
ERIENITES -

vy REREBEEEA-_Z-NAFAA-TEAR
BHEFFITES -

ARRAETVEMESTHAETETHRAR
ARNFARELRBREEMFHFMA LB -

A-T-—Fi AAAGRARNBE
TEALY5 5 FIERBE IR -

hEsRFNES
FRAAREHHEEDH=LEE (=T
—NEFZREEF)  BEZHMFERR
EXHES  FABRTMA (ZT—NF :
ME)LFARFAEFLEETHAB LR
EHBIEROFHEEDT -

2020 2019

— —F-NF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

BET T BT T

Salaries and other emoluments FehHEamie 2,128 1,602
Discretionary bonuses B 15 TE 4L 2,830 3,347
Pension scheme contributions BRIKRERT B3 455 362
5,413 5,311
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10.

il

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued) 10. A% &= % MES (&)
The number of the highest paid non-director and non-chief FHNTUTHE 2 IFEERIIEEETH
executive employees whose remuneration fell within the AEBESFTMEEN AL T :

following bands is as follows:

Number of employees

EEAHE
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 7&#52 000,001 L&
& #2,500,0007T 0 1
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 7B #82 500,001 T E
78 #3,000,0007TC 2 1
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to FR - AEEBWERANRDRESHEMIL
the directors of the Company or any of the highest paid FEARRNREE 2 &= 5 E B 2 1 AT B
employees who are not a director of the Company as an 2 ERNMAREEIRMALREERZ
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as RE) BB (E o

compensation for loss of office.

INCOME TAX 1. PTEM

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as HARAEENBE— S _EF+ A =+—
the Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in A FEERB I EREEM BRI AT -
Hong Kong for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: WM EEEHEBNEHERHE(CZ -1
Nil). F|E)o

Tax for the PRC operations is charged at the statutory rate BT 2 BRI IE R B AR ROER
of 25% of the assessable profits under tax rules and RERHBFIUEERE25%THE - FA -
regulations in the PRC. During the vyear, certain PRC BIBEAEBEH G ERRER & TR BB
subsidiaries are subject to tax concessions under the NRIZHBHIBEE -

relevant tax rules and regulations.
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11.

INCOME TAX (Continued)

Current tax — Elsewhere

1. ™ (&)

2020
—g-%%F

2019
—E-hF
HK$’000
BT

——

HK$’000
BET T

AEBIE — HEAbiTs

Charge for the year RFEEMAX 197,705 192,493
Overprovision in prior years BEFEBERE (6,946) (5,923)
Deferred tax (note 27) BT A (M 5E27) 222,120 275,792
Total tax expenses for the year AEEHIBERI BT 412,879 462,362

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the statutory rates for the countries or
jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of its
subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the

BERARARRAREKRE DB QB ME
BRHEDEER OEEREXFEGRHRAR
MZRBXHERERRERAEZRIEX
hZ EERIT

effective tax rates is as follows:

2020 2019
—E_EF —F-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T ok S ab
Profit before tax B 751 il & A 1,926,187 2,109,467
Tax at the statutory tax rate BEEMEE ZMIE 499,398 535,298
Difference in tax rates enacted by local HWHEBBEmZ
authorities HEER (97,345) (108,670)
Effect of withholding tax on the distributable TG AL
and distributed profits of the Group’s PRC BB B B A R AT
subsidiaries DIEREEDIREFZ
Ta (6,801) 21,115
Overprovision in respect of prior years BEFEBEREE (6,946) (5,923)
Income not subject to tax BARBURA (7,348) (6,370)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR X 31,921 26,912
Tax expense at the Group’s effective rate BASHERBRAHE
Z BIA 412,879 462,362
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12. DIVIDENDS 12. IS

2020 2019
“BCEF —E-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BETT AT
Dividends attributable to the year: REFRE :
Interim — HK8.0 cents HE —
(2019: HK8.0 cents) per ordinary share G EREARS.0EL
(ZZ—NF:8.0%1L) 165,286 165,286
Final — HK7.0 cents RE —
(2019: HK8.0 cents) per ordinary share FRRE @ART7.0L
(ZZ—NF:8.081) 144,625 165,286
309,911 330,572
The final dividend for the year is proposed after the end of REE 2 REABRBBMABREHRED R KX
the reporting period and is subject to the approval of the BEARTIRREEERRBEFAE L
Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general BT AER ©

meeting.
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO  13. AR RIEZBEEGFREAF)
EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is ERERABANNESBINEAN B ESREE
based on the profit for the year attributable to equity 1l 7K 4F £ 28 A 7 #1,502,532,0007C (= &
shareholders of the Company of HK$1,502,532,000 (2019: — N AB#1,621,477,00070) LARFRE
HK$1,621,477,000), and the weighted average number of 17 R N #E £ 39 #2,066,078,000 f%
ordinary shares of 2,066,078,000 (2019: 2,066,078,000) in (ZZ—h%F : 2,066,078,000%) T & -
issue during the year.
No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per R EERESRBAE  WREHME5E
share amounts presented for the years ended 31 B2 EERFER_FE-NEFHF_A=1—
December 2020 and 2019 in the calculation of diluted AEEEsBREABT EELFE -
earnings per share as there were no potential dilutive THREBEZEZZE_ZFR-ZZT-NF+=
ordinary shares during the years ended 31 December 2020 A=+—BHUIEFEVEABEHETE Y
and 2019. LR

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. M% -~ BB K&

Leasehold Motor vehicles,
improvements, electronic
Plant and  furniture and equipment and Construction
Buildings machinery fixtures others in progress Total
HENREL . AR EFREB
BF B T 28 BRREE REM HEIR #E
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
BETT BRI T BETT BETT BETT BETT
Cost: BA:
At 1 January 2020 RZZZTF
—A—H 680,349 1,725,374 43,594 214,931 483,336 3,147,584
Additions BE 39,358 7,379 23,188 25,255 1,058,188 1,153,368
Disposals and write-off HE RMH = - (715) (212) - (927)
Transfers i 75,820 160,259 - - (236,079) -
Exchange realignment [ 5 3% 55,262 131,721 4,660 16,873 73,133 281,649
At 31 December 2020 RZZ-ZF
+=A=1+—H 850,789 2,024,733 70,727 256,847 1,378,578 4,581,674
Accumulated depreciation: BEHTE:
At 1 January 2020 RZZZZF
—A—H 67,304 368,782 14,788 66,126 = 517,000
Charge for the year AEEXH 24,152 110,046 11,591 26,507 - 172,296
Disposals and write-off HE R - - (122) (61) - (183)
Exchange realignment BN AR 5,874 31,232 1,729 5,606 - 44,441
At 31 December 2020 RZZ-ZF
+=A=1+—H 97,330 510,060 27,986 98,178 = 733,554
Net carrying amount: RHFE:
At 31 December 2020 i S22
+=A=1+—H 753,459 1,514,673 42,741 158,669 1,378,578 3,848,120
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B 3R R M
14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. W BENEKE (E
(Continued)

Leasehold  Motor vehicles,

improvements, electronic
Plant and furniture and  equipment and Construction
Buildings machinery fixtures others in progress
BF il RES ERIE ]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BB T BB BB T BB T BB T
Cost: B
At 1 January 2019 RZB-N%F
—A—H 593,201 1,612,689 28,321 105,036 393,828 2,733,075
Additions BE 1,458 17,437 15,110 113,312 271,670 418,987
Acquisition of subsidiaries YebE B AR
(note 30) (B#E30) 53,827 28,272 2,489 2,018 2,838 89,444
Disposals and write-off HE R ES (274) (2,611) (1,271) (1,317) - (5,473)
Transfers B 52,617 120,090 - - (172,707) -
Exchange realignment [EREES (20,480) (50,508) (1,055) (4,118) (12,293) (88,449)
At 31 December 2019 RZB-NF
+=-A=+—-H 680,349 1,725,374 43,694 214,931 483,336 3,147,584
Accumulated depreciation: ZEHE
At 1 January 2019 R-B-N%E
—A—H 51,084 295,974 9,507 40,819 - 398,284
Charge for the year AFELH 17,086 83,687 6,837 26,573 - 134,183
Disposals and write-off & RS (150) (1,902) (1,260) (326) - (3,638)
Exchange realignment [ERE L (1,616) (8,977) (296) (940) - (11,829)
At 31 December 2019 RZZE-NF
+-A=+—H 67,304 368,782 14,788 66,126 - 517,000
Net carrying amount: REFE :
At 31 December 2019 RZZ—NE

+-A=+—H 613,045 1,366,592 28,806 148,805 483,336 2,630,584
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15. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of
buildings used in its operations. Lump sum payments were
made upfront to acquire the leased land from the owners
with lease terms of 10 to 50 years, and no ongoing
payments will be made under the terms of these land
leases. Leases of buildings generally have lease terms
between 20 and 30 years. Generally, the Group is
restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets
outside the Group.

(a)  Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use
assets and the movements during the year are as
follows:

15.

Buildings

HK$’000

BETIT

HE
FEEEREBEA

AEBEABESREGEFTERANETER
BEZEREMBEESH AKBEEEL
—IREREIN R B AERES R T
FER+FNHEELH  MEBEZF L
MEZ G - BRIELFELENR - BFH
ERH-—RA-THFE=FTF-EX L
AEBERNSRAEENIIALTHEERDHE
FHHEEE -

@ EHEERE

AREEREAEZ RHERAFR
ZEHMT

Prepaid land
lease payments
TR AT 4 3

BF & HIE FGEE]
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT

Total

As at 1 January 2019 RZE—NF
—H—H 7,970 167,263 175,233
Additions BE 8,003 146,848 154,851
Additions as a result of A W B B B A B
acquisition of 22 (Mf5E30)
subsidiaries (note 30) - 105,785 105,785
Depreciation provided FANEFRITE
during the year (3,141) (7,348) (10,489)
Exchange realignment bE (173) (8,561) (8,734)
As at 31 December 2019 R -_ZT—N&F
and 1 January 2020 +-—A=+—8H
N _ZE_TF
—H—H 12,659 403,987 416,646
Additions e — 210,007 210,007
Depreciation provided FAEERERTE
during the year (4,874) (11,751) (16,625)
Exchange realignment PE & EE 446 38,135 38,581
As at 31 December 2020 RZZT=FF
+=—A=+—H 8,231 640,378 648,609
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15. LEASES (Continued) 16. HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBEREEA (F)
(b) Lease liabilities b) MHEEE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the HEAGBECEOREREFREHN
movements during the year are as follows: s 8

2020 2019
—B-%F T F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—HBHZEEE 13,015 7,970
New leases ARIHEE - 8,003
Accretion of interest recognised during FADHERFEIL M
the year 466 605
Payments (BN (5,108) (3,386)
Exchange realignment ME W S 463 (177)
Carrying amount as at 31 December R+-—A=+—8z2
FREE 8,836 13,015
Analysed into: DT
Current portion BIEAEL > 2,333 4,634
Non-current portion JERD R 6,503 8,381
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in HEBBEZIHERD TR B RE

note 38 to the financial statements. P FE38IEE o
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15. LEASES (Continued) 15. HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBEREBA (F)
(b) Lease liabilities (Continued) b) HEEEE)

ot

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to RES&RPHRAZEERBESEN
leases are as follows: 3

2020 2019
—EC-FF —F-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Interest on lease liabilities HEBGEZME 466 605
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets ff BEEERES 16,625 10,489
Expense relating to short-term leases not AREEHHEEMNH X
included in the measurement of lease KRt AHEAEE
liabilities 11,791 8,248
Total amount recognised in profit or loss A EZHKR P HER
BERR 28,882 19,342

The total cash outflow for leases and future cash
outflows relating to leases that have not vyet
commenced are disclosed in notes 32(c) and 38 to
the financial statements.

HEZReREBBEREARGZE
EZHBARFIBER
= M3E32(c) 38 E -

7 B B 75
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16. GOODWILL

16. &

2020 2019
—E-EF —T—hHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T ok abi
At 1 January ®n—H—H 149,079 —
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 30) Uk B BT B 2 B (B E30) = 154,252
Exchange realignment e 5, 78 2 8,530 (5,173)

Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December ®W+-A=+—H2
B A N BR EDFHE 157,609 149,079

Impairment testing of goodwill BEZEREIA

The carrying amounts of goodwill acquired through business
combinations have been allocated to the relevant cash-
generating units (“CGUs”) of the individual companies for
impairment testing, which are summarised as follows:

TRIRERNRAR RETERBEAREBE
BattmlBE T EERRARSEEENM
(ReLEBEN) BB ZREE  EMf
MR

2020 2019
—ECoSfE —T—hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Environmental remediation segment: IRIBIEEDES
Suntime Environmental Remediation CO., Ltd LHIRBEERR
NG 72,682 68,049
EB Greentech Technology (Wuxi) Limited HREFEERREH (&
(formerly known as: Jiangsu Jiayuan %) BR AR (A1
Environmental Technology Company T EREFRIRIE R
Limited)* BRAT) 69,584 65,148
Hazardous and solid waste treatment segment:  fEfE N ERER B 9 56 ¢
Zhangjiagang Gelin Environmental Engineering REBIEMIRIELIE
Company Limited* BRAF 15,343 15,882
157,609 149,079

The goodwill of HK$72,682,000 as at 31 December 2020
and 2019 arose from the acquisition of 88.88% of the
equity interest in Suntime Environmental Remediation CO.,
Ltd (“Suntime Environmental”) (note 30(a)) in 2019, and is
attributable mainly to the expected synergies from
combining the operations of the Group and the acquiree.

*

For identification only

R-E-—EER-—F-NF+-A=+—
B2 85 %72,682,000 KB =T — N
FUH FABBEEARAA( AR
5 1) 88.889% A (M3 30() - HE BRI
ARERWIKEA T A G 2 EAG R
TS E -

*

E L5



16. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

The goodwill of HK$69,584,000 as at 31 December 2020
and 2019 arose from the acquisition of 90% of the equity
interest in EB Greentech Technology (Wuxi) Limited (“Wuxi
Technology”) (note 30(b)) in 2019, and is attributable mainly
to the expected synergies from combining the operations of
the Group and the acquiree.

The goodwill of HK$15,343,000 as at 31 December 2020
and 2019 arose from the acquisition of 100% of the equity
interest in Zhangjiagang Gelin Environmental Engineering
Company Limited (“Zhangjiagang Gelin”) (note 30(c)) in
2019, and is attributable mainly to the expected synergies
from combining the operations of the Group and the
acquiree.

The recoverable amounts of the respective CGUs are
determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations use cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering a five-year
period. The pre-tax discount rates ranging from 11.6% to
12.0% (2019: 10.1% to 13.7%) have been used for the
value-in-use calculations, and cash flows beyond the
five-year period were extrapolated using a growth rate of
2% to 3% (2019: 2% to 3%). Management determined the
budgets based on service agreements governing the
relevant operations. The discount rates used are pre-tax and

reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments.

Based on management’s assessment, no impairment is
considered necessary at 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

16.
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‘e (E)
BEEENR (&

RZEZEER =T —NEFE+=A=1+—
B2 EE8%69,584,000 LB —E—Hh
FRBHARGZCRREE (&S BRA A
(M4 85 R (Bt 3£30(b)) 90% A% #E - H =
EREBEAEERFWEARGHEK 2T
BRI EmMETE °

RZBEZZERZZT—NE+=ZA=+—
H2 88115343000 kB8 —E— A1
FWBRRBEEMIRBEIEBR QA (R
RBEM]) (H5E30(c)) 100% Ja#E » HFE
BEANEBREIIE QG S %5 2 7B
RSB EmarE -

ERRSEEBN 2 RESBEIREE
REBEAEEETE FEFERRBRERE
ExfEs AFHEMBREE RS RER
BlfEET - ARFTEFERAEBEE BRI ME X
ANT11.6%E12.0% (ZF—NF:10.1%
£13.7%)  MBBAFHBEZRESRETD
A RR2%ZEI% (ZB—NF 2% E3%)
HE ERERBEEEBEB 2R
% ETHMEE - ERZMBE XA
BB RS IR ERR BRI K -

REEEEFNH RZZE=-_ZF+ = A
=i S ERS TR SR R ST
F )
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17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Integrated Hazardous and

17. B & E

biomass  solid waste
[N[EE ] treatment
project project Total
operating operating Backlog Computer intangible
rights rights Licences  Technologies contracts software assets
ENERE RERER
FIRER REER
BER BER R & KRAMARE ElEH EYEELE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BETT BETR BRI BETT BRI BRI
31 December 2020 “ECEE+-A=1-H
Cost: A
At 1 January 2020 W-Z-%F-H-A 9,523,715 1,746,511 116,838 13,633 2,941 = 11,403,638
Additions ®E 1,711,243 593,292 13,306 - = 11,255 2,329,096
Exchange realignment ERHE 737,077 151,564 8,666 928 202 603 899,040
At 31 December 2020 WZZZZF+-A=1-H 11,972,035 2,491,367 138,810 14,561 3,143 11,858 14,631,774
Accumulated amortisation and LA BHRER:
impairment:
At 1 January 2020 RZZ-%5-A-A 524,699 82,242 12,187 1,704 1,471 = 622,303
Charge for the year REEZH 317,008 70,727 13,683 1,728 1,491 1,286 405,923
Impairment i3 216,723 - - - - - 216,723
Exchange realignment ERAE 64,323 9,386 1,562 208 181 62 75,722
At 31 December 2020 WZZ2-ZF+-A=1-H 1,122,753 162,355 27,432 3,640 3,143 1,348 1,320,671
Net carrying amount: RESE:
At 31 December 2020 WZZZZF+-A=1-H 10,849,282 2,329,012 111,378 10,921 = 10,510 13,311,103
31 December 2019 ZE-AETZRZ1-H
Cost: KA
At 1 January 2019 W=ZE-NF-A—-H 6,958,966 919,142 - - - - 7,878,108
Additions ®E 2,192,267 868,814 - - - - 3,661,081
Acquisition of subsidliaries (note 30)  MEE K &2 7 (FIFE30) - - 121,575 14,209 3,070 - 138,874
Exchange realignment ERBE (207,518) (41,448) (,737) (596) (129) - (274,425)
At 31 December 2019 RZB-nE+-A=1+—H 9,523,715 1,746,511 116,838 13,633 2,941 - 11403638
Accumulated amortisation: 2iHBH:
At 1 January 2019 R-2-h%-A-H 337,577 54,100 - - - - 391,686
Charge for the year AEEX M 199,294 30,007 12,469 1,744 1,505 - 245,109
Exchange realignment R AE (12,172) (1,964) (282) (40) (34) - (14,49)
At 31 December 2019 RZB-nE+-A=+—-8H 524,699 82,242 12,187 1,704 1,471 - 622,303
Net carrying amount: FEFE:
At 31 December 2019 WZE-AF+-A=t-A 8,999,016 1,664,269 104,651 11,929 1,470 - 10,781,335




17.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Notes:

(@)

According to the supplementary circular on issues related to
the “Opinions on promoting the healthy development of non-
hydro renewable power generation” (Caijian [2020] No 426)
(ANMREIFKABEREREEREERNETER)EHES
TH 1y # FE 8 AN) issued during the year ended 31 December
2020, the Group will not be entitled to the renewable energy
tariff subsidy for certain projects either when the operation
period exceeds certain years or when lifetime operation
hours exceed certain hours, whichever is earlier. In light of
the above, management performed impairment assessment
on the assets within the scope of the supplementary
circular.

These assets have been allocated to individual cash
generating units (“CGUs”) in the integrated biomass
utilisation, and solar energy and wind power segments. The
operating plants under each service concession agreement is
identified as a CGU. The recoverable amounts of each CGU
to which these assets allocated were determined based on
fair value less cost of disposal (“FVLCD”) calculations using
the discounted cash flow method.

Based on the FVLCD calculations, impairment losses of
certain intangible assets in the integrated biomass utilisation
segment of HK$216,723,000 has been recognised for the
year ended 31 December 2020. No impairment loss on
right-of-use assets and property, plant and equipment was
made for the year ended 31 December 2020. The aggregate
recoverable amounts of the relevant CGUs with impairment
loss recognised amounted to HK$2,287,963,000. The fair
value measurement was categorised under Level 3 with
significant unobservable inputs.

Under the discounted cash flow method, fair value is
estimated based on projection of a series of cash flows from
the perspective of market participants covering projection
periods of the remaining service concession periods which
are stipulated in the respective service concession
agreements. A market-derived discount rate is applied to the
projected cash flows in order to establish the present value
of the cash flows.

Key assumptions used in FVLCD calculations of the relevant
CGUs with impairment losses recognised in 2020 include
revenue annual growth rate, operating costs and discount
rates. Revenue is projected with a constant unit price and
processing volume at growth rates of 5% to 8% per annum
(till reaching optimal production effectiveness) over the
projection periods. Operating expenses are expected to
increase at a rate of 2.8% per annum which is the long term
inflation rate. The pre-tax discount rates applied to the cash
flow projections range from 13.5% to 17.5%.

il
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FEXXGERERAERAT
T THEFR

BB HEME

BVEE (&)

B

(@)

BESE_T-_TF+_A=+—HILHF
EREMNENME#EIEK ] BAERRES
BEEZRNETEA)EBIENEAR
AN (Bf 22[2020]42657% ) + 74 & B 5 & iE 5
MEAETEESEHEEREBAET
IR (UREERE)  TBEEETHE
BRI BARREBME - ﬁ##it
F BREHERERANSBEANEEE
THREIETE -

ZEEREENDREEMEGATA - R
BHERRESMANENRCEL SN
(ReEELEM]) - SRBIFFR S
AENMEENTHAREAREELE
I - ZEEECHRENEREELEN
Y AT E 5 BB TSR B A o (BB AR AR
(RAERHERAK]FE  EAMKRR

%/}\Li/ﬁ%fﬁ 2

BRBEARBREEKATE  £VMELRE
MASHBETEREERBEBERSE
216,723,000 CEREE T — f¢+_
A=+t—RLEFERER - BHmds
e s = e EEEFW I 48 B AE

REBERYE  BEEREFELFEEE
ERE  CHEIREBENEERSES

Bz /Y A] Y [B] 42 & 58 7B 5 2,287,963,000

T DAERENERE=R FEXT
ABRBARE -
RIBMBRRESNEL  ARERE—FT

BenEMNRALHIS2EENAEZ M
At RS RIS TR S AR E RO R
R AR TS 5 R AR 2 AR O TRORI HAR) - 3R
MISPTEMMRRIRBRLRE - UL
Ren8HRE-

TR CTFEHRAREBENERESE
EBENNARBEREEXATEMANE
THEABEFERSERE AERAR
AEIR K o 88| HA ] W 2 1 [ oE B2 1B iR 12
ENTFESHEIUNERRER (HEE
Bl ERpL) TER - B BRBHGEEE
HBIRERETF28%ER - BRARBEESRE
FERMBAA IR XEE N F13.5% =
17.5% ©
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JiG.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(@)

(Continued)

Key assumptions used are made with reference to historical
data of existing projects, observable market data of
comparable companies and industry reports, management
expectation for the market development and is consistent
with their business plans. The discount rates used are the
pre-tax rates that reflect the current market assessments of
the time value of money and the specific risks relating to the
relevant CGUs.

A significant increase (decrease) in the revenue growth rate
in isolation would result in a significant increase (decrease) in
the fair value of the relevant CGUs. A significant increase
(decrease) in the discount rate and inflation rate in isolation
would result in a significant decrease (increase) in the fair
value of the relevant CGUs.

As at 31 December 2020, there were certain projects that
had not commenced operation, the amount of the project
operating rights of these projects was HK$1,763,796,000
(2019: HK$2,156,941,000). The cash inflows of the operating
rights as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are mainly due
from local government authorities in the PRC with no history
of default, and accordingly management considers the credit
risk of such projects to be insignificant.

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

Share of net assets

e
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/ﬁ?ﬁg176379600075(_ ﬁﬁ /%”#%‘
2,156,941,0007T) - R_ZE_ZTF K —

)L R =y EZ\S%M*ngE@/m)\
F 2R EE BT EN - W EE
Z’Mﬂﬁ WJH:E.EJEWD u~u/<—rIEEEI‘]1:|
[B g EK o

N

o7
N
|

H

T E#

2020

2019
—E-0%
HK$’000
BT

—z-®f

HK$’000
BT T

44,632 61,177




FEXXGERERAERAT
ZECTEFR

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A SRR B AT
18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 18. A& ¥R (&)
Particulars of the Group’s joint ventures are as follows: REBEEPEZHBOT

Place of Group’s
incorporation Particulars of effective
and business paid-up capital interest
a9

Held by a
subsidiary  Principal activities

Held by the

Name of joint ventures Company

AR BAGHE

EBG SUEZ Environmental Services (Changzhou) PRC
Co., Limited (‘EBG SUEZ (Changzhou)")
(formerly known as: Everbright SITA Solid
Waste Treatment (Changzhou) Limited (“SITA

RMB110,000,000 50% - 50% Design, construction, operation and maintenance
of hazardous waste incineration project

(Changzhou)’)
REEFLRERE (BN BRAR B AR%110,000,0007T 50% - 50% #if B EEREERENAER
(Hn%ﬁ?i(’%d\ )BT - 7 Kﬂ}%l@
E(EM) BRARATFHEEMN])
EBG K. Wah Solid Waste Treatment Holdings Hong Kong HK$10,000 51% - 51%  Investment holding
Limited (‘EBGKW")
KEEBEREERERAR (REEE]) BE A%10,0007C 51% - 51% REARR

FIEEEENRIFLMEAER  UE
BB o

All the joint ventures are unlisted corporate entities whose
quoted market prices are not available.

TREALFEEBENERANAEEES LD
EOBRBYHER

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
information of the Group’s joint ventures that are not

individually material:

2020
—E-gH

—=—=

HK$°000
BT

Share of profits/(losses) of joint ventures b ERERT,

(E518) (19,464)
Share of total comprehensive income/(loss) FiihaeEt®EEA
of joint ventures WA (E518) $a%58 (15,828)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s AEEREEREZ
interests in joint ventures B AREE 44,632

2019
e
HK$’000
ST
9,890

8,595

61,177
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19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 19, Bt N AR

2019

—B-%F T F

HK$’000 HK$’000

BET T BT

Share of net assets FEAG & E 55 165,415 76,621
Particulars of the associates are as follows: g Nm ZFBOT

Proportion of ownership interest
3 11

Place of Group’s
incorporation Particulars of effective  Held by the Held by a
Name of associates and business paid-up capital interest Company subsidiary  Principal activities
3. BARA i
A A
Anging Jinghuan Green Environment Solid PRC RMB141,000,000 49% - 49% Design, construction, operation and
Waste Comprehensive Disposal Co. Ltd. maintenance of hazardous and solid
(“Anging Solid Waste”) waste treatment project (note i)
RERBRGERGERGARERRAR HE AR #141,000,0007C 49% - 49% REt - RE - EEREELERERREER
(TZEERE]) (Bff &5i)
Nanjing Liuhe Jasmine Green Energy PRC RMB160,000,000 441% - 441% Financing, construction, operation
Company Limited* (“Nanjing Liuhe”) maintenance and management in urban

household waste business services and
power generation transmission and

supply (note ii)
BRABRHZEERERAR hE AR #160,000,0007T 44.1% - 441% FHEEUREERBLES HERHEE
(MERAED BHRE  #R B gENEE
(Bff &)
x For identification only * EH3 5
Notes: B &E -
0] The Group made capital contributions of approximately (i) NBE=FNE = A=F=H1F%
HK$22,467,000 to Anging Solid Waste during the year ended EASEMTEREIENSE
31 December 2019. As at 31 December 2020, capital 22,467,000t R =—_ZE_FTF+ = A
contribution of HK$81,837,000 (2019: HK$76,621,000) was =E+—H BERAZBERRTERE
made to the associate. The Group has significant influence BRSSO 0O s (== [ e 5
over Anging Solid Waste’s management, including 76,621,0007T) ° IRIERE E BE 2 HEE
participation in the financial and operating policy decisions, BHA - AEBEHTEERNEERE(R21E
pursuant to the Articles of Association of Anging Solid Waste. SHEPHEREBHRRARE) EEAFE
Accordingly, Anging Solid Waste is classified as an associate 7o Bt - REEER S E AN SRS

N

of the Group. /NCT R
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INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(0

(i)

(Continued)

Anging Solid Waste was established by the Group with
Beijing Environment Limited in the PRC, the other investor to
this associate, to enhance the harmless disposal ability of
hazardous waste of Anging City.

Anging Solid Waste is an unlisted corporate entity whose
quoted market price is not available.

The Group made capital contributions of approximately
HK$83,578,000 (2019: Nil) to Nanjing Liuhe during the year
ended 31 December 2020. The Group has significant
influence over Nanjing Liuhe’s management, including
participation in the financial and operating policy decisions,
pursuant to the Articles of Association of Nanjing Liuhe.
Accordingly, Nanjing Liuhe is classified as an associate of the
Group.

Nanjing Liuhe was established by the Group with Nanjing
Liuhe Environment Company Limited* in the PRC, the other
investor to this associate, to improve the environmental
quality, enhance efficiency in the construction and operation
of environmental facilities, and to effectively alleviate the
investment (financing), design, construction, operation,
maintenance and delivery work relating to household waste
treatment in Liuhe District, Nanjing.

Nanjing Liuhe is an unlisted corporate entity whose quoted
market price is not available.

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial

information of the Group’s associates that are not individually
material:

TRUPN
19. Bign
D)

B
(0

(i)

Share of total comprehensive income/(loss) of FriEie & AR 2 M
associates WA (E1B) 858

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s AEBRBE R T2
interests in associates W AR (E

‘”EI \/ :b
At (&)

(%)

AEBEILRBRIFHRQF (LB E QA
ZR—REAZE)RT BRI L EERE - A
MRLEMRERENEZEEL

ZEEBERIELTEAER  UETSR
NGRS =5 Skpbaae= = arepEficts

E AEBERBEBRAGIENBE
83,678,000 (—F— /1.4 : )  RIEF
/?\/\DZQ‘EQ‘&E% #BEA - ZS%ELTF:JE'\/\
ENERE(BE2 RV R EEBRMNR
RIABRTZEN A ERAEHED
HAREEBERNT -

$%§|§Erﬁﬁ/‘?\/\m£&ﬁ7ﬁﬁﬁ j(lﬂ:ﬁﬁ?%
RAIZ B —REE) T B RS
& URERREE R RBERRE
R EENE *ﬁ‘&%ﬁﬁﬁ‘éam/\m [
EFENFERIEME AR () & - Rt &
®EE BENBRRTE-

MRANBRIFLETEANER  LETHR

8o

T%F’ﬁﬂi’[?&%ﬂ% EDNGIENE SET N
MBI EER

2020 2019
—z-Tf —nEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
5,216 (2,062)
165,415 76,621

K For identification only

: EHHAS
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20.

Bals:

INVENTORIES

20. &

2020 2019
—B-%F T F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Raw materials and operating supplies R R REZR R 214,749 219,835
Finished goods BIRY oh 3,744 8,556
218,493 228,391
CONTRACT ASSETS 21. 64

2020 2019
—ECoSfE —T—hF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B BT T PE T I
Service concession assets RIS SRS E (a) 6,789,387 4,225,112
Unbilled renewable energy tariff RAZZEAHERERE (b)
subsidy RGN 3,162,113 2,561,239
Environmental remediation contract RIFEBEGHNEE (©)
assets 312,203 217,435
10,263,703 7,003,786
Impairment 18 (7,927) -
10,255,776 7,003,786
Less: Non-current portion B FERNHAEE
— Service concession assets — R
BE (6,310,283) (3,962,637)
Current portion BN EREE 5> 3,945,493 3,041,149
Contract assets arising from B 1T B AR A5 F AT A i A
performance under construction ZHRBANRES L
contracts in connection with EEXENENEE -
service concession arrangements, HitAIEBREE]
which are included in “Intangible (f7E17)
assets” (note 17) 1,763,796 2,156,941
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21. CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued) 21. BHEBE (&

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of EHNEEREBERENEZHERNOT
contract assets are as follows:

2020
—EC-BF
HK$’000
BT T
At beginning of year F9] =
Impairment losses, net (note 8) FEIEEE T (WHEs) 7,524
Exchange realignment M H 5% 403
At end of year FR 7,927
Notes: B &E
(a)  Service concession assets arose from the Group’s revenue @ BREFEFCEREEELAEAERRBES
from construction services under certain BOT and BOO ?BOT&BOOK%FE%E’JE%HE%W&
arrangements and bear interest at rates ranging from 4.90% N =5 = SR RS qr IR
to 6.60% (2019: 4.90% to 6.60%) per annum as at 4.90%Z6. 60%EI’J¢T| FHE(ZE—A
31 December 2020. F : 4.90%%£6.60%) °
As at 31 December 2020, HK$4,623,440,000 (2019: R=T=FEF+=A=+—H  EE FfﬁJE
HK$3,400,221,000) relates to certain BOT and BOO EERE TBOTMBOOR B A B~ I8
arrangements with operations commenced. 75 ¥ 4,628,440,0007T (ZZF — N 4F ¢ /%’ﬁg
3,400,221,0007% ) °
Pursuant to the BOT and BOO arrangements, the Group RIZEBOT XBOOLHE * AEBREEHA
receives no payment from the local governments in Mainland TEERRAREZ B ([ZEAL KEX
China (the “Grantors”) during the construction period and IE - R E A H A IR AR R AR S B
instead receives service fees for the Group’s operation RAEERELRESWERSE E -

services when relevant services are rendered during the
operating periods.

The service concession assets are not yet due for payment R EREEMRIBAIM - Wi
and will be settled by the service fees to be received during BRZELHNESE HRKIRHREEE
the operating periods of the arrangements. Details of the i o RIG T SRR BRI B RE
service concession arrangements are disclosed in note 40 to MsE40 55 -

the financial statements.

All of the current portion of service concession assets is PRIGHFFT IS E A E 2 R B BN EE H Fa 5T
expected to be recovered within one year. R—FAYE -
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CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) The balance represents government on-grid tariff subsidy
receivables for certain integrated biomass utilisation projects
which newly commenced operations and arose from the
Group’s revenue from operations. The amounts will be billed
and settled upon the completion of government
administrative procedures pursuant to “Notice on Relevant
Review Work on the Project List of Renewable Energy Power
Generation Subsidies” (Caibanjian [2020] No. 6) (B8 5 & aJ
BARREEHARFEEREHMIIERNREA) issued by
the Ministry of Finance of the People’s Republic of China.

(c) The balance arose from performance under environmental
remediation contracts. Such contracts include payment
schedules which require stage payments over the service
periods once milestones are reached.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates for the measurement of the expected
credit losses of the contract assets are reference to the
credit ratings assigned on the respective province where the
counterparties belong to and the forward-looking factors to
reflect the effect of the external economic environment.
rates of contract assets are based on
geographical regions of various customer segments with

The provision

similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at
the reporting date about past events, current conditions and

forecasts of future economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s contract assets using a provision

matrix:

24

AMEE (&
i3t © (4)

b) HEHRARETHRAELNEVELEATNA
HRZEEBT LEEERE  EEBA
SEE LW - FRESREARLMBEG
HE MmN (ERNARA BERREEH
BIR BB ERZA M IENBA (B R
[2020]65%) FTER BT ITHF B 1% - KA
MR HER R -

© HAHABTREBEROMEL -ZFR
HERBRENRGRAAEDE T 22EHE
BIZE 5 B SRAO 1 5RET &) -

RESITRNEREAHNERBGEREEE
BHEEBR GHEENTEHEEER
AREMNBEXRN2EISHTMBANN
ERRFRA R RBRINFEEIR B EOA
BUERREE SHNEENBEXRES
EEBRUBSEEANTS D MNMELE
AE - ZAERRBENEER 2R ZE
BMEENAENBESZMH BRI EER
KEEANRNTAR 2 NS BRI ESH
BEEXFUEER -

TXUBEEREHIARAREANEE
ZEERBRZER

Expected credit loss rate TEHEEREL X 0.08%
Gross carrying amount (HK$’000) RERAEE (BB T L) 10,263,703
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) FEHEEEE (BETT) 7,927




FEXXGERERAERAT
ZECTEFR

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B35 R AR MY o

21.

22.

CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued)

The increase in the loss allowance was due to the increase
in the gross carrying amount of service concession assets
upon completion of new projects during the year ended 31
December 2020. The Group’s credit policy with contract
assets is disclosed in notes 2.4 and 38 to the financial
statements.

As at 1 January 2019, the balances of contract assets
amounted to HK$4,414,152,000. The increase in contract
assets in 2020 and 2019 was the result of increase in the
ongoing  service concession arrangements in  the initial
construction stage and more unbilled amount at the end of
the year.

BEBTORSHOFHER,RECENVABLES, :DEROSITE#Y, 22.

AND PREPAYMENTS

27

BHEE(E)

BE-_Z-_ZTE+-_A=+—BLEE"
EREBEEMDBERRE ST EEREE
MEMAERTER T IRIEN - KEE
BREHNEENEEBRNM B HREMN T
2.4 38 FE o

RZE—NF—A—H GHBELHS
WE4,414152,000Lc _E-_EF R T
—NEERNEEE NV BERERH#ET
PHRGETEEETHEMRERES
RARRSEMNER -

KBRS - HAbREMEIE - 2%
%8N B

2020 2019
—B=-%F T F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T Nk
Debtors JFE W AR R 2,294,824 714,916

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments EMEGIE ek
TE T I8 1,485,286 1,219,028
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries S NGRS 1,268 30,516
Loan to a non-controlling interest JEIERESER 25,021 22180
Amounts due from joint ventures JEU A & FRIE 16,117 -
3,822,516 1,986,640
Impairment f=! 4,172) (3,812)
3,818,344 1,982,828

Less: Non-current portion W IEENHAER 9
— Other receivables, deposits — HibEURIE -
and prepayments ek

AT FRIB (791,924) (580,802)
— Loan to a non-controlling interest — FFIERERER (25,021) (22,180)
(816,945) (602,982)
Current portion BN EREF 5> 3,001,399 1,379,846
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22. DEBTORS, OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 22. RN - HMEWNKIE - Zd

AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued) RIERTEIE (48)
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of ERERZEEBERECEHUOT

debtors are as follows:

2020 2019
—E-EF —T—hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
At beginning of year F4 3,812 1,939
Impairment losses, net (note 8) FEIEEEFE (MEs) 15 2,000
Exchange realignment bE 5 = 345 (127)
At end of year FR 4,172 3,812
An ageing analysis of the debtors, based on the date of BEREAH (N EERBHCIAREEAR
invoice (or date of revenue recognition, if earlier) and net of )T EW R BERE  BUIERFR R
loss allowance as at the end of the reporting period is as LHRZEREDTAT ¢
follows:

2020 2019
—B-®F T F
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT T ook i e
Within 1 month TNER—EA 1,703,520 269,187
More than 1 month but within 2 months HA—EmAR
ENGEER 75,253 112,467
More than 2 months but within 4 months HAMIE AR
NERMEA 83,109 87,208
More than 4 months but within 7 months HBBrYE AR
TZEREREA 98,907 86,545
More than 7 months but within 13 months HatEAR
TER+=1EH 177,487 77,489
More than 13 months BE+=1EA 152,376 78,208

2,290,652 711,104




22.

DEBTORS, OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Debtors are mainly due immediately to within 90 days from
the date of billing. Further details on the Groups credit
policy and concentrations of credit risk arising from
customers are set out in note 2.4 and 38.

The amounts due from fellow subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and the prepayments are expected to be
recognised as expenses within one year.

Included in the amounts due from joint ventures is a loan to
a joint venture of RMB5,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$5,923,000), which is unsecured, interest-bearing at
125% of Loan Prime Rate (“LPR”) in the PRC and
recoverable in 2021. The remaining balance is unsecured,
interest-free and recoverable within one year.

The loan to a non-controlling interest is secured by its
equity interest in a non-wholly owned subsidiary, interest
bearing at 110% of the rates announced by the People’s
Bank of China and recoverable by December 2022.

All of the current portion of the above balances were
expected to be recovered or recognised as expenses within
one year.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using the probability of default approach to measure
expected credit losses. The provision rates are based on
days past due for groupings of various customer segments
with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at
the reporting date about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions. Debtors are written
off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor does not have
assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient
cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

FEXXGERERAERAT
ZECTEFR

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HEME

22, MEUERFK - HAEINFIE « e

K FAN TR ()

RURERTEMEZAHES N TEART
H - AHASEEERRAREPELANE
ERBEPHNE-FHBHRME24R
38 °

EURRMBARARAREER 28R
ZIAFANRIEA —F AR RFAX °

M—RXRAELEREBNERARE
5,000,0007T (#8 5 74 7% #5,928,0007T ) &+
ABWEELERIE ZEEREER
RHBEERMISHREFE ([LPR]) 125%5T
BEEREAIR=ZZ = —FIE - R A EER -
2B RAR—FRYE -

MFERERESE —HFE2ERB AR
ZREEER  ZPBARBITAHAM A
EHI0%FT ERAARZEZ_F+=HHA
U -

SR A MO BEHER —F R
WEHERBFX

AEBENEERE B MEREOR LS
TTRBEDN - UFTERHEEER - BEX
DEREBBEUBBREANZEAZF DR
MRl ZBMAETE BHFERRIRARK
MEER SEFREELNREBHA
BZAEBAEEMN  BEAIRRERREE
BRBAZABRBAREBEZEFR - BKER
TR A B AT BE Uk [B] 3 SRR T LAMSH (3D
DREH) c WERBEEAKEEEER
AT EEESRARREANEETR RNE
EREEERTHME IS -
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22. DEBTORS, OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 22. FEUWEE - HibEIRIE - 14
AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued) NIEfTFIE (&)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk TS LA $B 4 6 e 2 51| A5 [ N = [ E Uk BE 2k
ZIEERBZER -

exposure on the Group’s debtors using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2020

R-B-BE+-H=1-8

Past due
k]

Within

Current 1 year

0 —FR

Expected credit loss rate REEEBBILE 0.15% 0.15% 0.91%

Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BEREE(BETT) 1,828,121 358,686 108,017 2,294,824
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) BHEEER(BETT) 2,667 523 982 4,172

As at 31 December 2019

s el e U R ]

Past due
Within
Current 1 year
Gl —FR
Expected credit loss rate BHEEBBLEX 0.22% 0.24% 3.77%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BEREEBETI) 388,156 265,038 61,722 714,916
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) BHEEEB(BBTT) 856 628 2,328 3,812
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B 53R % M 2F
23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 23. WEMRFEYWAEERER

PLEDGED DEPOSITS

2020 2019
—ECoEE —E—-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Cash and bank balances W& RIRITHEER 2,207,060 1,884,647
Time deposits and pledged bank FEHRBEMRITIFR
deposits 519,993 1,012,839
2,727,053 2,807,486
Less: Pledged bank deposits B BEIFIRITER () (219,415) (189,847)
Time deposits with maturity T BB =EA (b)
period over three months 2 EHFR (1,663) (22,180)
Cash and cash equivalents RehBESEEYD (©) 2,505,975 2,685,459
Notes: B EE
(@)  Pledged bank deposits are mainly pledged to secure certain @ EBEMARTEREZCRFEALAEEE

bank loans of the Group (note 25) and are pledged to banks
for the issuance of guarantees by the banks to the Grantors
in respect of the specific performance of the duties by the
Group under certain service concession agreements.

Deposits with banks with maturity period over three months
are not included in cash and cash equivalents.

Included in “Cash and cash equivalents” are deposits of
HK$309,853,000 (31 December 2019: HK$403,569,000)
placed with a bank, which is a fellow subsidiary of the
Group, as at 31 December 2020.

TIRTER (M5E25) 2B M - ARAR
ETRITHRAREES TIREFFFE 2%
Bk T 2 15 T B A B (E M A4 A B HL 2
& MEERTARRT -

A6 RASSENL B AFRDBB=
882 BTEHR -

(Re kRSB BER-_Z=2ZF
+ZA=+—BERR—EET(BLE
BE-—HREMNBRAR)ZHERBE
309,853,000t (ZE—NF+=—A=+—
A : 7 #403,569,0007T) °
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23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

PLEDGED DEPOSITS (Continued)

Pledged bank deposits and deposits with banks earn
interest at the respective time deposit rates and are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”)
amounted to HK$2,123,903,000 (2019: HK$1,959,409,000).
The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for
varying periods of between one day and three months
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term time
deposit rates. The bank balances and times deposits are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

28"

HekBReSFEBEYMNEEBERFR
(&)

EEMRITERLRITEREZEEEHF
REERBAE - Y ERAREERFAER
HAAp M8 WO 4D 8% 2 ERTT o

RIBESHR AEBUARE(TARE])
HFEZESRERRTERBEE
2,123,903,000 . (ZEE— L &F : &K
1,959,409,0007T) ° ARKETEE B B X IRAK
Ha & o A - RIBPBEKECINEE 2
) RAETE - SERMEEERE) &
SENSRERELCEINERELE 2 RITH
AREE H Hpk B fh B -

RITRBRIDEXROAE  MEBE
XDRBERTGHEBEEXREE - RIAE
SEZAEREFKME  HHERFR
ZEFANF—RE=ZEATF - AIZHE
B HE M B EREA B - RITAEER
MEMERDERREER T AOHL &
BRI ZIRIT -
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24. CREDITORS, OTHER PAYABLES AND
ACCRUED EXPENSES

24. FEFTERFR - EAl R 5A K B AT
£H

2020 2019
—E-EH —T—nF
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Creditors FERTER X
— third parties - = 2,619,974 2,126,266
— fellow subsidiaries — RZRKERA 23,254 12,005
Other payables and accrued expenses o FE R FRIE K
et E A 1,347,102 824,844
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries JE 1< [B) Z B J&8 1 B 3R IA 892 618
Amount due to a non-controlling interest JE A< FE 42 A% 4 25 BN IE 1,273 —
Deferred income — government grants EEWA —
BT 68 BY & 129,041 138,669
4,121,536 3,102,402
Less: Non-current portion B FERNEARS o
— Deferred income — government grants — BREWA —
B #Bh& (71,559) (54,318)
— Other payables and accrued expenses — Hitb eI IR
LIEETE R (79,009) (58,927)
(150,568) (118,245)
Current portion BIEAEL > 3,970,968 2,989,157
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24. CREDITORS, OTHER PAYABLES AND
ACCRUED EXPENSES (Continued)

Included in “Creditors, other

payables and accrued
expenses” are creditors with the following ageing analysis
based on the date of invoice as at the end of the reporting
period:

24, FEMHBEAK - A AR A 3OR R pE A
%7 (8)

[EAER  HMENFEREFER]E

EEAER AR RO M ERB SN
KZEBAFMT -

2020 2019

—E_EHF —T—NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT T

Within 6 months NE AR 2,396,749 1,913,174
More than 6 months JNE R LA B 246,479 225,097
2,643,228 2,138,271

Creditors totaling HK$1,951,163,000 (2019: HK$1,594,892,000)
as at 31 December 2020 represent construction payables for
the Group’s BOT and certain BOO arrangements.

Creditors due to fellow subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-

free and repayable in accordance with the contract terms.

The amounts due to fellow subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

The amount due to a non-controlling interest is unsecured,
interest-free and repayable within one year.

R-ZE_ZTF+-_A=+—8 EHEX
4 H5#1,951,163,000C (=T —LF : 6
#1,594,892,0007T) B A K EBOTK & T
BOOZR Bt ) & 1 3 3 3XE ©

FE& 1 [R) 2 Pl /B8 22 B B9 FE A5 R 5K SR 4K
2B RBEANGRER -

EANRRMBRBAREASEER 28R
RIMBESRKEE -

EN RS R BAREER 28 RA
R—FREE-



FEXXGERERAERAT
ZECTEFR

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7 3R 3k BT &
24. CREDITORS, OTHER PAYABLES AND 24. FEBRER - Efth BT F00E K St
ACCRUED EXPENSES (Continued) ER (=)
Deferred income represents government grants received to BERAEREERBE_S_TF+=
subsidise the construction of property, plant and equipment A=+T—HLEFEARBNES @S -
of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2020, of REAEEERZEYE - WEKZE - A4
which an amount of HK$3,957,000 (2019: HK$3,157,000) BEAE 3,057,000 E st ABREEBER
was credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss. —Z— N4 : B#3,157,0007T) ° WELZ
There were no unfulfiled conditions and other contingencies LRSS W EMBRER G R HE A
attached to the receipts of those grants. E£IH o
25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 25. FFRIRITREMEE
BORROWINGS
31 December 2020 31 December 2019
“Z-BF+-A=t-H NE+=A=t+—-H
Maturity HK$'000 Maturity HK$000
L BETR 2| 5 BETT
Current BN
Bank loans — secured BIER — BER 2021 or on demand 871,866 2020 or on demand 920,529
“E--EHRER TECRERIRER
Bank loans — unsecured BITER — EHE 2021 or on demand 1,442,840 2020 or on demand 1,101,810
—E--EHRER ZEZTEREER
Loan from a non-controliing interest FERERER — BER - 2020 16,635
— unsecured S 33
2,314,706 2,038,974
Non-current N
Bank loans — secured BIER — BER 2022-2032 7,694,188 2021-2032 5,552,115
ZE_CFBCE=CF R -fFIF=CF
Bank loans — unsecured BITER — BEF 2022-2027 4,438,298 2021-2027 3,520,322
“ECCEE-ECLF ZECT-FECT LR
Loans from an intermediate holding —FEFEERARER 2022 1,302,950 2022 443,600
company — unsecured — B et -3 —F-CF
Medium-term notes — unsecured FERE — EIEF (:T26) 2023 1,183,231 -
(note 26) —B-=f
14,618,667 9,516,037

16,933,373 11,655,011
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25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 25. sTBERTREMEESE (&)
BORROWINGS (Continued)

2020 2019
—EEF —ZT-hNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T ks a
Analysed into: AT
Bank and other loans repayable: AR TFEHEEEZEZ
RITREMER
Within one year or on demand —F AR EK 2,314,706 2,038,974
In the second year B _F 3,176,575 1,243,437
In the third to fifth years, inclusive EZZEZFERF
(BREREMF) 6,719,612 5,501,097
Beyond five years AFE 3,539,249 2,771,503
15,750,142 11,555,011
Medium-term notes repayable: AR TS EEEE .
PEIEIR
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F_EFERF
(BIEEEMF) 1,183,231 —
Certain banking facilities of the Group are secured by certain AEEETRITHENEBAASERBE S
revenue, contract assets and receivables in connection with RS R TS BHNEENE
the Group’s service concession arrangements, property, plant WHIE « AEEZYE  BEESERER
and equipment and right-of-use assets of the Group. Such BEEERR R _TF+-_A=+—
banking facilities amounting to HK$12,357,266,000 (2019: H  F#RTEE2E AR B
HK$9,877,121,000) as at 31 December 2020 were utilised to 12,357,266,000 c (—ZE— NF : B
the extent of HK$8,566,054,000 (2019: HK$6,472,644,000). 9,877,121,000T) r HHE A B
8,566,054,000L(ZF— L& &%
6,472,644,0007T) °
The unsecured banking facilities of HK$9,681,631,000 RZZEZZTF+ZH=+—H  EEAR
(2019: HK$7,546,649,000) as at 31 December 2020 were TR E £ % A5 %9,681,631,0007T (= F
utilised to the extent of HK$5,881,138,000 (2019: — N4 : B¥57,546,649,0007T) - EFEE
HK$4,622,132,000). FA#&%5,881,138,0007T (=T — /14 : B¥

4,622,132,0007T) °



25.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)

All of the non-current bank loans are carried at amortised
cost. None of the non-current bank loans is expected to be
settled within one year.

The loans from an intermediate holding company as at 31
December 2020 included:

(i) a shareholder’'s loan of a principal amount of
RMB400,000,000 (equivalent to HK$473,800,000)
(2019: HK$443,600,000),
interest-bearing at 85% of the rates announced by the
People’s Bank of China (2019: interest-bearing from
85% of the rates announced by the People’s Bank of
China) and repayable in 2022; and

which is unsecured,

(i) a shareholder’'s loan of a principal amount of
RMB700,000,000 (equivalent to HK$829,150,000)
(2019: Nil), which is unsecured, interest-bearing at
LPR in the PRC minus 0.45% and repayable in 2022.

Included in “bank and other borrowings” as at 31
December 2019 was a loan from a non-controlling interest
of HK$16,635,000, which was unsecured, interest-bearing
at the rates announced by the People’s Bank of China and

repayable within one year.

25.

FEXXGERERAERAT
ZECTEFR

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HEME

SBRTREMEE (B)

P SEBN B SR 1T B SRR SH A AN B B - 41
EIERNVASRITERFEHN —F RN -

()  AeFAR400,000,0007T (FHER
75 #473,800,0007T) (ZE—N4F : B
#443,600,0007T) MR EFK * 2%
ERAEER  RPBEARRITAM
W FR85%:t B (—E—NFE: hEH
ARBRITAMEFEBE%TE) - B
ER-_TE-_—_FEBE &

iy AN&EAR700,000,0007C (FHER
75 #829,150,0007T) (=T — N F ¢

BINBRRESR  ZEEX/EE
o P BILPRIO0.45%t B - BB
R-ZFB__4FEE-

FE1E IR 2 B 5006 % 16,635,0007T 5F AR
“E-NAFT A=+ BOIRITREM
fEE]  ZZERHEER BPEARR
TRHONEFS - BZEAR—FREE -
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25.

26,

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)

At 31 December 2020, bank loans of HK$242,942,000
(2019: HK$244,449,000) are due to a bank, which is a
fellow subsidiary of the Group which are secured,
interest-bearing at rates ranging from 90% to 100% (2019:
ranging from 90% to 100%) of the rates announced by the
People’s Bank of China and will be settled by instalment
until 2028.

MEDIUM-TERM NOTES

Non-current JEBPHA
Medium-term notes — unsecured RHIEE —

25

2

IR

AtBRTTREMEER (&)

R—_E_TF+=-_A=+—H EHF—
MRT(RAEEN—ERRZMBAR) 2
RITEFB 242,942 0007 (T — N &
75 #5244,449,0007T) BB EA - BN TR
Bl ARBITAMEE 290%E100% (= F
—NEF N FW%E100%)HE F WHER
ZZEZNFHIDHEE -

FHRIE

2020 2019
—NF
HK$’000

BETT

—E-FF
HK$°000
BT

1,183,231 —

On 1 April 2020, the Company entered into an underwriting
agreement with the relevant financial institutions in relation
to the proposed issue of RMB-denominated medium-term
notes with an aggregate principal amount of not exceeding
RMB3.5 billion (equivalent to approximately HK$3.8 billion)
(the “Medium-term Notes”) to the qualified investors in the
PRC.

R-ZB_ZTHFNA—H FRAEFHE
MEEABEATESERREERTAS
BB ARE3SET (MBFNEK3S

T0) BAAREFHENTFHRRE ((HHE
BRI BiH = o
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26. MEDIUM-TERM NOTES (Continued)

275

On 12 June 2020 (the “Issue Date”), the Group issued the
first tranche of the Medium-term Notes with a principal
amount of RMB1,000,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,184,500,000), before related expenses of
RMB1,330,000, with a maturity period of five years from the
Issue Date. The first tranche of the Medium-term Notes
bears interest at a rate of 3.68% per annum and the
interest will be repayable by the Group annually from the
Issue Date and up to the maturity date. According to the
terms of the Medium-term Notes, the Group is entitled to
adjust the interest rate of the Medium-term Notes after
three years from the Issue Date for the remaining 2 years
before the maturity date. The Group will announce the
adjustment of interest rate, if any, ten working days prior to
the payment of interest for the third year. The bondholders
have an option to sell the Medium-term Notes back to the
Group at a nominal price and the exercisable period of this
option is within five working days after the issuance of the
Group’s announcement related to the adjustment of interest
rate.

DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax (assets)/liabilities and assets
during the year are as follows:

206.

27§

HEIRE (E)

R-ZT-_ZTF A+ B (%TEH])
AEBMBETE—PTIHEE  ASEAEA
R % 1,000,000,0007C (8 & R & &
1,184,500,00070) (1B A E A AR K
1,330,0007C A1) - BARR A B 817 B A B &
AF - F—HFRHAEEMNFHEAE3.68% -
FMEBRBASERRTANEIHBES
FFLAEE - BEBEFHEENER  ~5E
ERNBTHHEBH R =-F%  FAERE
HHMBRTMFERAZENFE - AEE
BRE=FFEMRIT+EIERXAHA
BRE(MEB) BEFHEANRENER
BERETHEENE FTASERGREE
AITEHARNEBEBRARINENRET)
BERAEIIERRA -

BT TR

EEFHE(BE) ABEREERFRALE
BT

Temporary
differences
on assets Temporary
recognised differences Fair value
under arising from adjustments
HK(IFRIC) impairment of arising from  Undistributed
Interpretation intangible  acquisition of profits of
12 assets subsidiaries subsidiaries Others
RE(ES
(ERRBRE
REZE®)
- RB)E125 EREE WEHEBARE
BAZEEZE HEEXE £2 WEAR
KER ZERER ARERE ADEER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BETT
At 1 January 2019 RZZE-NF
—A—-A 593,643 - - 35,910 (6,327) 623,226
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss EREMNB/ Gt A) 262,998 - (4,304) 21,115 (4,017) 275,792
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 30) U BB I 1 A)
(Fi#£30) - - 59,678 - (9,347) 50,331
Exchange realignment EHAR (19,602) - (1,579) (1,331) 531 (21,981)
At 31 December 2019 and RZE-NF
1 January 2020 +-A=+—H
R-Z-ZF
—HR—H 837,039 - 53,795 55,694 (19,160) 927,368
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss EREINR /Gt A) 286,713 (54,181) (4,902) (6,801) 1,291 222,120
Exchange realignment ERIECE S 69,906 (2,901) 3,400 3,427 (1,235) 72,597
At 31 December 2020 R-Z-2F
+ZA=+—H 1,193,658 (57,082) 52,293 52,320 (19,104) 1,222,085
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27. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial
position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax
balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:

27. ELEFIIE (&)

BTEREN AETEEHRBEERAE
BRI RFPIES - TRART R
HMEMMEAEBRELEHBLRIELZ D
#r

2020 2019
—E-ZF —NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT

Deferred tax assets recognised in the iR E BB R HER
consolidated statement of financial position FEEFRIBE E 64,467 29,396

Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the RErE Bk & 1R

consolidated statement of financial position FIERIBEE (1,286,552) (956,764)
(1,222,085) (927,368)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from
1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there
is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction
of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate
is 5%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on
dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in
Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from
1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2020, the aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in
Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not
been recognised was approximately HK$282,724,000 (2019:
HK$208,519,000). In the opinion of the directors, it is not
probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings
in the foreseeable future.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

REPBESEMEBE R BARERL
ZOBEEMIBREETRRER &
B10% 2 HEBRBEMH - ZHER=-F
ENF-—A—HEBER YERAR-FZ
TtET A=+ HZBELEZEN - fi
ERBEAREEBRINEKREEPTEBAE
BRI AHRBERGHE R EAEREZE
HHER - NEB 2 BERABEK5% - Bt -
AEBEARPREAREXNZZMBEARAE -
FENF-A-—BERELEZERNMDIRZ
B S TEM -

R-ZE-_ZTF+_A=+—H BEER
B K BE B B R R AR B A 1 R FE SRR R
HEGBNEREZELBNABE
282,724,000t (=& — L& : B %
208,519,0007) *EER A RA B
R ZEMNBRRNAKAIRED RZEFE o

7% % ) 140 R B AR 5. 3 T B 245 £ ] i
BRER -
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28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. IR

2020 2019
—E-EF —T—hEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BT T BT T
Authorised: BER:
5,000,000,000 (2019: 5,000,000,000) 5,000,000,000 /%
ordinary shares of US$0.10 each —E-NF

5,000,000,0000% )
FIMEEOC.10E T

2 E A 3,891,500 3,891,500
Issued and fully paid: ERTREBEEHR
2,066,078,000 (2019: 2,066,078,000) 2,066,078,000%
ordinary shares —E-NF
2,066,078,000/%)
TR 1,608,029 1,608,029
29. RESERVES 29. B
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements AEERAFERBEFECRESER
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the HEHFBERUBRERPEI146E147TE 2
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 146 IREEREEFREY -
to 147 of the financial statements.
() Share premium (i) KH=HE
Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman *Eﬁfﬁﬁxﬁ%ﬂ ALEIERIA) + K
Islands, the fund in the share premium account of the NEIRDREEREANE LA 9K T A
Company is distributable to the shareholders of the ARIRR R EEREESRREH
Company provided that immediately following the date Mg ARREBRNEEBBED
on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, BRRRTASEIEREE -

the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts
as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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29. RESERVES (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of entities outside Hong Kong.

Other reserve

Other reserve comprises the difference between the
consideration paid for the acquisition of non-
controlling interests and the carrying amount of
non-controlling interests at the transaction date, less
the foreign exchange movements on translation of
those subsidiaries attributable to the non-controlling

interests.

Reserve fund

Statutory reserve — wholly-foreign-owned
enterprises

Subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC, which are
wholly-foreign-owned enterprises, follow the
accounting principles and relevant financial regulations
of the PRC applicable to wholly-foreign-owned
enterprises (“PRC GAAP — WFOE”) in the preparation
of its accounting records and financial statements.
Pursuant to the accounting regulations for business
enterprises (& % 2 &l £ B €(2000)25%%), the
subsidiaries are required to appropriate 10% of the
profit arrived at in accordance with PRC GAAP-WFOE
for each year to a statutory reserve. The profit arrived
at must be used initially to set off against any
accumulated losses. The appropriations to statutory
reserve, after offsetting against any accumulated
losses, must be made before the distribution of
dividends to equity owners. The appropriation is
required until the statutory reserve reaches 50% of
the registered capital. This statutory reserve is not
distributable in the form of cash dividends but may be
used to set off losses or be converted into paid-in
capital.

28

s (&)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

BE 7= 18
L RERRREEERIIER
BRRAMELEZFABINEE L ER °

H o 18

A 5 1 0 4 O SR IR 25 A £
(R ERIE R 252052 5 E R0 T
B2 MR - R IR
EORERBATZINEELES -

B
EERE — RN ELE

AEBUNPEZHBAR (2INE
EE)RBEERRINEBEREZT
EestRAREBUHEESR (HERQ
REARY — 2HBERE] - HE
S RBLTBEERR RE(EEE
FHHIE B & (2000)255%) + B A RIZA
BFEERTFBEAREFRA — 250
BRRAEMSZENES10%S] 5
ERERE - BN MAE KM UEH
ERRAEE - REEIEAEFN (B
MBRER R BER) BAERHER
FRIRRRAEER ADIKR B
RIE-—HEBBNELXTHE HEE
AEREESEMEARS0%ALE - it
EERBEBETAIARERBEADIK
HATRAREEERNAERSEHK
A o
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30. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 30. XB&EH
(a) Acquisition of Suntime Environmental (@ WwELH
On 12 December 2018, the Group entered into a RZE-—N\F+_A+=8 x£E
share transfer agreement with certain independent HETHEIE=AFI REEED
third parties to acquire 88.88% of the equity interests & URE AR 222,200,0007T (49
in Suntime Environmental, which is principally engaged HER B 257,197,0007T) Wi MW
in the environmental remediation business in the PRC, IR1%88.88% i - A X ZEAH B
at a consideration of RMB222,200,000 (equivalent to ERBEBEELE - WHBERZZ—N
approximately HK$257,197,000). The acquisition was F-AZ+—HZEK - MEBRER
completed on 21 January 2019 and Suntime =% /NGO NGTIE
Environmental has become a subsidiary of the
Company.
Since the acquisition, Suntime Environmental BEREAR FHREREBEEZZS
contributed HK$205,775,000 to the Group’s revenue —NE+-_A=+—HBLEEFEERELS
and a profit of HK$26,878,000 to the consolidated B & Bf U = 8 #205,775,0007T © I
profit for the year ended 31 December 2019. RiRE BT R AR ¥ 26,878,000
7T|: o
Had the acquisition taken place on 1 January 2019, 1ﬁﬁ%§ﬂﬁlﬁﬁﬁ’\\:%@—ﬁd¢—ﬂ—ﬁ\
the consolidated revenue and profit for the year CTREEZE-NEF+=ZA=1+—
ended 31 December 2019 of the Group would have EIJJ:iF 0 $%@Z%ma”&ﬁﬁ&§ﬂ
been HK$9,301,558,000 and HK$1,624,251,000 1% 9 5l & 7 #9,301,558,000 7T & %
respectively. In determining these amounts, #:1,624,251,0007C - T EE ML F €
management assumed that the fair value adjustments B ERERSMWEERER=-Z
to the acquired assets and liabilities that arose on the —NF—RA—B%4% WEMSEE
date of acquisition would have been the same if the FeaERKEBEAMELEZ ARER

acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2019. BAAMER o
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30. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

(@) Acquisition of Suntime Environmental (a)
(Continued)

30. EHa bt (&)
g i - R R ()

RUERH - ERRRAHHIEE
MBEZAALBEWAT :

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities
of Suntime Environmental as at the date of acquisition
were as follows:

2019
—ET—NF

Fair value

recognised on

acquisition
Uiz B B 2R

ARE

HK$’000

BT T

Property, plant and equipment W BB M&E 16,666

Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 4,931

Intangible assets mEE 104,362
Debtors, other receivables, deposits and FEUTBR 3R - Eoqth jE U FRE -

prepayments e MBI RIA 40,920

Contract assets EHEE 82,996

Deferred tax assets B IEEE 342

Inventories EE 63

Cash and cash equivalents RehBeSEY 47,113
Creditors, other payables and accrued expenses  JEfTBR K - H B 038 &

fEEtE A (58,076)

Tax payables FEB A IE (2,713)

Deferred tax liabilities EEHIEAE (27,140

Total identifiable net assets at fair value AR EELFERARE) 209,464

Non-controlling interests IEERER (23,292)

186,172

Goodwill on acquisition WEEEE 2 EmE 71,025

Total consideration REBE 257,197
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30. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Acquisition of Suntime Environmental
(Continued)
Goodwill is mainly attributable to the synergies

expected to be achieved from integrating Suntime
Environmental into the Group’s existing businesses.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the
acquisition of a subsidiary is as follows:

30. X566 (&)
(a) MBS EEBE ()

BAEITERERP LARBEARH
REXGRERMESZHRME

BEHRBENB AR ZRERED TN
B

2019

—E-NF

HK$’000

BT T

Cash consideration HeRE 257,197

Cash and cash equivalents acquired FIiER S MR EEED (47,113

Payment made in 2018 RZZE—N\FHEH TR (50,479)
Consideration payable at 31 December 2019 RZE-NF+ZA=+—H

ZERRE (23,892)

135,713

Acquisition of Wuxi Technology

On 20 December 2018, the Group entered into a
share transfer agreement with certain independent
third parties to acquire 90% of the equity interests in
Wuxi Technology, which is principally engaged in the
integrated recycling and harmless disposal of
hazardous waste business in the PRC, at a
consideration of RMB180,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$206,120,000). The acquisition was
completed on 25 January 2019 and Wuxi Technology
has become a subsidiary of the Company.

Since the acquisition, Wuxi Technology contributed
HK$63,505,000 to the Group’s revenue and a loss of
HK$5,775,000 to the consolidated profit for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

Had the acquisition taken place on 1 January 2019,
the consolidated revenue and profit for the year
ended 31 December 2019 of the Group would have
been HK$9,282,913,000 and HK$1,620,401,000
respectively. In determining these amounts,
management assumed that the fair value adjustments
to the acquired assets and liabilities that arose on the
date of acquisition would have been the same if the
acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2019.

(b) WEEBENE

R_B—N\FE+=—A=1+H A&H
BETHYE = REEER
=& LUARE AR 180,000,000t (49
HE RN B206,120,0007T) Ye i 85
BHE90% M - HFEREPBEEL
EHRENAMEECEE R
WEER-_ZE—NE—A-_+HHB®E
B MEHEIEB K BARA R /B

NCII

BRBUAR EHGHERBEE_F
— g = B = = BUleEE E /a2
B B Bt U254 5 63,505,0007T © IF A
tRE BT TR E1EE#5,775,0007T °

WEBKBN _-_Z—hE—F—Hi#
o REE= = E = HE
AIEFE  AEBZHGEE WS RAF)
15 2 Bl &7 #9,282,913,000 7T M &
#51,620,401,0007C - FEE T U F &
HE EEEREMEEKBER-Z
—NE—H—B%4 WEMRBSEE
MEERKEBERELEZ ARER
BEANAMER o
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30. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued) 30. KB (&)

(b) Acquisition of Wuxi Technology (Continued) (b) WHEESGRE (F)
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities RIWE R BEHRT 2 R EE
of Wuxi Technology as at the date of acquisition were MEBEzZARBENT

as follows:

2019
—E—-NF

Fair value

recognised on

acquisition
Uiz B B5 FE 2R

ARE

HK$'000

BT T

Property, plant and equipment Y - WE RE&E 61,888

Right-of-use assets FREEE 28,090

Intangible assets mEE 34,512
Debtors, other receivables, deposits and FEUCBR 3R - E b fE UGROA

prepayments Be RIERIE 15,447

Deferred tax assets RERIEE &= 8,712

Inventories BE 12,574

Cash and cash equivalents BeNREeEEY 27,655
Creditors, other payables and accrued expenses — JEfTBR K - H fh B 5008 K&

EETER (3,027)

Tax payables FESFIE (593)

Deferred tax liabilities RIETIE A B (14,358)

Total identifiable net assets at fair value AR EELFERARE) 170,905

Non-controlling interests FE 2 I 2 (32,055)

Net assets acquired Frik B8 & = F 58 138,850

Goodwill on acquisition WEEmMEE 22 67,270

Total consideration REEE 206,120

Goodwill
expected to be achieved from

BAETEREBHESHZEAKHE
RAXBRERAERZ HRE -

is mainly attributable to the synergies
integrating  Wuxi
Technology into the Group’s existing businesses.
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B35 SRR B AF
30. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued) 30. EH%& 0t (&)
(b) Acquisition of Wuxi Technology (Continued) (b) WHEESGRE (&)
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the FHRBERNBARZRERES TN
acquisition of a subsidiary is as follows: S8

2019

—T—NF
HK$’000
BT T

Cash consideration HeRE 206,120
Cash and cash equivalents acquired iR LIRS EEY (27,655)
Consideration payable at 31 December 2019 RZE—NF+=ZA=+—H
ZERRE (61,836)
116,629
(c) Acquisition of Zhangjiagang Gelin (c) WiER=RBEM
On 29 July 2019, the Group entered into a share RZFE—hNFtA=-+hB £&EE
transfer agreement with certain independent third HBETBIYE=FLREEZR
parties to acquire 100% of the equity interests in % AR E A R #68,000,0007T (49
Zhangjiagang Gelin, which is principally engaged in the HEREE75,772,0007T) W KK
sewage water treatment business in the PRC, at a BB MA100%A%#E - B+ 2R ERKE
consideration of RMB68,000,000 (equivalent to BEKEBER - WEEN-_Z—N
approximately HK$75,772,000). The acquisition was FNAMHETEK °

completed on 4 September 2019.

Since the acquisition, Zhangjiagang Gelin contributed BUEEAR  RREBRMREBEZZS
HK$253,000 to Group’s revenue and a loss of — e = Bl = ar = EHIEEEE mane
HK$1,383,000 to the consolidated profit for the year B & Bt U 28 78 8 253,0007T @ I A 4R

ended 31 December 2019. & BT 2R B 18 8 % 1,383,000 7T ©
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30. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

(c)

Acquisition of Zhangjiagang Gelin
(Continued)

Had the acquisition taken place on 1 January 2019,
the consolidated revenue and loss for the year ended
31 December 2019 of the Group would have been
HK$9,280,964,000 and HK$1,619,140,000
In determining these amounts,
management assumed that the fair value adjustments

respectively.

to the acquired assets and liabilities that arose on the
date of acquisition would have been the same if the
acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2019.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities
of Zhangjiagang Gelin as at the date of acquisition

30. XA (&)

(c)

WRE R R B (AF)

MEBURBNR =-_T—NE—F—8i#
T REBE-_E—AF+=-_A=1+—
HIEFE AEB 26 W kEE
15 2 Bl A&7 #9,280,964,000 7T & %
#1,619,140,000c - EE X W E &
B BREERRMEEBEN_-Z
—NF—A—BBLE  WEMBSEE
FEBRWBBEMAEEZ AR EA
BARER -

KRB B - RRABRMZ AT E
ENBEZAAREBENRAT

were as follows:

2019
—ZT—NF

Fair value

recognised on

acquisition

IR TR 2

AR1E

HK$’000

PE T T

Property, plant and equipment W BEMEE 10,890

Right-of-use assets CREEE 72,764
Debtors, other receivables, deposits and FEUAR SR - Efh E W RIE -

prepayments e MBI FRIA 2

Deferred tax assets RIETIE A = 293

Cash and cash equivalents HehBEESED 47
Creditors, other payables and accrued expenses  JETBRFR « E b & < 200E &

EEER (5,996)

Deferred tax liabilities RIERIE A B (18,185)

Total identifiable net assets at fair value AR EEAFEGRARE) 59,815

Goodwill on acquisition WHEFTEE 2 2 15,957

Total consideration RERE 75,772
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30. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

31.

(c) Acquisition of Zhangjiagang Gelin
(Continued)

Goodwill is mainly attributable to the synergies
expected to be achieved from integrating Zhangjiagang

Gelin into the Group’s existing businesses.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the
acquisition of a subsidiary is as follows:

30. XA (&)
(c) WEERREBHEM,GE)

BETIERE BRI ERMERE
BREXBRARMES ZWHE N

EHRBEHB AR CRERESTN
RS- 3

2019

—E—NF
HK$’'000
ST

Cash consideration ReRE 75,772

Cash and cash equivalents acquired FIiER S MR EEED 47
Consideration payable at 31 December 2019 RZE-NF+=ZA=1+—H

ZERRE (75,772)

47

ACQUISITION OF NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

In 2019, the Group entered into agreements with the
non-controlling shareholders of Suntime Environmental,
pursuant to which the non-controlling shareholders agreed
to sell and the Group agreed to purchase an 11.12%
equity interest in Suntime Environmental at a consideration
of RMB27,800,000
HK$32,502,000).

(equivalent to approximately

The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling
interests and other reserve of HK$23,887,000 and

HK$8,615,000, respectively.

1/

31. WHBIRER S

RZTB—NGF AEEHEFHRBENIEE
MRARER ATz ek - 15Ut - SEIERRARER A B
B MASEERZEWE EBAIRHE11.12%48
fE#E - RE A AR 27,800,0007T (KI5
76 #32,502,0007T) °

&8 75 Rl HE R IE R B A 2 B L b R R Ok
8 #23,887,0007T & 7 #8,615,000 7T °
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  32.

OF CASH FLOWS
(@) Major non-cash transactions

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2019, the
Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities of HK$8,003,000 and
HK$8,003,000, respectively, in respect of lease
arrangements for buildings.

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2020,
interest expenses on Medium-term Notes of
HK$23,026,000 (2019: Nil) are not yet settled by
the Group, and recorded in “Creditors, other
payables and accrued expenses” in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2020.

op

TMEBRME

FEFBRERF

RBEE=_Z—ALE+=ZA
=+—HLFE - X5EEBEEH
EREFEB CHERHZE
AEEERHEA BRI
E 7 Bl &7 #8,003,0007T &7
8,003,000 °

REEZ-ZZT=_ZTF+=A
=+—BLEFE AEEMHEX
NEFHEEMNERZABEK
23,026,000 (=& — N5 -
/) BRREEAR-_Z-Z
Ef- B=+—HZREM%
RS ER [FERTRRR - HAD R
EHREFERIA -
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  32.

OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing

activities:

AR MERME (&

(b) RETHELENEE2ED:

Medium-
term Notes
Medium- interest Lease
Bank loans Other loans term Notes [EVEL][H] liabilities Total
R
RITEM Hits &R R EEFE HEAE Mgt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BB T BETFIT BT BETFIT BETT BETFIT
At 1 January 2019 RZZE—NE
—F—H 6,006,559 - - - 7,970 6,014,529
Changes from financing RERSRELY
cash flows 4,883,918 475,078 - - (3,386) 5,355,610
Finance costs, including BSER(BEE
capitalised interest BEREFERE)
expenses 388,735 11,555 - - 605 400,895
New leases MEAEE - - - - 8,003 8,003
Exchange realignment [E 5 % (184,436) (26,398) - - (177) (211,011)
At 31 December 2019 and RZZ—N&F
1 January 2020 +=-A=+—H
R-—Z-ZF
—A—H 11,094,776 460,235 - - 13,015 11,568,026
Changes from financing cash R AR EREE
flows 2,235,649 742,090 1,091,047 - (5,108) 4,063,678
Finance costs, including BBER(BED
capitalised interest EREMBFAL)
expenses 509,981 29,428 - 23,026 466 562,901
Exchange realignment fE N AR 606,786 71,197 92,184 1,190 463 771,820
As at 31 December 2020 RZZTZZF
+-A=+—H 14,447,192 1,302,950 1,183,231 24,216 8,836 16,966,425
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  32.

OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(c)

Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the

statement of cash flows is as follows:

ot

(c)

AHERERMEE)

HEZRS R HEE
BeRBRFRAEZ RS AL eE
mF -

2020 2019
—E-EfF —h&E
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT T
With operating activities KEES 11,791 8,248
With investing activities & E S 210,007 146,848
With financing activities A& B 5,108 3,386
33. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 33. BEEEH

34.

Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the Group’s
banking facilities are included in note 25 to the financial

statements.
pledged amounted to HK$19,019,934,000

The aggregate net book value of assets
(2019:

HK$14,193,658,000) as at 31 December 2020.

COMMITMENTS

(@)

At 31 December 2020, the Group had outstanding
purchase commitments in connection with the
Group’s construction contracts not provided for in the
financial statements of HK$1,104,064,000 (2019:

HK$1,934,256,000).

At 31 December 2020, the Group had an outstanding
capital commitment relating to the capital contribution
to an associate not provided for in the financial
statements of HK$35,405,000 (2019:

HK$33,148,000).

At 31 December 2020, the Group had an outstanding
capital commitment relating to the capital contribution
to a joint venture not provided for in the financial
statements of HK$ 3,575,000 (2019: Nil).

34.

AAEBRTHEMETER2AEERE
EZHBHENMBEHRRME2S - R_F =
ZE+A=+—H EBEWEEZRE
42518 7575%19,019,934,0007T (ZE— N

-

I

(@)

B #14,193,658,0007T) °

RZT_TF+-A=+—H ' ' &&
BUARENBRETIUEALAEERE
BEAHNZABTRBARESK
1,104,064,000 L E#EH (ZZE — N
4 B¥#1,0984,256,0007T) °

R-ZZ-_ZTF+=-A=+—H0 &
B ARERERELBER —REGE
NREE 2 B AR AEYE A 35,405,000
THEBB(ZZE—h G &%
33,148,0007T) °

RZZT_TF+=ZA=+—H ' ' &&
EWARTEHBRESREBER—REE
ETE 2 EANAPEE 3,575,000
TERE(ZE—NF: &)
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group entered
into the following material related party transactions:

(a)

Transactions with fellow subsidiaries

Acquisition of right-of-use WIS AEEE
assets
Rental expenses HeRx
Hazardous and solid waste EEREEEERA
processing income
Interest on lease liabilities HEEGERNE
Underwriting fee BB R
Interest income** A B U A
Interest expenses*™* B
Purchase of machineries* B RE
Design fees** RETBR
Purchase of steam** FOER AR

35.

AL 2R

BRI SR EME O RE 2 X5 RAEHRIN
AEEFTATERBEBALIRS ¢

(a)

REZANBARNZR S

2020

S L
HK$’000

BET T

2019

—E—-NF
HK$’000
BT T

- 8,003
2,322 3,871
3,626 247

129 237
1,453 -
3,577 2,075

11,737 12,328
92,874 33,700

- 835
22,163 4,721

Notes:

U

(i)

)

Interest income was derived from deposit services
provided by China Everbright Bank Company Limited
(“CE Bank”). The deposit services to be provided by
CE Bank shall be based on normal commercial terms
and no less favourable than the terms available to the
Group from independent third parties.

Interest expenses was incurred on a loan from CE
Bank. The loan services to be provided by CE Bank
shall be on normal commercial terms and no less
favourable than the terms available to the Group from
independent third parties.

Purchase of machineries from a fellow subsidiary,
Everbright Environmental Technology Equipment
(Changzhou) Company Limited*, was charged in
accordance with the terms of the agreement entered
into between the Group and the fellow subsidiary.

For identification purpose only

B aE

(i)

(i)

FBHNIR B B RRITAMD B
RAR ([EARRIT]) IR 2 FHR
%o RARITREZ TR EIZ
—RAEEGTIRE - BERGKT
BRARBBBYLE=ESZIE

=
A °

FERRERRITERZ MBS - 3
RIRTTH TG 2 BRI EIE—
iR IR - BB E
MAEB BB E =TS 25K -

17 (R 2 /B8 X B e RIRR AR AT 45
(EM) BRR A B3 SREE IR T
RIE A B2 [ 22 [F) 25 Y /B8 X R RTSZ Y
CEA S e

ER#HT
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Transactions with fellow subsidiaries
(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(iv) Design fees were charged in accordance with the terms
of the agreement entered into between the Group and
a fellow subsidiary.

(v) Purchase of steam from a fellow subsidiary, EB
Environmental Energy (Sugian) Company Limited*, was
charged in accordance with the terms of the
agreement entered into between the Group and the
fellow subsidiary.

* These related party transactions also constitute
continuing connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Transactions with an intermediate holding
company

The Group incurred interest expenses of
HK$29,428,000 (2019: HK$11,555,000) on an amount
due to an intermediate holding company which is
interest-bearing at 85% of the rates announced by the
People’s Bank of China (2019: interest bearing at
85% of rates announced by the People’s Bank of
China) and LPR in the PRC minus 0.45% during the
year ended 31 December 2020.

Transactions with a joint venture

The Group received management service income of
HK$689,000 (2019: HK$4,863,000) from a joint
venture and interest income derived from loan to a
joint venture of HK$112,000 (2019: Nil) during the
year ended 31 December 2020.

For identification purpose only

35. MBALTZRS (&)
(a) HEZMEBATRZXRS (&

MisE - (4

vy RABADERBAEEE—HRZR
O /88 /2 R AT 32RO 155 A 1R SR KUER ©

V) AR RKE A ARRREER (75
B)BRABARBETNRAIR
1 7 5% (B 2 /) 2 P 8 2 I RT SLAO 1
A IR UCER @

o ZEEBALTRZTEK ETRA
FVABARATEZHEREBERS -

(b) E-EHFEERIAZRS

REEBRBE_SE-_ZE+=A
=+—BHIEFEREN—FEPEZER
RARBEBEAFNEI LB
29,428,000 L (Z B — 15 : B
11,555,0007T) @ Hiz B A RR1T
R FIR85% (ZF— HF : &
B A RBITAMAIF E85%ET E) &
1Z B LPRIO0.45%5T & °

(c) E—REELEZRS
AEEBRBE_Z-_ZEF+=A
=+—BIEFEE —REEDLEKRR
&I R 7 W A 78 #5689,0000T (= F
— L4 : #%4,863,0007T) KK A M)
—REELEERZHABIA B
112,0007C (ZE—NF : ) ©

E EHES
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(d) The Group paid key management personnel
compensation as follows:

35.

BMALZX S (&)

(d) AEBEXNZIEEREASHE
LU

2020 2019
—E-EH —ZT-NEF
HK$°000 HK$’'000
BET T BT

Salaries and other short-term employee e RkEMBEEES
benefits & 66,094 84,996
Retirement scheme contributions RARFT B R 5,661 6,449
71,755 91,445

Total remuneration is included in “Employee benefit
expense” (see note 8).

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

36.

@Bt ATEER/AFE J(RMHEES) -

BEERE D cERMT A
BEMK - SFRNERMTAZ REEN

- X

follows:

Financial assets

TRMEE

Financial assets

at amortised cost

RBEAEAHEZEREE

2020 2019

—E-FF —FT-NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT

Debtors & W 8% 3K 2,290,652 711,104
Financial assets included in other receivables, AT A E At FEUREOE -

deposits and prepayments e MBERNRIEZ

TREE 230,900 52,696

Pledged bank deposits EEMBITER 219,415 189,847

Deposits with banks RITFE 1,663 22,180

Cash and cash equivalents ReMBRSEED 2,505,975 2,685,459

5,248,605 3,661,286
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities included in creditors,

306.

REBREI Dz &R ITE (&)

EREas

Financial liabilities

at amortised cost

BBERATEZERMEE

2020
—s-%x
HK$’000
BT T

2019
—E—NF
HK$'000
BT

FEARNERR - e

other payables and accrued expenses NRIEREGTER 2
=R 3,910,879 2,773,891
Lease liabilities HEAE 8,836 13,015
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FFERITREMER 16,933,373 11,555,011
20,853,088 14,341,917
37. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 37. T EZARE
All financial assets of the Group as at 31 December 2020 RZEZEER=-F-NE+=A=1+—

and 2019 are financial assets at amortised cost. All
financial liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2020
and 2019 are financial liabilities at amortised cost.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, pledged bank deposits, deposits with
banks, current portion of debtors, other receivables,
deposits and prepayments, creditors, other payables and
accrued expenses, lease liabilities and interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the immediate or the short term maturities of

these instruments.

B AEEMESREERREBHMKAT
RZeBmBEE -R_BE_FFE_F—H
F+ZA=+—H AKEFRBEERER
RILBHERANI R CRAE

EREEAMEeREEEY BER
fETTTW\ fETTﬁa’A FELMZE’E Eﬂﬁﬁ*ﬁ
= ﬁf&ﬂgﬁﬁklﬁﬁﬁgﬁ‘l‘%ﬁ)ﬂ ; fﬂ‘EE%&
ARBRTREMEEZ AR ERAREE
HE TEHRZETANKIIHINE
HARNEIE -



37.

38.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

The Group’s finance management department is responsible
for determining the policies and procedures for the fair
value measurement of financial instruments. At each
reporting date, the finance management department
analyses the movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the
valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the
chief financial officer. The valuation process and results are
discussed with the audit and risk management committee
twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of other
receivables, deposits and prepayments, other payables,
lease liabilities and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings have been calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently available
for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities. The Group’s own non-performance risk for
interest-bearing borrowings as at 31 December 2020 and
2019 was assessed to be insignificant. The carrying
amounts of these balances approximate to their fair values.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
interest-bearing borrowings, cash and short-term deposits.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to
finance the Group’s operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as debtors, other
receivables, deposits, and creditors, other payables and
accrued expenses, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and
they are summarised below.

37.

38.
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SRMIAZRAAEE)

AEBENMBERNMAEETSRTA
DNAEFENBRMERF -REHREEH -
MHBEERNMOTERTANEEEIR
BEGLEMEANTIEGARE BH#MG
Bl EAERERIE BERRERE
BEZEeBFMARREERTFRER
IEELTBHRFEM B RS -

TREENBENAABERZIARER
X577 RARBREERINEMRS T
ARG EEAR - LT HERBERAR
Bt ARE :

H WA  Re RIBARIE Z IR H
o HEMZOE - HEAE N BB
MEMEENAABFERBEEATRARAS
BUER  EERREFKIPEHNTH
WA AR AR RN S REFTE - R=
T TUETES T e ==L
AEEB S EEENELORRTGH AL
W ZSERHpZERAEREARERE -

I REREEBFRBUR

AEEZIZoRMTIABEAEEE B
EREMER - HESRTAZEERN
ERBAKBRGEFRERES - A%
BEREMEREENAG BREEE
R EARKEOR - REARENERHR -
fENREREFER  DERBEERD
=

AEBeRMTAELAZTERBRBENX
Bk SNERRR  EERBRERSESE
2 - EFXERINAHEEESEREHER
ZHER - RERBERBAN T
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from the
Group’s cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks,
bank and other borrowings and Medium-term notes.
Borrowings issued at variable rates and at fixed rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair
value interest rate risk respectively. The Group does not use

financial derivatives to hedge against the interest rate risk.

The Group’s

interest

management is set out in (i) below.

()

Interest rate profile

rate profile as monitored by

The following table details the interest rate profile of
the Group’s net borrowings (being interest-bearing
financial liabilities less deposits with banks and cash
and cash equivalents) at the end of the reporting
period.

MR B IR B 1R MR (&)

IR

AEEmEZNERREIEREAEEZ
RekReEEY  RITFHR - RITEEM
BERTHRE - BT EBHF R R EE MR
HHZBESAKEDFIAZESRER
KRB RDAENRELR o AN KB EF
REBITETARE PN EEAR - AKH

ZHERBEREBES  FHEANTX
(i)
() FEELR

TREJIAEERREMRZEEF
B EERABRERITERNA
EReRREFEY) ZFEHER

2020 2019
k- g 33 —T-NE
Effective Effective
interest rate Amount mterest rate Amount
% HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BETT
Net fixed rate borrowings/ EEEE/(BR) FE
(deposits):
Medium-term notes THRE 3.68% 1,183,231 - -
Lease liabilties (note 15(0)) MEE & (M 15(00) 3.50%-4.90% 8,836 3.50%-4.90% 13,015
Less: Deposits with banks A RITER 1.35% (1,663) 1.55% (22,180)
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBLSEN 0.3%-1.65% (298,915) 1.10%-2.10% (800,812)
891,489 (809,977)
Net variable rate borrowings/ FEEE/(BR) FE
(deposits):
Bank loans HBITER 1.05%-5.39% 14,447,192 3.43%-5.39% 11,094,776
Loan from a non-controling interest FHERER R = = 4.35% 16,635
Loans from an intermediate holding —AREZERARER
company 3.4%-4.04% 1,302,950 4.04% 443,600
Less: Cash and cash equivalents W e RHEEED 0.05%-2.2% (2,207,060) 0.01%-1.27% (1,884,647)
Pledged bank deposits BEBETER 0.3%-2.75% (219,415) 0.01%-2.75% (189,847)
Loan to a non-controling R R E R
interest 5.23% (25,021) 5.23% (22,180)
13,298,646 9,458,337
Total net borrowings BEEEEE 14,190,135 8,648,360




38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2020, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of one percent in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would
decrease/increase the Group’s profit before taxation
by approximately HK$132,986,000 (2019:

HK$94,583,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group’s profit before
taxation that would arise assuming that the change in
interest rates had occurred at the end of the reporting
period and had been applied to re-measure those
financial instruments held by the Group which expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk at the end of
the reporting period. In respect of the exposure to
cash flow interest rate risk arising from floating rate
non-derivative instruments held by the Group at the
end of the reporting period, the impact on the
Group’s profit before taxation is estimated as an
annualised impact on interest expense or income of
such a change in interest rates. The analysis is
performed on the same basis as 2019.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38. iR EIEBE RS (&)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk Ih | B

() Exposure to foreign currency risk () BAERZZINEEE
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk REBHEBRHINE R EZIREB A
primarily from bank loans, cash and cash equivalents, e (BNELZE TS B RE M D B B 1S DAY
receivables and payables that are denominated in a EB)HECRTER Rekife
foreign currency, i.e., a currency other than the ZEY  BUGRIARENRIE - EE
functional currency of the operations to which they ZRBRNEETEZAEE AR .
relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are ETLREIT - BRRVERURERE
primarily Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, United States EEBINEARE R TFHER -
dollars and Euros. The Group ensures that the net RNE B IREE A R SRS
exposure is kept to an acceptable level, by buying or B HIKE o
selling foreign currencies at spot rates where
necessary to address short-term imbalances.
The following table details the Group’s exposure at TRANAEERESRMERARBERE
the end of the reporting period to foreign currency risk REEXEBE(AHEEB 2SR
arising from recognised assets or liabilities WA BHEETE) FRE £ 2 N R
denominated in a currency other than the functional %o EFNEMMS @ ERSEAS
currency of the entity to which they relate. For BDIR - Wik E AR IR EE R
presentation purposes, the amounts of the exposure H o ABINHEEHERE R RR B
are shown in Hong Kong dollars, translated using the EAASBERNENEEmMEENERE
spot rate at the reporting date. Differences resulting T AINER B o

from the translation of the consolidated financial
statements of foreign operations into the Group’s
presentation currency are excluded.

2020

g 22

United States
Renminbi dollars Euros Renminbi dollars Euros
AR% S B IN: ESp o
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BETT BRI BETT BETT BT
Cash and cash equivalents BeREEEED 67,868 2,082 222 1,636 1,061 317
Amounts due fromvto fellow subsidiaries (net) e/ TR RH B A RIFURFE 1,152,392 = 69,979 90,129 - 60,936
Other receivables Hth KGR 1,07 - - - - -
Bank loans RITER (1,184,500) = = (88,720) - -
Other payables H At R R (91,841) - - (61,874) - -

(55,010) 2,082 70,201 (68,829) 1,061 61,253
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous change
in the Group’s profit before taxation that would arise
if foreign exchange rates to which the Group has
significant exposure at the end of the reporting period
had changed at that date, assuming all other risk
variables remained constant. In this respect, it is
assumed that the pegged rate between the Hong
Kong dollar and the United States dollar would be
materially unaffected by any changes in movement in

B B IR B AR MR (&)

S LB (A7)
(i)  BEEE DT

TREIIBRNEE BRAE B @ L
EXABOIEERNE HLRE
B MABEMESHRETE  Ke
5 7% 5% 18] & B 75 BT 28 N 5 AR BN B B2
Zopts - MRBELETHE
BEXTERXTEELEMEREDN
EAESMZANEATZE - ANEE
BEXTTHE - ELAXTERENEER
BEAMZINEERKBNFZEL T

ERXR-

value of the United States dollar against other
currencies. The impact of foreign exchange rate
fluctuations with respect to the assets and liabilities
denominated in United States dollars is insignificant as

Hong Kong dollars is pegged to the United States

dollars.

2020 2019
—z-%f —F-0E
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) in
foreign Effect on profit  foreign exchange Effect on profit
exchange rates before tax before tax
HEE = HERBLAT
EH/(FBE) BRI
HK$°000
BETR
Renminbi AR 10% (5,501) 10% (5,883)
(10%) 5,501 (10%) 5,883
United States dollars Ey 10% 208 10% 106
(10%) (208) (10%) (106)
Euros BT 10% 7,020 10% 6,125
(10%) (7,020) (10%) (6,125)

EREFNZOMERBE T AREE
BRI~ BAERETRE B 5t 8 Z BTt
MAaNzlBTreE  FRFENRE
HRZEXRFEREE2%H -

Results of the analysis presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects
on each of the Group entities’ profit before taxation
measured in the respective functional currencies,
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rate ruling at the end of the reporting period for
presentation purposes.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued)
(i) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in
foreign exchange rates had been applied to
re-measure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk at the end of the reporting period, including
intercompany payables and receivables within the
Group which are denominated in a currency other
than the functional currencies of the lender or the
borrower. The analysis excludes differences that would
result from the translation of the financial statements
of foreign operations into the Group’s presentation
currency. The analysis is performed on the same
basis as 2019.

Credit risk

The Group assesses the credit quality of the customers and
other counterparties, taking into account their background,
financial position, past experience and other factors. The
Group has a credit policy in place and the exposures to
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. Debtors are
usually due immediately to within 90 days from the date of
billing.

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
cash and cash equivalents, debtors, other receivables and
contract assets.

MR B IR B 1R MR (&)

S E B ()
(i) HEE DT ()
FREDMBRRINEEXNESH T A

REFFEREHARAEBAFER
EKEI%Q%EHWW%%QQI
CBRENERASERANDESE
mumm Mﬁ@%%lﬂ@ﬁﬁ%
3R R FE MR IR o 3Z D AT IR A& Hh
I%%m%%ﬁ%ﬁ S ARNEEZT
EMMEENEZB ZOoMKR_Z
—NFR—EEHIT

FERR

AEBEREPREMRZHFHNES
AR BEER R EMEA R EE
EEEE - AREREFEFERE @ IF
BERHENEERR BURETAET
MEZAHEANLTERRIE -

EERRERZUFRBTEAHEMLEM
BYAKBELMBRANRAR A58
MEERBREIEXREREMASEEY -
MR - Rt BUGRIERANEE °
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  38.
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

B B IR B AR MR (&)

EERkRE (&)

R 5B R F K 55 BB 7 2R
TERBEAKENEERR  JIREER
BEREREERR BRERABRKALE
HERESHEMEMIN  TREZNAH
BRERT A=+ —HZFEFROEED
BRER-

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31 December.

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for
financial assets and the exposure to credit risk for the

2 eEReREERSRERGHNEER
[\ O BV AR BRI (B ©

financial guarantee contracts.

As at 31 December 2020

R-ZE-_ZHF+=-A=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A &
FEFE EEFENNESRGEESR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
B[R EZRR BEZRER [R(#73 &t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT BETT BETT BET T
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeSEY 2,505,975 - - - 2,505,975
Pledged bank deposits BEERRITER 219,415 - - - 219,415
Deposits with banks RITHER 1,663 - - - 1,663
Debtors* TR AR 3 - = = 2,294,824 2,294,824
Financial assets included in other receivables, ST AE fth fEUCERIE « 1%
deposits and prepayments SREMNFENSRE
BE 230,900 = = - 230,900
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries A GEY NGRS 1,268 - - - 1,268
Amounts due from joint ventures AR ERIE 16,117 - - - 16,117
Loan to a non-controlling interest R REEER 25,021 - - - 25,021
Contract assets EHEE
— with significant financing component — ABEAREMER
BH 6,789,387 = = = 6,789,387
— without significant financing component* — TEBERREMEK
i = - - 3,474,316 3,474,316
9,789,746 = = 5,769,140 15,558,886
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38.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38.

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

As at 31 December 2019

MR B IR B 1R MR (&)
FERR (&)
REERRFRSERDHE (E)

EAE

12-month
ECLs

D

Lifetime ECLs

™ EEEROBRE S

Stage 1 Stage 2
Rl £ AR
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETE TR

Simplified
approach

Gz
HK$'000
BT

Stage 3
FE=MEER
HK$'000
BETFIT

Total
&t
HK$'000
AETR

and debtors to which the Group applies the simplified

approach for impairment,

information is disclosed in notes

2.4, 21 and 22 to the financial statements.

PG

Cash and cash equivalents RekBReEEY 2,685,459 — - - 2,685,459
Pledged bank deposits BEBETER 189,847 - - - 189,847
Deposits with banks RITER 22,180 - - - 22,180
Debtors* P BR - - - 714,916 714,916
Financial assets included in other receivables, FPAEMELIE - &
deposits and prepayments & REMZIENS R
BE 52,696 - - - 52,696
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries KR RHE AR
B 30,516 - - - 30,516
Loan to a non-controlling interest FERERER 22,180 - - - 22,180
Contract assets EHEE
— with significant financing component — AEEAREMEAR
BH 4,225,112 - - - 4,225,112
— without significant financing component* - TEBEARE
B - - — 2,778,674 2,778,674
7,227,990 - — 3,493,590 10,721,580
z For contract assets without a significant financing component i RASBHAMESNERENTAEGE

B D B E K E E N IR KM

5 HEBARBRBERNMGREME24
21 %22 -



38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from and contract assets and debtors
are disclosed in note 21 and 22 to the financial statements,
respectively.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for
collateral. Concentrations of credit risk are managed by
counterparty and by geographical region. At 31 December
2020, “Debtors, deposits and
prepayments” and “Contract assets” of the Group amounted
to HK$14,074,120,000 (2019: HK$8,986,614,000), of which
HK$2,974,904,000 (2019: HK$2,009,277,000) was due from
the largest customer and HK$3,983,158,000 (2019:
HK$3,533,713,000)
customers in aggregate of the Group, respectively. The

maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the

other receivables,

was due from the five largest

carrying amount of each financial asset and contract asset
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short-term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to
cover expected cash demands. The Group’s policy is to
requirements and its
lending covenants to ensure that it

regularly monitor its liquidity
compliance with
maintains sufficient
committed lines of funding from major financial institutions

to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer

reserves of cash and adequate

term.

38.
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HITEE @ MWKRERKEHERR - £H1E
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T_ZTF+-_A=1+—H AEBEZ[EK
BRAK - H A EUGRIA - iRe RIBNRIE] &
[GHEE | BB14,074,120,0007T (=&
— L4 : B%8,986,614,0007T) * HAp B
2,974,904,000 L (ZEE— "L F : K
2,009,277,0007) BEKR A EB Z AT
FRIA I 75 #53,083,158,000 7T (—ZF— hL4 -
7% #3,533,713,0007T) AW AL E R KX
BEEHRBRE SAGERBRENGEH
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BRAEEZ7 -
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38. iR EIEBE RS (&)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) REE SR (F)

The following tables show the remaining contractual TRINTAEERBRERRZIFITELA
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s CRBEZFBKREOHBRBR - WAL
non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on AR RESRE(BREEEON XL (B
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest FE)IBBERRERRZFIRE 2 F S
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, FORAEEEEBEEBERNBE2ERHA
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period) AEEMIE -

and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay.

31 December 2020
ZBIBE+ZA=t-H
Total More than More than
contractual Within 1 year 2 years but

Carrying undiscounted 1 year or but within within More than

amount cash flow on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years
AHARER —FR —&# ME#

BEHE ZREeRELH FRER BRER BREER LE#

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000

BT T BB T BT T BET T BT T BB T

Interest-bearing bank and other HERITREMEE

borrowings (note 25) (Hi#E25) 16,933,373 19,272,172 2,911,736 3,683,025 8,796,278 3,881,133
Creditors, other payables ERTER - HtmEf

and accrued expenses” RELESER" 3,992,495 4,000,750 3,925,288 8,138 24,414 42,910
Lease liabilities (note 15(0)) HEBE (ME150) 8,836 11,409 2,688 958 2,130 5,633

20,934,704 23,284,331 6,839,712 3,692,121 8,822,822 3,929,676

31 December 2019

—Z-NF+-A=1+-H
Total More than More than
contractual Within 1 year 2 years but
Carrying  undiscounted 1 year or but within within More than
amount cash flow on deman 2 years 5 years 5 years
ATRREH X —Fi& WE%
REE FIREX BERER BRER hFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'00! HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
YT BETT BRI BETT BRI BETT
Interest-bearing bank and other HERITREMES
borrowings (note 25) (Fi#E25) 11,555,011 13,430,173 2,936,650 1,638,419 5,836,781 3,018,323
Creditors, other payables ERERR - HfoEr
and accrued expenses* HEREFER 2,963,733 3,016,728 2,487,458 25,529 472,874 30,867
Lease liabilities (note 15(b)) HEARE (HF150) 13,015 15,888 5,096 2,627 2,273 5,892
14,531,759 16,462,789 5,429,204 1,666,575 6,311,928 3,055,082
* The balances excluded deferred income — government H EHRTBRECERA — BSFESE -

grants.



38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives for managing capital are to
maintain a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios in
order to support its business and maximise shareholders’
value. The Group manages its capital structure and make
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions.
The Group reviews the capital structure on a regular basis
and considers the cost of capital and the associated risks.
Based on recommendations of the board of directors, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through
adjusting the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
new share issues or new debt financing.

The Group monitors capital with reference to its debt
position. The Group’s strategy was to maintain the equity
and debt in a balanced position and ensure there were
adequate working capital to service its debt obligation. The
Group’s gearing ratio, being the Group’s total liabilities over
its total assets, as at 31 December 2020 was 63.5%
(2019: 59.7%).

38.
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R - REEFE 2R AEEZE
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: o

39. RRAl 2R K

AT RRBERRARAFBRREKZE

2020 2019
—B-%F T F
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT T BETFIT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries WERRIRE 2,336,994 2,336,994
Amounts due from subsidiaries AR NG R ¢ 8,027,863 5,881,301
Property, plant and equipment W BELZE 358 677
10,365,215 8,218,972
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables and prepayments H b W skIE K&
SEANE 264 2,396
Amounts due from joint ventures FEU A B EFIR 5 -
Cash and cash equivalents ReMBESEEYD 648,783 870,988
649,052 873,384
Current liabilities REBaE
Bank loans — unsecured IRITEHR — |IEH 991,116 520,494
Other payables H b fE < 5/8 46,970 23,770
Tax payables FET R 1B 3,659 —
1,041,745 544,264
Net current (liabilities)/assets RE(AE) BEEFHE (392,693) 329,120
Total assets less current liabilities REERMBAEER 9,972,522 8,548,092
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Bank loans — unsecured IRITEHR — |IEH 3,527,152 2,827,956
Medium-term notes FRHIEE 1,183,231 —
4,710,383 2,827,956
Net assets BE SR 5,262,139 5,720,136
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 39. AR Z BBk Rk (&)
COMPANY (Continued)

2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BEET T BT T
Capital and reserves RAR & E
Share capital % 1,608,029 1,608,029
Reserves (note) M (M) 3,654,110 4,112,107
Total equity R e 5,262,139 5,720,136
QIAN Xiaodong LO Kam Fan
$ER EiRE
Director Director
EZH EZE
Note: FfzE :
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RRBZHEHEBREOT -

Share Share Accumulated
capital premium losses Total

&N R 13 5 B Rt EE #E
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BETT BETT BETT

Balance at 1 January 2019 RZZE—NF—A—B2z#&% 1,608,029 4,613,534 (110,288) 6,111,275
Changes in equity for 2019: T -NFrEREE:
Loss and total comprehensive FEBERZEBEARE

loss for the year - - (91,558) (91,558)
2018 final dividend paid ENZT—-N\FERARE - (134,295) - (134,295)
2019 interim dividend paid ERZE-NFEPHRE — (165,286) - (165,286)

Balance at 31 December 2019 W=_Z—AF+=-A=+—H

and 1 January 2020 =TT F—-A—H2
“E e 1,608,029 4,313,953 (201,846) 5,720,136
Changes in equity for 2020: TECTF RS
Loss and total comprehensive FEBERZEEBEEERE
loss for the year = = (127,425) (127,425)
2019 final dividend paid ERZE-NFERARE - (165,286) - (165,286)
2020 interim dividend paid ENZZE-TFEPHRE = (165,286) = (165,286)

1,608,029 3,983,381 (329,271) 5,262,139
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40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows:

Name of company

DAER

EB Greentech Biomass Energy (Guoyang)
Limited* (note (b))

ARG ERREMER ORI BRAE"
(Hi5E (o)

EB Greentech Biomass Energy (Suzhou) Limited*

(note (b))

AREEERREMER (BN BRDF
(Hi5E (o)

EB Greentech Solid Waste Treatment
(Zhangjiagang) Limited* (note (c))

RRFERREREE (RXHE) HRAF"
(HfsE(e)

EB Greentech Renewable Energy (Yiyuan)
Limited" (note (b))

KRFERRBEERROTR) BRAR"
(HI5E (o)

EB Greentech Urban and Rural Renewable
Energy (Dali) Limited* (note (a))

KREERRMBELLR (KB BRAF"

(i)

EB Greentech Urban and Rural Renewable
Energy (Fengxian) Limited* (note (a))

KRGERRUBELLR (LB FRAR"

(P (@)

EB Greentech Urban and Rural Renewable
Energy (Gutian) Limited* (note (a))

KRFERRUBEELR(HH) BRAR"

(P (@)

EB Urban and Rural Renewable Energy

(Fengyang) Company Limited*" (notes (a) and

(b))
HAMBEEER (BF) BRAR"
(P 5% (a) K (b))

EB Urban and Rural Renewable Energy (Guanyun)

Company Limited*" (notes (a) and (b))

HABBBEEERCER)BRAA"
(P 5% (a) K (b))

Place of
incorporation
and business
Ef AR L
REBHE

PRC

FE

PRC

PRC

PRC

FE

PRC

HE

PRC

HE

PRC

PRC

HE

PRC

HE

Particulars of issued
and paid-up capital
BRTRMRE
BAFE

RMB108,020,000

AR #108,020,0007T

RMB101,300,000

AR #101,300,0007C

RMB256,940,000

AR #256,940,0007C

RMB185,520,000

AR #185,520,0007C

RMB95,384,000

AR #95,384,0007C

RMB182,310,000

AR #182,310,0007C

RMB80,250,000

AR #80,250,0007C

RMB183,340,000

AR #183,340,0007T

RMB199,120,000

AR #199,120,0007C

40. T EHE

/
I

NI

ARBEZMBEBRARFENOT

Percentage of equity

AARELEERE DL
Direct Indirect

HE &

- 100%

- 100%

- 80%

- 95%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

eell

attributable to the Company Principal activities

EEEH

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of biomass electricity and
heat cogeneration project

AT B EEREEENERTHME
HA

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of biomass electricity and
heat cogeneration project

AT B EEREEEMEREHHE
EA

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of hazardous waste landfill
project

AT B EEREEEEEERE

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy project

WAt i EERGEEMERNREE
—#{ER

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of waste-to-energy project
AT B EEREELRETER

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy project

AT R BEREEENERNREE
—B{HEE

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy project

AT R BEREEENERNREE
—®EE

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy project

AT R BEREEENERNREE
—B{HEE

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy project

AT R BEREEENE RN REE
—{HEE
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(Continued)

Name of company

AAER

EB Urban and Rural Renewable Energy (Huai'an)
Limited* (notes (a) and (b))

HAMBEELRCER) BR AR
(Pt & (a) B2 (b))

EB Urban and Rural Renewable Energy
(Mianzhu) Limited* (notes (a) and (b))

KABBBEEER (BN ARAF
(Pt % (a) B2 (b))

EB Urban and Rural Renewable Energy (Xiao
County) Limited*" (notes (a) and (b))

HAMBEAELR (RGE) BR AR
(Pt () B2 (b))

EB Urban and Rural Renewable Energy
(Zhecheng) Limited* (notes (a) and (b))

HARBMEE R GRH) BRAF)"
(Pt () B2 (b))

EB Urban and Rural Renewable Energy
(Zhongjiang) Limited* (note (b))

HARBABEERR (PT) R AR (b))
EB Urban and Rural Renewable Energy
(Zhongxiang) Limited* (notes (a) and (b))

KRB EERLR (EH) BRAR"
(Fi 35 (a) B (b))
Everbright Biomass Cogeneration (Liuan)
Company Limited™ (note (b))
KREMRE (KR BRAR (M (b)

Everbright Biomass Energy (Chuzhou) Company
Limited™ (note (b))

HREMEER BN BR AR (H5Eb)
Everbright Biomass Energy (Dingyuan) Limited*"
(note (b))

FREMER (FR) BRAF" (K (0)

Place of

incorporation

and business

il A

eSSk

PRC

[

PRC

HE

PRC

[

PRC

[

PRC

HE

PRC

[

HE

PRC

i

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of issued
and paid-up capital
BRTRHRE
BAFE

RMB233,000,000

AR #233,000,0007C

RMB178,670,000

AR#178,670,0007T

RMB275,350,000

AR #275,350,0007C

RMB154,665,000

AR #154,665,0007C

RMB128,333,000

AR #128,333,0007T

RMB159,750,000

AR #159,750,0007C

RMB179,360,000
AR #179,360,0007T

RMB106,670,000

AR #106,670,0007T

RMB106,670,000

AR #106,670,0007T

40. = EKMEB AR

Percentage of equity

attributable to the Company

AARELERE DL
Direct Indirect

=K i

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

Vi
Il

5 (&)

Principal activities

EEEH

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy project

Rat B BERGEENERUREE
—R{HEE

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy project

Rat B BERGEENERUREE
—R{HEE

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy project

Rat B BERGEENERUREE
—R{HEE

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy project

Rat B BERGEENERUREE
—R{HEE

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy project

Rat B BERGEENERUREE
—R{HEE

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy project

Rat B BERGEENERUREE
—R{HEE

Design, construction, operation and
electricity and heat cogeneration project
Wit BERELREHMIER

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of biomass direct
combustion power generation project

Rt B BEREELNEENREE
HA

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of biomass direct
combustion power generation project

Rt B BEREELNEENREE
HA
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(Continued)

Name of company

AEEE

Everbright Biomass Energy (Guixi) Limited*
(note (b))

RREEIR (EZ) BRA R (M)

Everbright Biomass Energy (Huaiyuan) Limited*
(note (a))

KREWEER (BE) AR A ) (Mt @)

Everbright Biomass Energy (Lingbi) Limited*
(note (b))

KREWRR (BE) B AR (M)

Everbright Biomass Energy (Liuan) Company
Limited™ (note (b))

KREMEER (%) AR AR (M)

Everbright Biomass Energy (Rugao) Company
Limited*”

KREWRR (R) BRAR”

Everbright Biomass Energy (Shayang) Limited*
(note (b))

KREMEER D) AR AR (M)

Everbright Biomass Energy (Weihai) Limited*
(note (b))

RREWRIR (BUE) AR AR (M)

Everbright Environmental (Suzhou) Solid Waste
Treatment Limited* (note (d))

KARBRR BN BRERR BEAR AR (M)

Everbright Environmental Protection

(Lianyungang) Solid Waste Treatment
Company Limited* (note (c))

KRRR(EEE) BREEERR A" (M)

Everbright Environmental Protection (Sugian)
Solid Waste Treatment Limited™ (note (d))

KRRR(BR)EREERRA R ()

Place of
incorporation
and business
aE R AR X
REBHE

PRC

FE

PRC

PRC

PR

PRC

PRC

PR

PRC

PRC

FE

PRC

HE

PRC

HE

PRC

HE

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of issued
and paid-up capital
ERTRAR
RAFE

RMB128,087,000

AR #128,087,0007C

HK$273,149,000

7 #273,149,0007T

RMB106,667,000

AR #106,667,0007C

RMB113,570,000

AR #113,570,0007C

RMB142,667,000

AR #142,667,0007C

RMB127,337,000

AR #127,337,0007C

RMB127,337,000

AR #127,337,0007C

USD4,865,000

4,865,000 7T

HK$128,640,000

7 128,640,0007T

HK$152,934,000

7 #152,934,0007C

40. FEZMBRFIG

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company

ARAEGEEADL
Direct Indirect

=§:3 CE:3

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

Principal activities

ETEEHK

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of biomass electricity and
heat cogeneration project

Rit i BERGEEENERTHM
A

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy project

Ret - B BERGEEENERUREE
—#LEE

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of biomass direct
combustion power generation project

AT B BEEREEENEEARTE
A

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of biomass electricity and
heat cogeneration project

Rt B BEREELYERTHH
HE

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of biomass electricity and
heat cogeneration project

Rt 2 BEREEEDERTHM
A

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of biomass direct
combustion power generation project

Rt B BEREELYEENREE
HE

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of biomass electricity and
heat cogeneration project

Rit i BERGEEENERTHM
HH

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of hazardous waste landfill
project

Rt B BERAEEREEER

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of hazardous waste landfill
project

Mt B BERAEEEEEER

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of hazardous waste landfill
project

RAT B EEREEREEEER
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(Continued)

Name of company

AEEE

Everbright Environmental Solid Waste Treatment
(Xinyi) Limited* (note (c))

KRRREERE GOT) BRA R (M)
Everbright Greentech Energy (Shayang) Limited*
(note (a))

KREERRER (DF) BRAF" (@)

Everbright Solid Waste Landfill (Xinyi) Holdings
Limited* (note (c))

RREERRERBEMEE GO BRAA"
(&£ (c))

Everbright Urban and Rural Renewable Energy
(Sheqj) Limited* (notes (a) and (b))

KARBBBELR () BERAF"
(Bfi &£ (a) B2 (b))

Everbright Urban and Rural Renewable Energy
(Xiayi) Limited” (notes (a) and (b))

RARBBBELR(ER)BERAF"
(Pt (a) R (b))

Everbright Wind Power (Ningwu) Company
Limited*”

HARE (BR) HRAT"

Everbright Solarpark Schonewalde Ldt. & Co.
KG

Suntime Environmental Remediation CO., Ltd®

THRRERERAFS

enterprises

Place of
incorporation
and business

A
REKHH

PRC

PR

PRC

R

PRC

R

PRC

PR

PRC

R

PRC

R

Germany

=

PRC

PR

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of issued
and paid-up capital
ERTRAR
RAFE

HK$144,490,000

75 144,490,0007T
RMB79,567,000
AR #79,567,0007C

RMB93,670,000

AR #93,670,0007C

RMB208,780,000

AR #208,780,0007C

RMB186,670,000

AR #186,670,0007T

RMB258,360,000
AR #258,360,0007T
€1,000

1,0008X 7T
RMB55,000,000

AR #55,000,0007C

Registered under the laws of the PRC as foreign investment

& Registered under the laws of the PRC as private companies

with limited liability

i Registered under the laws of the PRC as Sino-foreign co-

operation joint ventures

For identification only

Vi
Il

40. T EWB A RIFE (E)

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company Principal activities
ARAEGEEEDL TEEH
Direct Indirect

=£:3 CE:S

- 100% Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of hazardous waste
incineration project

Rt 2 EERAEEERBER

- 100% Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of waste-to-energy project

Rt B BERAENREEIER

- 100% Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of hazardous waste landfill
project

Rt B BERAEEEEER

- 100% Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy project

Rat o B BERGEENERIREE
—RLEA

- 100% Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy project

Rat - B BERGEENERUREE
—#LEe

- 100% Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of wind power project

AT B EEREEREEA

- 100% Design, construction and operation of solar
energy project

AT BEREENKBEEA

- 100% Operation of environmental remediation
project

BEREEEER

: REFBEAREMBINEDRE

& RIBHBDEAZEMASLLEBRAF

ke REFBEAREMATIIGEDRE

& EXEE= %]
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40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

Notes:

(@)

These subsidiaries of the Group entered into service
concession arrangements with the Grantors. Pursuant to the
service concession arrangements, the Group was granted
rights to construct, operate and maintain waste-to-energy
projects and integrated biomass and waste-to-energy
projects in the PRC for a period not less than 30 years. The
Grantors guarantee the Group will receive minimum annual
payments in connection with the arrangements. During the
operating period, the Group will be responsible for
maintaining the waste-to-energy projects and integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy projects in good condition.

The service concession arrangements do not contain renewal
options. Both the Grantors and the Group have the rights to
terminate the agreements in the event of a material breach
of the terms of the agreements.

Revenue relates to the construction services provided in
constructing the waste-to-energy projects and integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy projects is recognised as
“Service concession assets”, which are included in “Contract
assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position.

These subsidiaries of the Group entered into service
concession arrangements with the Grantors. Pursuant to the
service concession arrangements, the Group was granted
rights to construct, operate and maintain biomass direct
combustion power generation projects, biomass heat supply
project, biomass electricity and heat cogeneration projects
and integrated biomass and waste-to-energy projects in the
PRC for a period not less than 30 years. The service fees
are based on the extent of services rendered and are
subject to the approvals from the relevant local government
authorities. During the operating period, the Group will be
responsible for maintaining the biomass direct combustion
power generation projects, biomass heat supply projects,
biomass electricity and heat cogeneration projects and
integrated biomass and waste-to-energy projects in good
condition.

The service concession arrangements do not contain renewal
options. Both the Grantors and the Group have the rights to
terminate the agreements in the event of a material breach
of the terms of the agreements.

Operating rights of the biomass direct combustion power
generation projects, biomass heat supply projects, biomass
electricity and heat cogeneration projects and integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy projects are recognised as
“Intangible assets” in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

40. X EMBRFIFEE)

B 5
(@)

AEEZFH B QR EER T ARTLRB R
ARERLY RERBEFLERER
B AREERERTERE  EE R
ENREEAE RAEME R EE 8
LBEE BRPFTPIR=1TF - BTAR
& AEEBEFA A BRI E
MR- NEBHA - AEE KB H#IFN
REEHE REWE R REE LA
BB R AR

REFAACERLFTEBSERRE
B o BT ARAKEEIG AR GRRE
ERERZER TG -

HERNIREERA REMERUREE
—R(CIA B IREMZERT A R W i
R RBEFEEREE]  REGEY
BRAKRPEAIEHNEE] -

REBEZEM B DR BT AR SR
AR ERLY  RERBEFLERER
B AEEERERPERE  EE i
EEMEEMRBEEERR EPEHRA
B AMEREHHIEE RAEYE R
HE—BLEE  BHRALR=1F - Ik
BEZEREZRBHE  XASFEEE
WIRFH B ERTAEE - REZH
N AEESARRFEMEEMREER
B AWEHRAER  EYERERHOR
BRAEMERNFEE - BILEBERERR
SRR ©

REFHACERLY U EBSENER
o BT ARKEB D E RN G G7E
BEREBERZBER T LB -

EYMEEMBEERR AMEHRIER -
AYMEREHEIBE REYERNREE
—BLRE ZEERERSMBRART
ERRIEVEE] -



40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(c) These subsidiaries of the Group entered into service
concession arrangements with the Grantors. Pursuant to the
service concession arrangements, the Group was granted
rights to construct, operate and maintain hazardous waste
landfill projects and hazardous waste incineration projects in
the PRC for a period of 20 to 30 years. The Group has the
obligation to maintain the hazardous waste landfill projects
and hazardous waste incineration projects in good condition.
The service fees are based on the extent of services
rendered and are subject to the approvals from the relevant
local government authorities. Upon expiry of the concession
periods, the hazardous waste landfill projects and hazardous
waste incineration projects and related facilities will be
transferred to the local government authorities.

The service concession arrangements do not contain renewal
options. Both the Grantors and the Group have the rights to
terminate the agreements in the event of a material breach
of the terms of the agreements.

Operating rights of the hazardous waste landfill projects and
hazardous waste incineration projects are recognised as
“Intangible assets” in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

(d) These subsidiaries of the Group entered into service
concession arrangements with the Grantors. Pursuant to the
service concession arrangements, the Group was granted
rights to construct, operate and maintain hazardous waste
landfill projects in the PRC for a period of 25 to 30 years.
The Group has the obligation to maintain the hazardous
waste landfill projects in good condition. The Grantors
guarantee the Group will receive minimum annual payments
in connection with the arrangements. Upon expiry of the
concession periods, the hazardous waste landfill projects and
related facilities will be transferred to the local government
authorities.

The service concession arrangements do not contain renewal
options. Both the Grantors and the Group have the rights to
terminate the agreements in the event of a material breach
of the terms of the agreements.

Revenue relates to the construction services provided in
constructing the hazardous waste landfill projects is
recognised as “Service concession assets”, which are
included in “Contract assets” in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the
net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEXXGERERAERAT
ZECTEFR

BB HEME

40. X EMBRAIFHE(E)

B&E - (48)

()

AEEZEH B QR EER T ARTLRB R
ARRERLY RERBEFRERER
B AREERENTREE BLERHE
EEBREEEREERERE  BH
—tEZTF - ARBEREEAERBEER
EIHE REEREERE BN RN o R
BEROREZREME  LATEHE
W B ER T AIEE - FFiFFFRE
HEmik - EEEEER REEERE
RARB R H B EE BT EERE -

RIEFAAKCERLFTEBSERRE
B o BT ARKEEIGH R % R0E
BRERZERTHRIEHE -

EEEIRIHE REEERE CELRE
REUBRRARTHEIARIBLEE] -

REBEZEMBARER T AT LREE
AAEEELY - RERBEBFAEEER
B AEBERERPERS  EE R
EEEEEIER Rt AE=1%F-
REBEH B TH T BREEIEIRR RN R
I o BT ARRE - AEBEEFAIRE
78 22 BE AR S AR AT 3K o A5 AP = HAfE i
% - EREIEIR A MM REH RS E
BT HEIPTA -

REFHFECERLFUERSENER
o BT ARAEBE DB RN i G708
EREBRZER TG -

By e R IRIE IR B IR I E RS A B
PR TER R [ RG R EEEE] B
EG AP BRRERFFAATGOEE] -

FERB LRFIIHARANBAT

=

FEFEFESIBERASEEERE

MBRBOINMBAR -EERREHE
M BARIMNHETEEHREBARITE °
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42.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS 41.

Certain  comparative amounts in the audited financial
statements have been reclassified to conform with the
current year’s presentation. In the opinion of the directors of
the Company, this presentation would better reflect the
financial performance and position of the Group.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42.

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 4 March 2021.

T
RECUBRRAETHLRABFCREN
DR URAARFENEINER - XARIE
ERB WMENTAEFHRRAEEN
BTG5 2R IR B

ke B 755
EEEEN T —F-AMBHAELE
HETI R B RS R -



FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MBHE

FEXXGERERAERAT
ZECTEFR

2020

SE L

HK$°000
BETT

2019
—E—hF
HK$’000
BT T

As at 31 December

R+=A=+-8
2018
—E-N\F
HK$'000
BET T

2017
—E—+F
HK$’000
BT T

2016
—ZE—RF
HK$'000
BB T

Assets and liabilities BEERERE
Property, plant and equipment ERN N E R

and interests in leasehold land IRFIEERAZ

held for own use RE LR 3,848,120 2,630,584 2,502,054 2,282,648 1,834,542
Right-of-use assets FREEE 648,609 416,646 — — —
Goodwill kS 157,609 149,079 - - -
Intangible assets BYEAE 13,311,103 10,781,335 7,486,422 5,131,608 2,975,814
Interest in associates BN TR 165,415 76,621 56,216 - -
Interest in joint ventures s EER 44,632 61,177 57,446 51,841 33,651
Contract assets BRNEE 6,310,283 3,962,637 2,852,061 1,766,507 824,581
Other receivables, deposits and HinEIHIE - Be Rk

prepayments BRI HIE 816,945 602,982 425,957 370,729 189,269
Deferred tax assets BERIEEE 64,467 29,396 34,797 34,942 21,127
Net current assets MEEEFE 3,561,948 2,471,322 1,832,332 2,576,616 289,783
Non-current liabilities FRBEE 16,062,290 10,594,427 5,816,211 3,448,845 1,968,185
Net assets BEFE 12,866,841 10,587,352 9,431,074 8,766,046 4,200,582
Share capital R A 1,608,029 1,608,029 1,608,029 1,608,029 3
Reserves i 10,916,253 8,738,190 7,730,823 7,140,023 4,187,218
Total equity attributable to equity 7N A 4E %S B SR FE A

shareholders of the Company etk 12,524,282 10,346,219 9,338,852 8,748,052 4,187,221
Non-controlling interests FEERR 342,559 241,133 92,222 17,994 13,361
Total equity ks 12,866,841 10,587,352 9,431,074 8,766,046 4,200,582
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBHE

For the year ended 31 December
BE+-A=T—HLEE

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—B-®F  —TNAF ZFN\F ZEtF T RF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETT BETT BETT BETT

Results ES
Revenue Wz 9,835,376 9,279,555 7,001,820 4,581,352 3,000,131
Profit from operations "LERF 2,489,215 2,476,468 1,870,961 1,314,044 851,977
Finance costs BisER (543,564) (376,891) (202,384) (125,565) (67,715)
Share of profit/(loss) fikaat®

of joint ventures &R/ (E18) (19,464) 9,890 (158) 891) (867)
Profit before taxation M 4 BT & 7 1,926,187 2,109,467 1,668,419 1,187,588 783,395
Income tax ST (412,879) (462,362) (337,068) (230,289) (153,873)
Profit for the year FRAF 1,513,308 1,647,105 1,331,351 957,299 629,522
Attributable to: EEE
Equity shareholders of the RN =R R

Company 1,502,532 1,621,477 1,324,871 953,823 629,222
Non-controlling interests IR IR = 10,776 25,628 6,480 3,476 300
Profit for the year FRAF 1,513,308 1,647,105 1,331,351 957,299 629,522

Basic and diluted earnings per BRERREEEF
share (HK cents) (L) 72.72 78.48 64.12 51.70 43.70
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